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A good result For Veidekke in 2009 
Veidekke achieved earnings before tax of Mnok 523.1 for 2009, 
with a profit margin of 3.4 percent.

+ the group's total turnover for 
2009 was Mnok 15 558, compa-
red with Mnok 19 395 in 2008. 
earnings before tax were Mnok 
523.1 as against Mnok 815.6 in 
2008. earnings after tax and 
minority interests amounted to 
Mnok 402.4 (Mnok 611.3 in 
2008). earnings per share were 
nok 3.0 (nok 4.5). orders-on-
hand for construction operations 
totalled Mnok 12 323 at 31 
december 2009, compared with 
Mnok 10 356 at the beginning of 
the year. 
 
Highlights 
the economic situation in scandi-
navia evolved in 2009 from financial 
crisis and great uncertainty to 
recession, creating a very deman-
ding building and construction 
market. the results at year-end, 
however, show that Veidekke came 
through the financial crisis relati-
vely well. the group has a solid 
financial position. Competence and 
capacity have been maintained in 
the organisation, housing sales 
increased, and orders-on-hand 
trended upwards towards the end 
of the year. 

Construction operations achieved a 
good profit margin in 2009 as a 
result of efficient operations and 
favourable cost developments in 
the supplier market. orders-on-
hand increased during 2009. 
Veidekke’s challenge ahead is to 
maintain focus on margin require-

ments on new-signed contracts 
and efficient implementation of 
projects already signed in an 
increasingly tighter and more 
competitive market. A competent 
organisation and many years of 
improvement initiatives at Veidekke 
form a good foundation to achieve 
these. 

After a prolonged period of very 
weak housing sales and very few 
new housing project starts, the 
market in both norway and 
sweden showed positive develop-
ment in 2009. Housing sales, in the 
second half in particular, accelera-
ted with total sales for the year 
reaching 430 dwellings, as against 
130 in 2008. the level of activity is 
still far from what it was a few 
years ago, but the trend is positive. 
in both sweden and norway there 
is a great need for housing in 
central areas. this given, coupled 
with moderate interest rate 
increases, cautious costs increases 
and a stable employment situation, 
should provide improved opportuni-
ties ahead. 

2009 was a challenging year for 
industry operations as a result of 
negative results in operation and 
Maintenance activities; lower 
demand from private customers in 
Crushed stone and gravel (aggre-
gates), and recycling; and project 
write-downs within one region of 
Asphalt. even with these challen-
ges, 2009 ended satisfactorily. 

Much improvement was made 
during the year and combined with 
extended asphalt production owed 
to good weather conditions, 
volume grew and earnings impro-
ved in some parts of the opera-
tions. the measures implemented 
to strengthen management and 
operation are expected to positi-
vely affect earnings in the coming 
years.
 

MARKET AND COMPETITIVE 
CONDITIONS 
strong liquidity, low interest rates, 
tax cuts and major public invest-
ments resulted in what appears to 
be a recovery in the global econo-
my. in norway, the economy 
developed roughly as expected in 
2009. low interest rates, an 
expansionary fiscal policy and 
relatively extensive use of financial 
reserves helped to counteract the 
effects of the global crisis. in 
sweden, which was deeply 
affected by the financial crisis, 
economic development showed a 
more positive trend in the second 
half than in the first half.  

the danish economy is on its way 
out of its worst recession in recent 
times. the economy showed signs 
of developing positively towards 
the end of the year. Although most 
indicators showed a negative trend 
during 2009, low interest rates 
contributed to stalling the housing 
market downturn. 
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in 2009, investments in the 
building and construction industry 
in norway fell by about 12 percent. 
non-residential buildings for private 
investors fell by about 37 percent, 
making it the segment with the 
largest decline. Housing invest-
ment fell by just over 14 percent. 
Much of this decrease came in the 
first half, while housing investment 
in the second half demonstrated a 
tendency to level-off. significant 
investment in public infrastructure 
contributed to growth of approxi-
mately 8 percent in construction. 

swedish building and construction 
industry investment fell by a good 
10 percent in 2009, with drops in 
housing investment and private 
non-residential buildings contribu-
ting to the decline. Activity within 
heavy construction is high although 
there has been no growth of 
significance the last year. Municipa-
lities' investments in building, 
however, contributed to sustaining 
activity throughout the year. 

investment in the danish building 
and construction sector, a market 
which has been in decline for 
years, fell by 9 percent in 2009. the 
level of activity was thus markedly 
lower than its peak year of 2006. 
the largest decline was in residen-
tial investment, which fell by about 
20 percent compared with the 
previous year. 

Although scandinavia showed a 
marked decline in the overall 
building and construction market, 
we have recognised that the 
housing market downturn in all the 
countries has stalled. low interest 
rates and growth in household 
incomes contributed significantly 
to increasing housing prices in 
norway and sweden during the 
year. declining prices in denmark 
came to a halt as well, with some 
growth being demonstrated 
towards the end of the year.

BUSINESS AREAS 
Construction activity 
Construction activities in norway 
and denmark are nation-wide, 
while activity in sweden is 
concentrated in the regions around 
stockholm and gothenburg and 
skåne. 

 total construction operations had a 
turnover of Mnok 12 095 in 2009 
compared with Mnok 15 534 in 
2008. earnings for the year were 
Mnok 605.7 as against Mnok 
773.8 in 2008, corresponding to a 
profit margin of 5.0 percent – the 
same as in 2008.

Norway 
Veidekke entreprenør has had a 
very strong and stable develop-
ment for years. With a profit margin 
of 6.4 percent (6.6 percent in 
2008), this trend continued in 2009 
also. turnover in 2009 was Mnok 
8 121 (Mnok 10 660 in 2008) with 
earnings of Mnok 523.7 (Mnok 
707.9). 

given the very demanding market, 
this result reflects very good work 
by the entire organisation. As of 1 
January 2009 a minor adjustment 
to the business boundary between 
Veidekke industry and Veidekke 
entreprenør was carried out in 
which business involving construct-
ion was transferred to Veidekke 
entreprenør. Adjusted for this, the 
volume decrease from 2008 to 
2009 was nearly 30 percent. 

the market in 2009 was consider-
ably weaker than the year before. 
Veidekke entreprenør focused on 
managing the changing market 
situation in a way that will be both 
successful in the short-term and 
which will form the basis for 
increased strength in the long-
term. the operations avoided 
cutbacks in 2009, and worked 
systematically with recruitment 
and skills development. the 
improvement and development 
process, We in Veidekke, conti-
nued. this is an important part of 
ongoing efforts to achieve better 
planning and performance on each 
construction project through the 
involvement of all employees in the 
project. 

developments in 2010 will largely 
depend on the general economic 
conditions. the norwegian and 
international economies will likely 
be characterised by frequent 
fluctuations, which will also 
characterise the building and 
construction industry. 

Veidekke entreprenør signed a 
number of major contracts with 
private and public customers in 
2009. Among the major contracts 
were concrete works in the 
construction of Hardanger Bridge 
with a contract sum of approxi-
mately Mnok 330, and expansion 
of a shopping centre for olav thon 
eiendomsselskap As and Vital 
Forsikring AsA, with a contract 
sum of approximately Mnok 570. 
in addition, there are four road 
projects for the Public roads 
Administration with a total contract 
sum of approximately Mnok 
1 800. towards the end of the year, 
we won a contract on an apart-
ment project in kolbotn outside 
oslo, with a contract sum of 
approximately Mnok 194. the 
developer is strandli road As, a 
company in which Malthe Winje 
eiendom As and Veidekke eiendom 
As each own 50 percent. 

At year’s end, Veidekke entrepre-
nør had orders-on-hand of nok 8.6 
billion, against nok 6.6 billion a 
year earlier.
 
Sweden 
Veidekke entreprenad had a 
turnover of Mnok 2 355 (Mnok 
2 801). Profit before tax was 
Mnok 36.4 (Mnok 52.7). this 
corresponds to a profit margin of 
1.5 percent (1.9 percent). All of the 
decline can be ascribed to the 
region West, which has been very 
hard hit by an investment halt in 
the industry sector. the other 
regions achieved increased 
profitability in 2009, which is very 
positive. this shows that overall the 
Veidekke entreprenad organisation 
has tackled the recession well. 

the market and the general 
economic picture remained very 
pessimistic in sweden in the first 
half of the year. Financial turbu-
lence and a lack of capital meant 
that several new projects were 
postponed. during the autumn, 
however, we saw some signs of 
stabilisation and an increased 
willingness to invest in housing. 
We therefore expect some 
increase in residential construction 
in 2010. Building activities were 
adversely affected by the fact that 
there were no new housing project 
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starts. this, combined with the 
need for new non-residential 
buildings and the short supply of 
capital, had a very negative impact 
on the prices of projects that were 
started. the heavy construction 
market is, however, very good, 
especially when it comes to 
infrastructure projects in the 
stockholm area and in western 
sweden. 

in 2009, Veidekke entreprenad 
began activities in the industry 
sector related to crushed stone and 
gravel, and recycling in the 
stockholm area. We see growth 
opportunities in stockholm, Malmo 
and gothenburg. Activities will be 
developed in close interaction with 
industry operations in norway.

Veidekke entreprenad won several 
large contracts in 2009 including 
the housing projects Pelarbacken 
for AMF Pension at Mnok 230, 
and kulla gulla for svenska 
Bostäder at Mnok 190, both in 
stockholm. other contracts include 
development of Agnes Berg-Marie 
Holm on e13 for swedish rail 
Administration at Mnok 210, su 
låghus stage 3 for Västfastigheter 
at Mnok 117 and iron ellerhusen 
old town in stockholm for iron 
ellerhusen AB at Mnok 75, and 
housing in kv sockertoppen in 
lund for HsB at Mnok 59. 

At year-end, orders-on-hand 
totalled nok 2.8 billion compared 
with 2.5 billion million a year earlier. 
All regions look very positive. 
large-scale infrastructure projects 
account for a large part of the 
orders-on-hand with housing 
construction also accounting for a 
significant share. 

Denmark
despite the difficult market in 
denmark, Hoffmann achieved a 
good result in 2009. turnover was 
Mnok 1 619 (Mnok 2 073). Profit 
before tax was Mnok 45.6 
compared with Mnok 13.2 in 
2008. this equates to a profit 
margin of 2.8 percent (0.6 percent). 

this positive development is the 
result of, among other things, 
organisational adjustments with an 
ongoing assessment of resources 

in relation to orders-on-hand. this 
has led to a 13 percent reduction in 
the number of employees over the 
past two years. throughout this 
entire phase emphasis has been 
on preserving the best expertise 
and highest level of proficiency in 
the organisation. in 2008, improve-
ment processes were implemen-
ted with sharp focus on increased 
project profitability through 
thorough analyses of behaviours 
and values on projects. the positive 
effects of this work spilled into 
2009 resulting in better risk 
management and better selection 
of customers and project bids. in 
2010, we will continue working 
with continuous improvement 
activities through the involvement 
of both employees and subcontrac-
tors. not at least, we will further 
develop our customer relationships 
positioning Hoffmann as the 
solutions-oriented partner. 

Hoffmann maintained its position 
as a leader among danish contrac-
tors in health, safety and environ-
ment. one of the key priorities in 
2010 will be to bring down the 
number of injuries among our 
subcontractors. 

in 2009, Hoffmann was characteri-
sed by a general reduction in the 
level of activity in all regions and 
markets. there is very low activity 
in the housing market, and the 
market for non-residential buildings 
has stagnated. several previously 
won tenders have postponed as a 
result of the financial situation. the 
heavy construction market was 
relatively good, but marked by 
fierce competition and price 
pressure. the renovation market 
was stable, but with stiffer 
competition for tenders. on over 
75 percent of the contracts signed 
in 2009, however, we were chosen 
based on the criteria of compe-
tence, implementation capability 
and quality. 

Among new contracts won are an 
ice skating hall, Vojens ice Arena at 
Mnok 113, a new Wellness 
Centre, thors Bakke at Mnok 183, 
and an office building, karberghus 
at Mnok 48. We have also 
received a contract for housing 
renovation, skovengen, at 
Mnok 70. 

As a result of the focus on profit-
ability and the conscious selection 
of projects, orders-on-hand 
declined in 2009. At the end of the 
year, orders-on-hand were Mnok 
978 compared with Mnok 
1 298 at the beginning of the year.
 
Property development
this entity develops housing for 
Veidekke’s own account, and 
non-residential buildings for private 
and public customers. Activities are 
centred in the largest cities in 
norway and sweden, while 
activities in denmark are limited as 
a result of the market decline. 

in 2009, Property scandinavia had 
a turnover of Mnok 711 (Mnok 
1 402 in 2008). earnings before 
taxes were Mnok -73.9 as against 
Mnok 19.4 the year before. the 
weak results reflect both the 
difficult housing market in 2009, 
with low sales and few initiated 
projects, and to some extent 
write-downs on sites, non-residen-
tial buildings and our shareholding 
in Hansa Property group. total 
write-downs in 2009 amounted to 
Mnok 60. Conversely, office 
buildings were sold with gains of 
Mnok 20. the market was most 
difficult in norway and denmark, 
while the swedish operations 
delivered positive results in 2009. 

As a result of low interest rates 
and decreased future uncertainty, 
the market showed a gradual 
improvement over the last nine 
months of the year. sales picked 
up in the used homes markets in 
the oslo and stockholm areas, as 
well as on new projects put on the 
market. improvement is most 
visible on small dwellings projects, 
as well as for smaller blocks of flats 
on the city outskirts. the market for 
large blocks of flats is still somew-
hat hesitant. 

due to low housing starts in recent 
years, Property’s total operations 
had only 311 homes under pro-
duction at the end of the year, 
compared with 638 homes for the 
same period the year before. in all, 
430 homes were sold in 2009, 
compared with 130 in 2008. 

At the end of the year, a total of 
Mnok 2 219 (Mnok 2 635) was 
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tied up in property operations. the 
group had a land bank equivalent 
to 7 800 housing units, of which 
about half are options.

Norway 
Property operations in norway had 
a turnover of 349 Mnok (632 
Mnok) in 2009. earnings before 
taxes were Mnok -47.9 Mnok 
(-49.9). As a result of the weak 
housing market no new projects of 
significance have been started in 
the past two years, providing little 
contribution from ongoing projects 
in 2009. As a result of the weak 
market, some non-residential 
projects have been written-down, 
as well as some shares, totalling 
Mnok 27. in addition, shares in 
Hansa Property group were 
written-down by a further Mnok 
13. in 2009, non-residential 
buildings were sold with total gains 
of Mnok 20. 

Aided by low interest rates and an 
improved financial market, housing 
sales increased considerably during 
the last three quarters, particularly 
in the oslo region. 215 homes 
were sold, compared with 41 
throughout 2008. several projects 
including small blocks of flats and 
small house-building projects are 
ready for start up in 2010. 

123 (vs. 542) homes were com-
pleted in 2009, and 50 (28) homes 
were initiated in 3 (2) projects. At 
the end of 2009, activities in 
norway included 64 (185) proper-
ties under production, divided over 
4 (6) projects. of the housing units 
under production, there were 4 
units (72) which did not sell. in 
addition, at year-end there were 90 
(110) completed, unsold homes 
spread over 12 projects. of these, 
78 properties were rented out until 
further notice. exposure is still 
regarded as low, and housing sales 
from this portfolio are ongoing. All 
sites in the portfolio were valued at 
year-end, which found no basis for 
devaluing the portfolio. 

in the non-residential market, the 
skien and Porsgrunn projects (total 
13 000 m 2) were nearing comple-
tion at year’s end. rental rate was 
70 percent by the end of the year, 
and the buildings are leased to the 

public sector. Moreover, the 
non-residential part of the Victoria-
gården project in sandvika outside 
oslo (4 400 m2), was sold during 
the year. the sale amount was in 
excess of Mnok 100, and a 
smaller gain was recognised. 

Capital of Mnok 1 463 (Mnok 
1 929) was tied up in Property in 
norway at year’s end, and the land 
bank consisted of 3 400 housing 
units.
 
Sweden 
Property operations (Veidekke 
Bostad) had a turnover in 2009 of 
Mnok 359 (Mnok 720). earnings 
before tax were Mnok 21.2 
(Mnok 101.8). the low volume and 
the decline in earnings are related 
to the weak market in recent years 
and the start up of few new 
projects. 

in 2009, Veidekke Bostad comple-
ted 391 (501) homes, and initiated 
185 (32) homes in 5 (2) projects. At 
the end of 2009, it had operations 
in sweden with 247 (453) proper-
ties under production in 9 (11) 
projects. 15 (29) of the housing 
units under production were not 
sold. there were 0 (3) completed, 
unsold homes at year-end. 

the housing market showed a clear 
positive trend through 2009 with 
215 properties already sold 
compared with 86 in 2008. the 
improvement may be linked 
primarily to areas in and around 
stockholm, but sales also picked 
up in skåne and gothenburg. 

At the end of the year the land 
bank totalled 3 900 residential 
units, of which 70 percent were 
purchase options. rights to build 
640 homes were acquired in 2009, 
of which a large portion is options 
based, reducing the need for 
capital in the development period. 
A valuation of all sites in the 
portfolio was undertaken at year’s 
end. no basis for devaluing the 
portfolio was found. 

A new entity, Veidekke Fastighets-
utveckling AB, was established in 
2008, which will engage in the 
development of non-residential 
properties. As a result of the 

financial crisis the entity had a 
difficult start, and is still a small 
operation. 

At the end of the year Mnok 498 
(415 Mnok) capital was tied up in 
sweden.
 
Denmark 
Veidekke's property development 
activities in denmark, Hoffmann 
ejendomme A/s, had no projects 
under production in 2009. the 
company has a land bank equiva-
lent to 600 units, and 17 homes for 
sale. the market is still very 
difficult, and in 2009 land and 
housing was written-down by 
Mnok 20. including this, earnings 
before tax was Mnok - 47.2 
(Mnok -32.5). 

Industry 
industry’s activities are organised 
into four business areas: Asphalt, 
Aggregates (crushed stone and 
gravel), operation and maintenance 
of roads, and recycling of industrial 
waste. All these operations are 
managed by kolo Veidekke As and 
its subsidiaries. kolo Veidekke is 
norway's largest asphalt contractor 
with a market share of about 30 
percent, and is the second largest 
producer of crushed stone and 
gravel. 

turnover in 2009 was Mnok 2 968 
(Mnok 3 293) and earnings before 
tax were Mnok 7.1 (Mnok 68.1). 
the weak result in 2009 is mainly 
due to lower volumes in crushed 
stone and gravel, and recycling, as 
well as provisions for future losses 
in operation and maintenance. 

the operations focused very 
sharply on measures to free-up 
capital in 2009. Cash flow in 2009 
showed good progress and was 
positive for the year. We are 
continuing this work in 2010, and 
will implement further measures in 
this area. 

 Asphalt activities in 2009 
amounted to approximately 70 
percent of the total revenue in 
Veidekke industry. turnover was 
Mnok 2 215 (Mnok 2 138). there 
was high activity in the asphalt 
industry for much of 2009, which 
had a good end to the year 
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showing a 5 percent increase in 
total volume over 2008. the 
government's fiscal stimulus 
measures directed to road 
maintenance contributed to an 
increase in total demand, which 
was also fuelled by high demand 
from private customers. 

Veidekke is a joint owner of two 
smaller asphalt companies in 
sweden, which developed as 
expected. investments in these 
companies are a part of our 
strategy to develop asphalt and 
gravel operations in sweden. 

turnover within crushed stone and 
gravel was Mnok 449 (Mnok 
445) on a volume for the year 
which was approximately 5 percent 
lower than in 2008. in addition, the 
operations experienced price 
pressures and increased costs 
resulting in margins which were 
somewhat lower in 2009 than the 
year before.

turnover within road operation and 
maintenance was Mnok 318 
(Mnok 302). the operations 
showed negative results, and 
further provisions for expected 
future losses on individual con-
tracts have been made. on a 
portfolio of 15 contracts, seven 
delivered very negative results, and 
with a view to future losses on 
these contracts, a further Mnok 
35 was allocated in 2009. As of 31 
december 2009, a total of Mnok 
54 has been allocated. in order to 
better results in this area, exten-
sive measures have been initiated 
to strengthen the organisation, 
improve calculations, and increase 
operational and contractual 
expertise.

recycling includes customised 
solutions for the collection, 
transport and sorting of different 
waste fractions as well as the 
production of waste and bio-based 
fuels. turnover was Mnok 495 
(Mnok 493). the market is closely 
tied to developments in the 
construction sector, retail/property, 
and the continued privatisation of 
waste management. through 
internal improvement programs 
and organic growth, recycling 
operations developed positively in 
2009.

Other Activities 
“other activities” is comprised of 
our operations outside scandinavia: 
Veidekke’s long-established involve-
ment in east Africa through norem-
co. in addition, the project com-
pany Allfarveg As, the operation of 
the group's central management 
and financial administration are 
also added to this area. 

MARKET CONDITIONS, RISK 
AND UNCERTAINTY 
Market Prospects 
in the autumn of 2009, stock 
market prices increased significant-
ly and with them optimism both in 
the household sector and the 
business sector began to return. 
the sharp downturn in the housing 
market in several countries appears 
to have stalled and prices are again 
on the rise. gdP growth the world 
over is expected to be above 3 
percent in 2010, driven by increas-
ed optimism, low interest rates and 
the continued positive effect of 
stimulus measures. the scandina-
vian countries will largely be 
positively affected by international 
growth. there is, however, some 
uncertainty around the effects of 
pending reductions in stimulus 
measures and gradually increasing 
interest rates from the end of 2010. 

the building and construction 
market is expected to show a 
slightly positive development in all 
three countries. A positive develop-
ment in the housing market will 
continue with increasing residential 
construction from a low level. 
Continued weak growth in used 
homes prices is expected. Additio-
nally, a high level of activity within 
infrastructure projects will also 
contribute to sustaining the 
market. 

investments in building and 
construction in norway will 
increase by around 2 percent in 
2010, and continue at just over 2 
percent in 2011. A continued 
decline in private non-residential 
buildings investment is expected, 
while investments in public 
buildings and facilities will remain 
unchanged. Activity within the road 
maintenance is likely to decrease 
slightly in 2010, although the 2009 

level was very high as a result of 
government stimulus measures. 

in sweden, a rise of around 
1 percent is also expected in 
building and construction invest-
ment in 2010. Housing investment 
and public buildings investment is 
expected to push up activity here, 
while private non-residential 
buildings will have the opposite 
effect. 

the market in denmark will be 
weak in 2010 due to continued low 
housing investment. residential 
construction is expected to edge 
up by the end of the year and 
contribute to increased activity in 
2011. 

For Veidekke, 2010 will be a year 
with a flat trend in the overall 
market, but with large variations 
between individual regions. 
Competition for contracts will 
remain hard, with many players in 
the market. Prospects for new 
growth at the end of 2010 and into 
2011 will contribute to an increas-
ing cost level in future, which will 
affect new contracts.
 
Risk and uncertainty factors 
Veidekke’s activities relate to the 
execution of individual projects. 
there is a great variation in the 
complexity, size and risk between 
projects. systematic and professio-
nal handling of projects is absolu-
tely crucial for Veidekke’s results. 
Veidekke’s order-on-hand increased 
during 2009. the increase related 
primarily to the public builders, 
although the private market also 
improved somewhat. new projects 
have been won under far tighter 
market conditions than before. 

Prices from our suppliers in terms 
of both materials and services 
were reduced in 2009. the risks 
relate to market developments and 
our assessment of when we 
should enter into binding agre-
ements – both signed contracts 
and submitted tenders. this risk is 
partly offset by entering into 
long-term cooperation agreements 
with strategic suppliers. 

there are still many companies in 
the building and heavy construction 
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industry struggling financially. We 
will therefore continue to follow-up 
our sub-contractors’ ability to 
deliver, on both already initiated 
and new projects. A possible 
bankruptcy of a subcontractor may 
incur the risk of overuse and delay 
progress. 

Future earnings in the property 
segment depend on the start-up of 
new projects. the number of new 
projects in 2010 is expected to 
increase. 

Credit risk associated with custom-
ers' ability to pay is important. this 
risk primarily relates to industry 
operations, but also somewhat to 
Property.

Veidekke closely follows develop-
ments in order to manage risk and 
take appropriate action.
 
CHALLENGES AHEAD
Because of the recession, Veidekke 
will continue to focus on maintain-
ing the best possible financial 
position and freedom of action. 
this freedom of action is to be 
used to further develop operations, 
and to exploit business opportuni-
ties, which previous recessions 
have shown to emerge at this 
stage of the business cycle.

the Board of directors wishes to 
underline the importance of 
maintaining focus on margins 
rather than volume. this requires 
thorough prioritisation in the 
selection of projects, and places 
even higher demands on assessing 
risks associated with each project.

Veidekke maintains its long-term 
ambitions of continuing to be a 
leading scandinavian player, and to 
be among the most profitable 
contractors and property de-
velopers in its markets.

CAPITAL SITUATION 
investments in 2009 amounted to 
Mnok 468 (Mnok 774). invest-
ments have primarily been in heavy 
construction equipment and 
asphalt. Capital tied up in property 
operations remained relatively 
stable during the year and accoun-
ted for Mnok 2 219 (Mnok 
2 635). 

sales of fixed assets amounted 
Mnok 40 (Mnok 122). net cash 
flow from operations was Mnok 
1 198 (Mnok 1 211), which 
primarily relates to good project 
liquidity. the group has a strong 
financial position with a net 
interest-bearing position of 101 
Mnok (Mnok -260). the group's 
total assets were Mnok 7 779 
(Mnok 8 966). total shareholder’s 
equity was Mnok 2 054 (2 114), 
giving an equity ratio of 26.4 
percent (23.6 percent).
 
FINANCIAL RISK 
Veidekke aims to have a strong 
financial position. in order to 
achieve this, it is important to have 
good operational management, low 
risk exposure, and sound manage-
ment of the parameters influencing 
financial risk. Financial development 
is an integral part of the group’s 
strategy process, and the group’s 
financial policy governs the 
management of financial risk. 

Veidekke is primarily exposed to 
risk through financial instruments 
such as accounts receivable, 
liquidity and interest-bearing 
liabilities. the risk is related to 
credit, market and liquidity matters.

Credit risk 
the group’s credit risk is mainly 
associated with settlement of the 
group’s accounts receivable. the 
group has a considerable share of 
public customers (37 percent) for 
whom credit risk is considered very 
low. For our private customers (63 
percent), we seek to minimise 
credit risk within the group’s 
divisions through methods adapted 
to the different business areas.

For construction projects, thorough 
assessments in tender processes, 
settlement of work according to 
progress, contractual guarantees 
and active follow-up of outstanding 
claims are essential. 

For the industry division, which has 
a considerably larger number of 
customers, credit rating proce-
dures, timely invoicing, guarantees 
and active follow-up of outstanding 
claims are important. 

Within Property, we seek to 
minimise risk through advance 

payments and mortgages in 
completed dwellings up to the time 
of delivery.

Veidekke has historically had low 
losses on receivables.

Interest rate risk 
due to its low net interest-bearing 
position, the interest risk for the 
group as a whole is low. However, 
the various divisions are exposed 
to interest risk based on their 
different financial positions. 
interest derivatives are used to 
hedge against long-term interest 
risk in some partly-owned com-
panies.

When it comes to other financial 
assets, shareholdings in the 
unlisted norwegian property 
company, Hansa Property group 
AsA, is the most significant. At 31 
december 2009, this shareholding 
had a book value of Mnok 33. the 
shareholding is recorded at fair 
value, and its value therefore 
depends on share price develop-
ment of Hansa and comparable 
companies.

Fluctuations in currency rates have 
little direct influence on Veidekke, 
as its operations are largely 
national in character and project 
cash flows are normally in the 
same currency. Any substantial 
currency risks that arise are 
hedged. equity investments in 
foreign subsidiaries are, however, 
not hedged.

Liquidity Risk 
Veidekke has secured long-term 
financing through borrowing 
facilities which expire in 2012. At 
the end of 2009, unused commit-
ted borrowing facilities amounted 
to Mnok 1 895 (Mnok 1 273). the 
level is well adjusted to the group’s 
strategy and planned operations for 
the years ahead.

the group also has substantial 
borrowing facilities available to 
meet its current construction 
project performance guarantees.

ORGANISATION
At 31 december 2009, the group 
had 5 858 employees (6 244) in 
scandinavia. of these, a total of 
3 505 (3 806) were craftsmen and 
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production workers, and 2 353 
(2 438) were officers and adminis-
trative personnel.

in norway, there were 4 402 
employees, of which 2 748 were 
craftsmen and production workers, 
and 1 654 were project officers and 
administrative personnel. sweden 
had 968 employees, of which 511 
were craftsmen and 457 were 
project officers and administrative 
personnel. in denmark, the 
number of employees was 488, of 
which 246 were craftsmen and 242 
were project officers and adminis-
trative personnel.
 
Labour market and 
attractiveness
Veidekke has a good reputation in 
the labour market and is regarded 
as an attractive employer. this is 
confirmed by surveys among 
various groups of workers.

due to the market decline and 
general economic downturn, it has 
been necessary to reduce staff in 
denmark and sweden. so far, 
lay-offs or dismissals have for the 
most part been avoided in norway, 
as the market slowdown has been 
addressed by reducing the use of 
subcontractors.

the building and construction 
industry is traditionally male-domi-
nated, and the percentage of 
women is still low. therefore, 
Veidekke is working actively 
together with the trade organisa-
tions to attract more women to the 
industry.

Veidekke employed 715 women in 
2009, representing 12.2 percent of 
the workforce. of these, 90 were 
skilled workers and 625 salaried 
employees. in norway, 308 of a 
total of 1 654 women are salaried 
employees, about 19 percent. the 
proportion of women among 
salaried employees in both in 
sweden and denmark is about 23 
percent. Among skilled employees 
in norway, about 3 percent are 
women and in sweden and 
denmark about 1 percent are 
women.

the Board wishes to emphasise 
that Veidekke works actively to 
increase the number of women 

recruited to the company. this is 
being pursued in part through 
initiatives targeting high schools 
and colleges in all scandinavian 
countries.

RECRUITMENT 
Trainee scheme
in norway, Veidekke has had its 
own trainee scheme for many 
years, and all newly qualified 
chartered engineers, engineers and 
economists in Veidekke participate 
in this scheme. in 2009 there were 
60 participants in the scheme. this 
is a decrease from the previous 
year and is mainly due to the 
cyclical downturn in the industry. 
Construction activity in norway is 
actively working to maintain a 
stable recruitment of between 30 
and 40 trainees per year and has 
clear plans for how they should 
position themselves in this work.

Apprenticeship scheme 
Veidekke focuses on producing its 
own craftsmen and is a leading 
apprentice company. the appren-
ticeship scheme is a priority, and 
efforts to maintain a high number 
of apprentices were continued also 
in 2009. At the end of the year, 
Veidekke had 206 people on 
apprenticeships within building, 
heavy construction and asphalt. of 
these, 160 apprentices were in 
norway, 23 in sweden and 23 in 
denmark. in norway, the number 
of new apprentices in 2009 
declined by about 30 percent. our 
goal is to quickly return to a normal 
level.

On-site learning
Veidekke’s on-site learning project 
helps to recruit skilled workers 
both to Veidekke and to the 
industry in general.

through the "school on site" 
programme Veidekke collaborates 
with the construction industry 
working hand-in-hand with the 
building industry, labour market 
authorities and schools to provide 
vocational education in close 
combination with on-site practical 
training. For the school year 
2009/2010, "school on site" is 
located in nydalen where Veidekke 
entreprenør is building nydalen 
secondary school.

Skills and management 
development
More and more resources are 
being spent to provide good 
development programmes for 
different groups of employees. 
A great number of our skilled 
workers have bettered their 
qualifications with additional craft 
certificates. in addition, consider-
able efforts are made to provide all 
employees throughout the group 
with continuous development 
opportunities. 

through Veidekke’s in-house 
training centre in norway and 
corresponding schemes in sweden 
and denmark, employees are 
offered a broad range of courses in 
skills and management develop-
ment. these courses are closely 
linked with the company’s business 
and improvement strategies. in this 
context, the Board of directors 
would like to mention that Veidekke 
entreprenør in 2009 initiated a new 
management development 
programme for its top managers.

At corporate level, the most 
important programme is Veidekke’s 
scandinavian management 
development programme. A total 
of 179 of the company’s most 
senior managers have so far taken 
part in this programme, which 
focuses on professional develop-
ment in addition to culture and 
network building. Part of this 
programme involves carrying out 
project tasks that are directly linked 
with the company’s strategy.

Veidekke carries out very little 
research, but invests heavily in 
systematic improvement proces-
ses and the development of 
operating methods. good results 
have been achieved particularly 
within the areas of concrete 
technology, production manage-
ment and asphalt technology.

in 2009 Veidekke signed a three 
year agreement to support two 
research assistant positions in the 
Faculty of engineering science and 
technology at ntnu in 2010. 
Veidekke wishes, through the 
funding of these positions, to 
engage in cooperation with the 
building studies, as well as to 
continue with its active partici-
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pation and support of  Young 
enterprise norway recruitment 
and competence.

Partnership agreements
through the Confederation of 
norwegian enterprise (nHo), 
Veidekke is an active supporter of 
Young enterprise norway. this 
project is directed at the school 
system, all the way from primary 
school up to college and university 
level, and aims to stimulate an 
interest in innovation and science 
subjects. this, in turn, will help 
strengthen Veidekke’s subject 
areas and secure the future of the 
industry through the establishment 
of new enterprises. Veidekke is 
also involved in education through 
partnership agreements with 
primary and secondary schools, 
which help to increase knowledge 
of the construction industry.

Interaction with elected 
representatives 
Veidekke ensures employee 
participation by maintaining good 
relations with elected representati-
ves in line with the framework and 
traditions that apply in the scandi-
navian countries. in norway, 
representatives for craftsmen are 
elected in each district and for each 
project. A similar scheme is 
established in sweden, but there is 
no corresponding arrangement in 
denmark. staff associations have 
also been established with elected 
representatives from the entire 
operation. 

the group’s eWC (european Works 
Council), set up in line with eu 
regulations, is a central liaison body 
between the management and 
employee representatives at 
corporate level. in addition, to 
exchanging information, the eWC 
discusses issues of strategic 
significance for the company. two 
meetings were held in 2009. on 
the agenda in these meetings were 
market conditions and manpower, 
improvement processes and 
employee involment as well as 
health, safety and the environment.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
in order to be able to meet its 
customers’ needs and ensure 
project performance and value 

creation in the different projects, 
Veidekke has a decentralised 
organisation with a large degree of 
local responsibility and authority. At 
any one time, activities consist of 
more than 1 000 ongoing projects, 
normally of 3 to 18 months’ 
duration. one of the main aims of 
the group’s management systems 
is to ensure control and oversight 
of these projects. this is achieved 
by systematic project reporting. 
reports are submitted ten times a 
year and deal with both financial 
and non-financial matters. the 
profitability and risk associated 
with each individual project are 
central control parameters. 

Veidekke is owned mainly by 
financial investors, and indepen-
dence from shareholders is 
therefore not a significant problem. 
one exception is oBos, which 
holds 28 percent of the company’s 
shares. to ensure independence 
from oBos, owner representation 
and project cooperation are never 
handled by the same persons. 
employees as a group hold 19.3 
percent of the shares. However, 
since no individual employee holds 
more than 0.3 percent of the 
shares, there is no independence 
problem.

see also page 82 in this report for 
a complete account of corporate 
governance in Veidekke.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
Veidekke’s commitment to social 
responsibility is rooted in its basic 
values of being professional, 
honest, enthusiastic and ground-
breaking. Veidekke focuses on 
people as users of its buildings and 
structures, and its goal and driving 
force in every process is the 
creation of value through partner-
ship. 

to render visible its corporate 
social responsibility, a company 
must be able to create profitability 
and, as a minimum, comply with 
laws and regulations. the company 
must also have the best possible 
relationship with its employees and 
managers, hold basic values which 
are lived up to and which mean 
something to its employees, and 

be on the best of terms with its 
customers, suppliers and partners.

Corporate social responsibility also 
means that Veidekke must be 
aware of its duty towards its 
stakeholders, and make sure that 
its actions contribute towards 
socially responsible business 
operations. under its motto: 
“Creating value through partner-
ship”, Veidekke will work continu-
ously to achieve its ambition of 
improving cooperation both 
internally and externally. Consider-
ation for social responsibility is 
incorporated in general guidelines 
and in the entities’ management 
systems under specific headings 
such as ethics, stopping undecla-
red work, Hse and the external 
environment. 

Ethical and social matters 
great emphasis is placed on ethical 
matters in line with Veidekke’s 
basic values. ethical guidelines 
have been drawn up and are 
implemented throughout the 
organisation with the help of 
discussions and dilemma training 
in the company’s different fora. in 
2009, a web-based program was 
completed for dilemma training, 
which enables individual employ-
ees or groups to explore problems 
relevant to the company. through 
our internet portal Veidekkehuset.
no/se/dk employees can train on 
relevant issues individually or in 
groups. Veidekke also has a 
program which provides employ-
ees with training in compliance 
with competition laws.

An important part of the company’s 
ethical foundation is to ensure the 
best possible working conditions 
throughout the organisation. 
Veidekke has developed rules and 
measures to prevent the use of 
illegal labour in its own workplaces. 
to this end, registration is carried 
out at project level. Among other 
measures, an identity card system 
granting access to projects has 
been established.

Veidekke has committed itself to 
safeguarding its employees’ 
professional and social rights 
wherever it has operations. the 
international framework agreement 
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between the norwegian united 
Federation of trade unions, the 
norwegian union of general 
Workers and the international 
Federation of Building and Wood 
Workers is based on the rights laid 
down in the un declaration on 
Human rights, the ilo declaration 
on Fundamental Principles and 
rights at Work and the oeCd 
guidelines for Multinational 
enterprises.

Diversity
the community around us is 
changing, and it is important that 
Veidekke as an organisation adapts 
itself accordingly. if we are to 
maintain our competitiveness over 
time, the organisation must, as far 
as possible, reflect wider society in 
terms of age, gender, cultural 
background, religion or disability. 
our main challenge is to increase 
the proportion of women and 
people of minority backgrounds 
among our employees, especially 
among our craftsmen, engineers 
and civil engineers. in the first 
instance, we wish to influence 
women and students of minority 
backgrounds to choose studies that 
our type of business and industry 
needs, to significantly increase the 
proportion of potential candidates 
from today’s level. 

through our own "school on site" 
Veidekke has provided educational 
offers for years in trades courses to 
candidates who have previously 
dropped out of public school. A 
majority of these students have a 
minority background. "school on 
site" is an important contribution to 
meeting the demand for skilled 
workers in the industry. 

Veidekke has initiated measures to 
extend leaves of absence with pay 
for older workers to pave the way 
for an active working life until 
retirement. this helps to retain 
necessary competence in the 
organisation, and to reduce the 
number of disability and people on 
early retirement pensions.

Health, safety and the 
environment 
2009 was strongly affected by two 
fatal accidents in which three 
people died. At Hydro Power Plant 
svandalsflona in odda municipality, 
two men were killed while working 
to remove fallen debris from an 
operating tunnel. At Veidekke’s 
construction site kjøsnesfjorden, a 
man was killed in an accident while 
removing blast rock from a tunnel.

Injuries
in 2009, Veidekke recorded an 
injury rate (number of lost-time 
injuries per million hours worked) 
of 5.7 (4.5). in the first two 
quarters the positive trend from 
the end of 2008 continued with a 
decrease in the injury rate. this 
turned in the third quarter, and the 
injury rate continued to increase 
throughout the rest of the year.

in the norwegian operations the 
injury rate at year end was 5.2 
(2.9), while in sweden it was 7.6 
(7.8) and in denmark 6.6 (9.2).

Veidekke works systematically with 
the Hse and places great empha-
sis on the registration and treat-
ment of all injuries and accidents 
as a means to reducing risk and 
the number of incidents. experi-
ence shows that focus on unde-
sirable incidents leads to a safer 
workplace. We work actively with 
participative processes together 
with our partners, and Hse is a 
natural part of this work. during the 
year we have also worked to 
increase our risk management 
expertise.

Sickness absence
throughout 2009 we had an 
increase in sickness absence in our 
operations. sickness absence has 
increased in norway and sweden, 
while denmark, which had a lower 
rate of increase, stabilised at the 
end of the year.

For craftsmen in the norwegian 
operations, sickness absence in 
2009 was 7.4 percent (6.8 percent), 
while it was 4.5 percent (3.9 
percent) in sweden and 3.2 
percent (3.1 percent) in denmark.
sickness absence for all employees 
in norway in 2009 was 5.7 percent 

(5.3 percent), in sweden 3.1 
percent (3.0 percent) and in 
denmark 2.4 percent (2.2 percent).

Prevention of sickness absence 
has a high priority throughout the 
group. When we recognised that 
increasing absence was primarily 
long-term and that it constitutes 
the largest share of sickness 
absence, we increased focus on 
preventive health care, particularly 
musculoskeletal disorders, in the 
whole business. We also placed 
emphasis on increasing knowledge 
in this area. We are also actively 
pursuing measures to reduce 
exposure to hazardous substances.

Environment and 
greenhouse effect
it is Veidekke’s ambition to be a 
leading player in our industry when 
it comes to reducing Co

2 emis-
sions and taking care of the 
environment. Concern for the 
environment shall form an integral 
part of all our operations, and 
consideration for the environment 
is shown at all stages of our 
projects – from planning, designing 
and production through manage-
ment, operation and maintenance 
to demolition, segregation and 
recycling. Concern for the external 
environment is incorporated in the 
entities’ management systems. 
Most of the impact on the external 
environment is related to energy 
use, waste, noise, the use of 
health and environmentally 
hazardous substances, materials 
and natural resources, and to 
biological diversity. Veidekke works 
continuously to minimise the 
impact of its operations on the 
external environment. this is done 
through teamwork and transfer of 
experience within the group, and 
through interaction with external 
players. 

Veidekke’s most important 
contribution to reducing energy 
consumption in society is to 
influence our customers to build 
new homes and other buildings 
that have low lifetime energy 
consumption, and to assist in the 
renovation of existing buildings to 
lower their consumption to a 
sustainable level. Veidekke has 
helped to develop and build 
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Miljøbygget (environmentally 
friendly building) for klP eiendom 
in trondheim as an enova Model 
Building. this is likely norway’s 
most energy efficient office 
building and Mid-norway's new 
landmark. Veidekke’s participative 
building processes have led to a 
wide range of energy-smart 
initiatives that were not originally 
part of customer thinking, and have 
helped secure excellent project 
implementation.

in denmark, Hoffmann has 
developed an advanced ventilation 
and energy consumption manage-
ment system, called optimera, 
which has received considerable 
attention among our customers, 
and can quickly result in reduced 
energy consumption even in 
existing buildings.

in sweden, the first tellHus brand 
apartments have been sold with 
construction commencing in spring 
2010. the concept is in the process 
of being “swan” labeled (a nordic 
environmental branding scheme), 
which will be the first swan-bran-
ding of multi-residential buildings in 
scandinavia. the organisation in 
western sweden has achieved iso 
9001 and 14001 safety and quality 
certificates. in norway, Veidekke 
Property initiated cooperation with 
the norwegian Asthma and Allergy 
Association (nAAF). through the 
residential project Årvollbrinken in 
oslo, we are working with nAAF to 
improve the quality of indoor air in 
new homes developed and built by 
Veidekke.

in all scandinavian entities, 
Veidekke is actively working to 
reduce the use of products 
containing substances listed as 
hazardous and or have undesirable 
properties. environmental require-
ments have been included in 
contracts with subcontractors, and 
substitution seminars for con-
struction managers. in norway, 
Climate and Pollution Control 
directorate (formerly sFt) con-
ducted a series of controls in the 
industry over the past year, and 
Veidekke received good feedback 
on its systems and procedures for 
handling hazardous waste. our 
recycling activities received over 
250 000 tonnes in 2009 and have 

provided secure destruction and 
recycling of waste. in addition, 
significant amounts of contamin-
ated soil have been cleaned and 
made reusable.

Veidekke was included in the 
project klimaveien, in which 
organisations associated with road 
transport and environmental work 
sought to reduce Co2 emissions 
from road traffic by 10 percent in 
2009. Veidekke has achieved its 
part of this goal, with a reduction 
of 14.8 percent or emissions 
equivalent to 2,500 passenger 
cars, through the industry 
division's greenhouse gas re-
ductions in the production of 
asphalt and crushed stone/gravel.

Veidekke participated in "the 
Carbon disclosure Project (CdP), in 
which the world's largest banks 
and financial institutions request 
information from the largest listed 
companies on their systems for 
emissions monitoring and manage-
ment handling of the risks and 
opportunities of climate change. 
Veidekke was the construction 
company in scandinavia which 
received the highest scores in the 
2008 report, produced in spring 
2009. total direct emissions were 
estimated at 84,000 tonnes of Co2, 
representing a decline of 23 
percent from the year before. the 
decrease is the result of both 
systematic work and a drier 
summer (2008) than in recent 
years.
 
SHAREHOLDERS AND STOCK 
MARKET 
Veidekke’s shareholders numbered 
7 208 at the end of 2009. 
Veidekke’s largest shareholders 
were oBos (28.0 percent), iF 
skadeförsäkring AB (8.7 percent) 
and Folketrygdfondet (7.3 percent). 
Foreign investor holdings increased 
by 2.4 percent to 23.1 percent of 
the shares.

trading of Veidekke shares on the 
oslo stock exchange in 2009 was 
good with 62.2 million shares 
traded (46.1 percent turnover rate) 
and 21 124 trades of shares in the 
course of the year. the share price 
varied between nok 23.0 at the 
lowest and nok 53.5 at the 
highest. return including dividend 

was 142.8 percent. in comparison, 
oslo stock exchange Benchmark 
index rose 64.8 percent.

Share issues to employees
Another issue of shares to employ-
ees was affected in 2009, in line 
with Veidekke’s strategy to 
strengthen ties with its employees 
through shares in the company. in 
May, 367 persons took advantage 
of this offer, which was then 
presented to key personnel, 
purchasing shares at a price of 
nok 22.80 and nok 19.95. these 
prices corresponded to a discoun-
ted market price during the 
subscription period of 20 percent 
and 30 percent, respectively. the 
share purchases are subject to a 
lock-in period of three years. in 
november, all permanent employ-
ees were invited to purchase 
between 50 and 2 000 shares at a 
price nok 38.10, corresponding to 
a 20 percent discount on the 
average share price during the 
subscription period. these shares 
were subject to a two-year lock-in 
period. there was great interest in 
the offer, and a total of 1 793 
employees bought shares.

At the end of the year, a total of 
3 300 employees held 25.8 million 
shares, or 19.3 percent of the 
shares in the company. 57.9 
percent of Veidekke’s permanent 
employees own shares in the 
company, which shows that our 
employees believe in the future 
development of the company and 
in Veidekke shares. 

Share buyback
At the Annual general Meeting on 
7 May 2009, the Board’s authority 
to buy back Veidekke’s own shares 
equivalent to just under 10 percent 
of the share capital, was renewed. 
no shares were bought back in 
2009 however. share buybacks will 
be continuously considered as a 
step in the process of ensuring an 
optimal financial structure for the 
group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 
PERIOD
New AFP scheme
in February 2010, norway adopted 
a new contractual early retirement 
scheme (AFP). this will lead to 
changes in accounting for the AFP. 
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Veidekke has entered a pension 
liability relating to the former AFP 
scheme into its statement of 
financial position. A large portion of 
this will be reversed. Consequ-
ently, in the first quarter of 2010, 
Veidekke will post approximately 
Mnok 95 as a reduction in labour 
costs in its profit and loss account.

THE PARENT COMPANY 
VEIDEKKE ASA
the primary task of the parent 
company Veidekke AsA is to 
exercise ownership over the 
operative entities of the group. the 
company has 40 (38) employees, 
of whom 14 (15) are women. 

Veidekke AsA performs a number 
of group functions for its group 
companies, including services such 
as financial management, opera-
tion and maintenance of it 
systems, handling of the group’s 
insurance arrangements, perfor-
ming Hse functions and providing 
legal expertise. Veidekke AsA 
invoices each of the subsidiaries 

for these services, and the 
payments are included in the 
company’s operating revenues.

Veidekke AsA’s accounts are 
prepared in compliance with 
ngAAP (norwegian accounting 
rules). 

the company’s operating profit 
amounted to Mnok -27.0 (Mnok 
-40.3). dividends and group 
contributions from subsidiaries 
totalled Mnok 449 (Mnok 893).

DIVIDEND 
For the financial year 2009, the 
Board of directors proposes a 
dividend of nok 2.5 per share, 
totalling Mnok 334.3. Veidekke’s 
future dividend policy will not be 
affected by any repurchases of 
shares, and dividends will continue 
to constitute at least 50 percent of 
earnings per share. For more 
information, the Board of directors 
refers to the company’s dividend 
policy, which is described under 
shareholder information.

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT FOR 
THE YEAR
the financial statements for the 
parent company, Veidekke AsA, 
show a profit of Mnok 342.5 
(Mnok 654.4). the Board of 
directors will propose to the 
Annual general Meeting on 5 May 
2010, that profit be distributed as 
follows:
 Mnok 
Allocated to dividend  334.3 
transferred to other equity  8.2 
Profit for the year  342.5 

the parent company’s distributable 
reserves amount to 844 Mnok.

CONTINUED OPERATIONS
in accordance with section 3-3 of 
the Accounting Act, the Board of 
directors confirms that the 
company has a basis for continued 
operations. the going concern 
assumption has therefore been 
applied in preparing the financial 
statements for 2009.

oslo, 25 March 2010 
Veidekke AsA Board of directors

Martin Mæland 
Chairman of the Board

          göte dahlin                    Jette W. knudsen                Peder Chr. løvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  nudsen                Peder Chr. løvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  øvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  øvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  

          steinar krogstad                             inge ramsdal                                  eiliv staalesen

terje r. Venold
President and Ceo
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(Figures i Mnok) note 2009 2008 2007

Operating revenues 1, 2, 6, 32, 34  15 558.0  19 395.3  19 335.9 

subcontractors -6 301.2 -8 389.2 -8 350.2 
Cost of materials -3 197.4 -4 485.7 -4 971.3 
Wages 3, 4, 21, 31 -3 826.8 -4 138.9 -3 840.8 
other operating expenses -1 402.1 -1 303.5 -1 067.7 
depreciation of goodwill 8  -  -4.2  -
depreciation 10  -335.6  -291.8  -233.6 

total operating expenses  -15 063.1 -18 613.3 -18 463.6 

Operating profit 494.9 782.0 872.3 

result from investment in associated companies and 
joint ventures 12, 34 26.0 123.3 325.8 

Financial income 5, 30 65.8 112.2 80.4 
Financial expenses 5, 30  -63.6  -201.9  -97.5 
 
Earnings before tax 523.1 815.6  1 181.0 

income tax expense 22  -111.5  -200.1  -179.9 
 
Profit for the year  411.6 615.5  1 001.1 

Profit for the year attributable to

equity holders of Veidekke AsA 402.4 611.3 989.7 
non-controlling interests 9.2 4.2 11.4
Total  411.6 615.5  1 001.1 

Earnings per share (NOK) (ordinary/diluted) 7 3.0 4.5 7.1

 
(Figures i Mnok) note 2009 2008 2007

Net profit 411.6 615.5 1001.1
    
other income and expenses    
Currency conversion differences  -105.6 75.6 -31.1
Value adjustments financial assets at fair value*) 30 6.8 -39.8 29.2
    
Total income 312.8 651.3 999.2
    
Total income distributed over
equity holders of Veidekke AsA 303.6 647.1 987.8
non-controlling interests 9.2 4.2 11.4
Total 312.8 651.3 999.2

*)	 Value	adjustment	financial	assets	at	fair	value	applies	to	investment	in	joint	venture	companies	accounted	for	using	the	equity	
method.	

statement of Comprehensive income

Profit and loss Account Veidekke group
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statement of Financial Position Veidekke group at 31 december

 

(Figures in Mnok) note 2009 2008 2007

ASSETS

Non-current assets
goodwill 8, 11 523.0 556.6 504.2 
other intangible assets 9  26.7  26.8 -
deferred tax assets 22  79.3  35.9  45.6
Buildings, sites 10 510.5 576.4 495.2 
Machinery etc. 10  1 206.2  1 200.0 927.3 
investments in associated companies and joint ventures 12 644.1 672.6 427.7 
Financial assets 14 317.1 303.2 405.4 
Total non-current assets   3 306.9  3 371.5  2 805.4 

Current assets
non-residential projects 15 465.8 269.9  73.6 
residential projects 16  1 257.3  1 481.4  1 297.0 
stocks 17 265.9 322.5 273.1 
Accounts receivable 18  2 160.0  2 846.7  3 743.1 
other receivables 179.4 319.6 234.7 
Cash and cash equivalents 19 144.1 354.0 272.4 
Total current assets   4 472.5  5 594.1  5 893.9 

Total assets   7 779.4  8 965.6  8 699.3 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
share capital 20  66.9  68.0  70.1 
other equity  1 951.5  2 021.0  2 182.3 
non-controlling interests  35.3  24.9  33.5 
Total equity   2 053.7  2 113.9  2 285.9 

Long-term liabilities
Pension liability 21, 35 310.8 252.8 259.8 
deferred tax 22 114.0  87.7 214.9 
debts to credit institutions 23 305.6 884.4 457.9 
other long-term liabilities 23  45.6 114.7 110.8 
Total long-term liabilities  776.0  1 339.6  1 043.4 

Short-term liabilities
debts to credit institutions 24  1.1  0.4 163.2 
Creditors 25  2 496.4  2 535.5  3 030.6 
unpaid government charges 309.7 425.6 422.7 
Warranty provisions etc. 26 839.9 964.3 620.8 
Payable tax 22 126.9 290.1 152.5 
other short-term liabilities 25  1 175.7  1 296.2 980.2 
Total short-term liabilities   4 949.7  5 512.1  5 370.0 

Total equity and liabilities   7 779.4  8 965.6  8 699.3 
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Majority

(Figures in MNOK) Note
Share 

capital
Nom. value 
own shares

Other 
fully paid 

shares*)

Currency 
conversion 
differences

Other 
revenue 
reserves

Fair value 
adjustments **) Total Minority Total

 
Equity at 1 January 2007  71.5 -1.1 304.8 -22.5 1 438.6 -43.4 1 747.9 29.8 1 777.7
  -  -
Profit for the year  -31.1 985.7 33.2 987.8 11.4 999.2
Cancellation of own shares  -1.4 1.4 -  -
IFRS 2 – Share-based transactions 
employees 4  -27.6 -27.6  -27.6
Redemption minority interests  0 1.6 1.6
Purchases own shares  -0.9 -90.4 -91.3  -91.3
Dividend 20  -364.4 -364.4 -9.3 -373.7
Equity at 31 December 2007  70.1 -0.6 304.8 -53.6 1 941.9 -10.2 2 252.4 33.5 2 285.9

Equity at 1 January 2008  70.1 -0.6 304.8 -53.6 1 941.9 -10.2 2 252.4 33.5 2 285.9
    
Profit for the year 75.6 612.0 -40.5 647.1 4.2 651.3
Cancellation of own shares  -2.1 2.1 -  -
IFRS 2 – Share-based transactions 
employees 4 -28.5 -28.5 -28.5
Change minority interests  1.5 1.5 -4.4 -2.9
Other changes previous acquisitions -5.3  -5.3 -5.3
Purchases own shares 20 -2.6 -231.8 -234.4  -234.4
Dividend 20 -543.8 -543.8 -8.4 -552.2
Equity at 31 December 2008  68.0 -1.1 304.8 22.0 1 746.0 -50.7 2 089.0 36.8 2 113.9

Equity at 1 January 2009  68.0 -1.1 304.8 22.0 1 746.0 -50.7 2 089.0 24.9 2 113.9
    
Profit for the year -105.6 403.7 5.4 303.5 9.2 312.7
Cancellation of own shares 20 -1.1 1.1 -  -
IFRS 2 – Share-based transactions 
employees  -21.0 -21.0 -21.0
Change minority interests   -0.1 -0.1
Change in accounting for Seby AS 1 -10.4 -10.4 9.4 -1.0
Option agreement purchase of 
minority shares in Seby AS 23 -9.2  -9.2 -9.2
Incremental acquisitions – 
consolidation 11 0.7  0.7 0.7
Dividend 20 -334.3 -334.3 -8.0 -342.3
Equity at 31 December 2009 66.9 - 304.8 -83.6 1 775.5 -45.3 2 018.3 35.4 2 053.7

Statement of Changes in Equity Veidekke Group

*) Fully paid capital over and above nominal value of shares.
**) Adjustment in value of shares available for sale and hedging instruments that are reported as hedging. 
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Statement of Cash Flows Veidekke Group

 

(Figures in MNOK) Note 2009 2008 2007

OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Earnings before tax  523.1 815.6  1 181.0 
Net interest items 5  -14.0  -12.0 26.6 
Tax paid 22  -285.2  -176.5  -100.2 
Depreciation and write-downs 9, 10 335.6 296.0 233.6 
Gains on sales of property, machinery etc. 2  -4.0  -29.8  -25.1 
Gains on sale of company 11  -10.2  -27.3 - 
Share-based transactions entered against equity 4,22  -28.9  -38.4  -43.9 
Profit and loss items without cash flow effect 1  -87.1 311.8 34.5 
Generated from this year’s activities  429.3  1 139.4  1 306.5 
     
Change in non-residential and residential projects 15, 16 77.2  -543.0  -360.9 
Change in accounts receivable 18 686.8 901.2 508.7 
Change in other current assets  198.6  -132.9  -39.2 
Change in creditors etc. 25  -38.6  -501.2 156.1 
Change in other operating debt   -263.1 320.8 19.1 
Net cash flow from operating activities (A)  1 090.2 1 184.3 1 590.3

    
INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES     
Purchase of tangible non-current assets 8,9,10  -436.0  -713.7  -542.7 
Sales of tangible non-current assets 10 39.9 122.4 72.5 
Purchase of subsidiaries 11  -23.1  -48.8  -13.8 
Purchase of other companies 11  -6.7  -31.7  -149.5 
Sales of subsidiaries 11 48.8 45.6 - 
Interest received 5 25.0 70.7 52.4 
Change in other investments   -13.2 23.6  -59.2 
Net cash flow from investment activities (B)   -365.3  -531.9  -640.3 
     
FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
New long-term borrowing 23 54.9 847.5 49.9 
Repayment long-term debts 23  -633.6  -421.5  -336.8 
New short-term borrowing  0.7 0.4 - 
Repayment short-term debts 24 -  -163.2  -168.0 
Interest paid 5  -11.0  -58.7  -79.0 
Payment to minority interests   -7.9  -11.2  -7.8 
Dividend paid 20  -334.3  -543.8  -364.4 
Buy-back own shares 20 -  -234.4  -91.2 
Net cash flow from financing activities (C)   -931.2  -584.9  -997.3 

    
TOTAL NET CHANGE IN CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C)  -206.3 67.5  -47.3

    
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 19 354.0 272.4 330.6 
Exchange rate adjustment foreign liquid reserves   -3.6 14.1  -10.9 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  144.1 354.0 272.4 

 
Supplementary information:     
Long-term borrowing facilities DnB NOR 29, 30  2 100.0  2 100.0  2 100.0 
Used committed borrowing facilities at 31 December  204.5 827.1 418.7 
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Contents note to accounts Veidekke group

Note

  Accounting policies
 1. operating segments 
 2. operating revenues 
 3. Wage expenses 
 4. shares to employees 
 5. Financial income/financial expenses 
 6. Projects in progress 
 7. earnings per share 
 8. goodwill 
 9. other intangible assets (extraction rights for gravel and crushed stone) 
 10. Machinery and property 
 11. Acquisitions and sales of operations 2009 
 12. investments in associated companies and joint ventures 
 13. PPP project Allfarveg
 14. Financial assets 
 15. non-residential projects 
 16. residential projects 
 17. inventories 
 18. Accounts receivable
 19. Cash and cash equivalents
 20. number of shares, shareholders, etc.
 21. Pensions
 22. income tax 
 23. long-term liabilities
 24. short-term debts to credit institutions 
 25. Creditors, unpaid government changes and other short-term liabilities 
 26. Warranty provisions etc. 
 27. Mortgages, guarantees and joint and several liability
 28. Capital management
 29. Financial risk 
 30. Financial instruments
 31. Compensation 
 32. lease commitments 
 33. uncertainties 
 34. related party disclosures 
 35. events after the reporting period
 36. group structure 
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INTRODUCTION

Veidekke
Veidekke is a scandinavian 
contractor and property developer, 
with corporate headquarters in 
oslo. the company operates 
nation-wide in norway and 
denmark, and has extensive 
operations in sweden’s central re-
gions. Veidekke is listed on the 
oslo stock exchange. the consoli-
dated financial statements were 
approved by the Board of directors 
on 25 March 2010.

Statement of financial 
framework
the consolidated accounts have 
been prepared in accordance with 
eu approved international Financial 
reporting standards (iFrs) and 
appurtenant interpretations, 
together with the additional 
informational requirements follow- 
ing the norwegian Accounting Act. 
only standards that have entered 
into force for accounts closed on 
31 december 2009 have been 
applied. 

Historical costs
the consolidated accounts have 
been prepared on a historical cost 
basis, with the exception of 
financial instruments and invest-
ments available for sale which have 
been measured at fair value. Pen-
sions are entered in accordance 
with iAs 19.  

Implementation of new account-
ing standards and interpre-
tations

the following new standards are 
implemented from 1 January 2009

IFRS	8	–	Operating	Segments	–	
identification	of	segments
the group's business segments 
are presented as internal financial 
reporting is presented to the 
group's top operative decision-
maker, the Ceo. 

the group concluded that the 
operating segments determined in 
accordance with iFrs are the same 
as the business segments previ-
ously indentified under iAs 14. 

IAS	1	(Amendment)	–	Presentation	
of	Financial	Statements
What is new is that the group only 
records transactions with owners 
in the statement of changes in 
equity. other changes in equity are 
presented in the comprehensive 
income statement. the change in 
accounting policy will have no 
impact on earnings per share. 

IAS	23	(Amendment)	–	Accounting	
for	Borrowing	Cost
loan expenses that occur after 
1 January 2009 and which are 
directly attributable to the acquisi-
tion, manufacture or production of 
a qualifying asset, are capitalised 
as part of the current asset's 
original cost. Previously, loan 
expenses were expensed as they 
accrued, except loan expenses on 
non-residential projects for own 
account. the amendment has 
mainly affected accounting of the 
group's own-account projects 
within property, as ordinary 
construction projects have pay-
ment plans in step with progress.  
For own-account projects in 
sweden, property is often sold in 
the form of a "cooperative model" 
(borettslagmodel). As a customer, 
the cooperative pays in step with 
progress, which means that there 
is no significant interest expense 
to be activated. total activated 
interest expenses as of 31 
december 2009 were Mnok 9.8. 
see note 5.

IFRS	7	(Amendment)	–	Disclosures	
of	Financial	Instruments
the amendment is presentation-
related in nature and relates to the 
introduction of a valuation hierarchy 
for valuation of financial instru-
ments. see note 30.

IFRIC	12	–	Accounting	for	Public	
and	Private	Cooperation
Veidekke participates in a major 
PPP project (public and private part-
nerships) regarding construction of 
a road between lyngdal and 
Flekkefjord, with a subsequent 
operation and maintenance period 
of 25 years. the standard requires 
that the accounting be made as a 
financial asset according to 
amortised costs over the contract 
period. the adopted interpretation 
has no affect for Veidekke as these 
principles have mainly been used in 
previous years.

IFRS	2	(Amendment)	–	Share-based	
Payment	Transactions	-	Vesting	
Conditions	and	Cancellations
the amendment will not affect the 
accounting of Veidekke’s employee 
share scheme.

IFRIC	13	–	Customer	Loyalty	
Programs
Veidekke does not use loyalty 
programs towards its customers.

Other policy amendments
in connection with the group's 
share program for senior execu-
tives, loans are provided to the 
employees. these loans are 
accounted for in accordance with 
iAs 39 at amortised cost. interest 
income is measured using the 
effective interest method based on 
estimated market interest rates. 
the loans are currently interest-
free, and the difference between 
the nominal value of the loans and 
their fair value based on discounted 
future cash flows at the estimated 
market rate, represents prepaid 
employee benefits. the prepaid 
benefits are expensed over the 
period from the time loans are 
granted until they are repaid.

Accounting policies for Veidekke group
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in previous years, interest income 
and income recording of compen-
sation have been presented in net 
terms in the profit and loss 
account. After being reviewed, it 
was deemed appropriate to classify 
compensation as wage expense 
and interests as a financial item.  
this was done on the basis that 
the group's share ownership 
scheme is closely connected to the 
group's plan and strategy to 
ensure that group leaders focus in 
their daily work on value creation 
for the group's shareholders. For 
2009, this means that nok 7.5 has 
been reclassified from financial 
items to wage expense. the 
corresponding figures for 2008 and 
2007 are Mnok 14.2 and Mnok 
10.2 respectively. see note 5.

subsidiaries in which there is a 
minority interest, where there is an 
agreement entailing a right and 
obligation to purchase the remain-
ing shares in a subsidiary, this 
subsidiary is recognised in the 
accounts as a wholly-owned 
subsidiary. the estimated purchase 
price is then entered under 
long-term liabilities, while 100 
percent of goodwill on purchase is 
entered as an asset. no minority 
interest is recognised. this has 
been based on an assessment of 
the extent to which Veidekke has 
rights equivalent to full ownership 
or not. in previous years, the 
conclusion has been that Veidekke 
had rights equivalent to full 
ownership and thus they were 
consolidated as a wholly-owned 
subsidiary. there has been a 
renewed consideration of this 
principle and, from 1 January 2009, 
assessments shall attach particular 
importance to the high likelihood 
that options will be exercised in the 
option period. the amendment 
means that the subsidiary seby As, 
in which Veidekke has a 70 percent 
stake, has been reclassified as a 
company for which the minority 
share of earnings and sharehol-
ders' equity are presented. the 
agreed purchase price is recorded 
as a liability in the accounts. the 
liability, reduced according to the 
minority’s share of equity, is 
recorded against the majority’s 

share of equity until the option 
period expires.

Material accounting assess-
ments, estimates and assump-
tions 
Veidekke’s operations consist 
mainly of construction work for the 
client’s account and building of 
residential and non-residential 
buildings for sale for its own 
account, i.e. execution of projects. 
For its projects, Veidekke applies 
successively income reporting 
(percentage of completion method) 
based on the anticipated final profit 
(final prognosis) and degree of 
completion. this means that 
income is entered in step with the 
execution of the work. 

successively income reporting 
entails uncertainty, since it is based 
on estimates and assessments. 
For projects under construction, 
the uncertainty is attached to 
progress of ongoing work, dispu-
tes, final prognosis, etc. the final 
profit may therefore differ from the 
anticipated profit. For completed 
projects, the uncertainty is linked 
with hidden deficiencies, including 
warranty, and the outcome of 
possible disputes with the client. 

other items that are affected by 
estimates are assumed service life 
of operating equipment, impair-
ment of goodwill, actuarial assump-
tions of pensions and the use of 
deferred tax assets. in addition, the 
estimates relate to impairment of 
unsold apartments and land.

reference is made to the following 
notes which describe areas 
characterised by significant 
estimation uncertainty:

• note 6 Projects in progress
• note 8 goodwill
• note 14 Financial assets 
• note 15 non-residential projects
• note 16 residential projects 
• note 18 Accounts receivable 
• note 21 Pension commitments
• note 22 tax – deferred tax advantage
• note 25 Creditors 
• note 26 Warranty provisions 

CONSOLIDATION

Consolidated accounts
the consolidated accounts include 
Veidekke AsA (parent company) 
and all of its subsidiaries. subsidia-
ries are defined as companies in 
which the group has a controlling 
interest. A controlling interest is 
normally achieved when the group 
owns more than 50 percent of the 
shares in the company, and is also 
in a position to exercise control 
over the company. groups can be 
formed by establishing new 
companies, by purchasing compa-
nies or through mergers. subsidia-
ries are consolidated in the 
accounts when a controlling 
interest is achieved and until it 
ceases. this also applies to joint 
ventures and associated compa-
nies.

the consolidated accounts show 
the group’s profit and financial 
position as one legal entity and 
they are a collective statement of 
all the companies in the group. the 
companies’ accounts are consolid-
ated line by line. the consolidated 
accounts are drawn up in accor-
dance with uniform accounting 
standards. Associated companies 
and joint ventures are also incor-
porated in the consolidated 
accounts using the equity method 
of accounting. Participation in 
working partnerships is entered in 
the accounts according to the 
gross method, i.e. proportional 
consolidation.

Partly-owned subsidiaries are 
incorporated in the consolidated 
accounts in their entirety. the 
minority share of the subsidiary’s 
equity constitutes part of the 
group equity. the minority share of 
the profit is included in the 
consolidated profit for the year. the 
minority share of the profit and 
equity are specified as separate 
items in the accounts. When 
purchasing a subsidiary with 
minority interests, 100 percent of 
identifiable assets and liabilities are 
entered in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, but 
only the majority share of goodwill 
is entered. When part of a subsi-
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diary is sold and more than 50 
percent of the shares are retained, 
no gain is entered in the profit and 
loss account. 

When Veidekke acquries the 
minority interests in a subsidiary, 
goodwill relating to the transaction 
is identified and entered in the 
statement of financial position. the 
rest of the purchase price is 
entered against equity. An amount 
corresponding to book minority 
interests is entered against this 
item, while the excess value of 
identifiable assets is entered 
against the majority’s equity. 

A subsidiary for which Veidekke 
has an agreement entailing a right 
and obligation to purchase the 
remaining shares, and in which 
Veidekke is considered to have 
rights equivalent to full ownership 
and it is highly likely that the option 
will be exercised, is recognised in 
the accounts as a wholly-owned 
subsidiary. the estimated purchase 
price is then entered under 
long-term liabilities, while 100 
percent of goodwill on purchase is 
entered as an asset. no minority 
interest is recognised.

All intra-group transactions and 
balances are eliminated in the 
consolidated accounts. this applies 
in the first place to shares in 
subsidiaries, which are eliminated 
against equity and assets (excess 
values at time of purchase). it also 
applies to intra-group trading, 
interest, dividends as well as 
receivables and liabilities. Further-
more, intra-group profit and 
unrealised gains and losses are 
eliminated. intra-group trans-
actions are also eliminated when 
using the gross method of acco-
unting, but a proportionate share is 
then eliminated. 

All financial information in accounts 
and notes is presented in nok 
million and to one decimal place.

Business combinations
Business combinations are 
achieved through acquisitions of 
company operations, acquisitions 
of companies and mergers. they 
are entered in the accounts 
according to the acquisition 
method. under this method of 
accounting, original cost is assign-
ed to identifiable assets and 
liabilities and entered in the 
consolidated statement of financial 
position at fair value. this means 
that the excess value at time of 
purchase is assigned to the items 
to which the excess value relates. 
the excess value is equal to the 
original cost less the equity in the 
company. identifiable assets also 
include intangible assets, such as 
patents, licences, trademarks, 
logos and customer portfolios.

excess values over and above 
identifiable assets and liabilities 
constitute goodwill. goodwill 
includes synergies, organisation, 
know-how, market position, etc.  
only purchased goodwill is entered 
in the statement of financial 
position. negative goodwill at time 
of purchase is entered in the profit 
and loss account at the time of 
purchase. For identifiable excess 
values, provision is made for 
deferred tax, while no provision is 
made for deferred tax in the case 
of goodwill. tangible excess values 
are depreciated in the ordinary 
way, while goodwill and intangible 
assets with an indeterminable 
economic life are tested annually 
for impairment. 

When companies are purchased 
within property operations, an 
assessment is made to determine 
whether this is purchase of a 
business or purchase of property 
(asset). For purchases of property 
no goodwill or deferred tax is 
identified at the time of purchase. 
such purchases are not regarded 
as an investment activity, but 
rather as an ordinary operational 
activity. this also applies to cash 
flow statements. 

For purchases of companies before 
1 January 2003, the recognised 
goodwill consists of the amount 
entered in the statement of 
financial position at 
1 January 2004.
 
Associated companies
Veidekke has investments in 
associated companies. Associated 
companies are companies in which 
the investing company can 
exercise significant influence over 
financial and operating policies, but 
which are not subsidiaries or joint 
ventures. Considerable influence 
will normally mean that the 
investing company holds more 
than 20 percent of the shares in 
the company. Veidekke uses the 
equity method of accounting for 
associated companies. the 
accounts of associated companies 
are adapted to iFrs before they 
are incorporated in Veidekke’s 
consolidated accounts.

Joint ventures
Veidekke is also engaged in 
operations with other enterprises, 
so-called joint ventures. some of 
these operations are managed 
through separate legal entities, 
which may be limited companies or 
general partnerships. Joint venture 
companies are mostly used in 
property development, and also for 
investment in PPP companies and 
construction operations. in joint 
venture companies, joint control of 
the company is governed by an 
agreement. Joint control means 
unanimity among the participants 
on important decisions. Veidekke 
uses the equity method of account-
ing for joint venture companies.

The equity method of accounting
under the equity method, invest-
ments are valued as the share of 
equity in the enterprise, and the 
share of the profit is entered as 
income (earnings after tax). When 
part of a company is purchased, 
the investment is reported at 
original cost, i.e. the share of the 
equity plus excess value at the 
time of the purchase, including 
goodwill. the share of the profit 
and investment are specified in the 
profit and loss account and 
statement of financial position. the 
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subordinated loan is presented as 
part of the investment. Profit less 
distributions is added to the 
investment in the statement of 
financial position. When calculating 
the share of the profit, depreciation 
of tangible excess values at time of 
purchase and internal gains are 
taken into account. negative equity 
in the company is entered in the 
statement of financial position only 
when there is liability to cover the 
loss.

Consortiums
Veidekke also runs operations 
along with other enterprises 
through working partnerships. 
A working partnership is a coopera-
tion between two or more partici-
pants who undertake a construct-
ion project together, and when 
they share the risk in the project 
(profit and loss). separate accounts 
are kept for working partnerships. 
the participanrs are joint and 
severally responsible for the joint 
venture’s obligations.

 Working partnerships constitute 
part of Veidekke’s ordinary activi-
ties, and the company takes an 
active part in the management of 
these entities. A working partner-
ship is a joint venture, and its 
activities are regarded as joint 
venture operations. this means 
that operations are controlled 
jointly by the participants, as laid 
down by agreement. this requires 
unanimity on important decisions. 

Veidekke uses the gross method of 
accounting (proportional consolida-
tion) for working partnerships, 
since a working partnership is not a 
separate legal entity. With the 
gross method, each participant 
includes its share of the 
partnership’s accounts, and each 
line in the profit and loss account 
and statement of financial position 
is incorporated. 

Foreign currency translation
the group presents its financial 
statements in norwegian kroner. 
this is also the functional currency 
of the parent company and its 
norwegian subsidiaries. the 
accounts of foreign companies 
with a different functional currency 
are converted as follows:

• Assets and liabilities are conver- 
 ted at the exchange rate on the  
 date of the statement of financial  
 position.
• Profit and loss account items are  
 converted at the transaction rate. 
• Conversion differences are  
 included in other income  
 and expenses in the statement  
 of comprehensive income.

Profit and loss accounts are 
converted at the average rate of 
exchange for a period, normally a 
month. excess value at time of 
purchase is regarded as part of the 
foreign entity and is treated as an 
item in foreign currency. Conver-
sion differences are recorded 
against other income and expenses 
in the comprehensive  income. in 
the case of whole or partial 
disposal of a foreign entity, the 
accumulated conversion differen-
ces are entered in the profit and 
loss account. sale and liquidation 
of a company, repayment of capital 
etc. considered as disposal. At the 
time of transition to iFrs on 
1 January 2004, all conversion 
differences were set at zero.

INCOME REPORTING

Projects
Veidekke operates mainly as 
contractors on projects lasting 
from a few months to three or four 
years. this applies to all types of 
building and construction work. 
Veidekke uses successively income 
reporting for projects, based on the 
estimated final profit. this means 
that income is reported in line with 
the progress of the work, based on 
the percentage of completion. 
Monitoring of the projects focuses 
on the estimated final profit (final 
prognosis), and profit to date is 
equal to estimated final profit 
multiplied by the percentage of 
completion.

Additional claims and disputed 
amounts are normally not taken to 
income until agreement has been 
reached or a legally binding court 
ruling has been given. However, a 
portion of the claim is entered as 
income if it is highly probable. 
Provision is made for guarantee 
work based on historic experience 
and identified risks. the guarantee 
period is normally from three to 
five years. 

For projects that are expected to 
show a loss, the whole loss is 
entered in the profit and loss 
account when identified. Costs 
relating to tenders and other 
preparations are entered as 
expenses as they are incurred. the 
percentage of completion is 
determined on the basis of the 
work executed and is normally 
calculated as the ratio of accrued 
expenses to date to estimated 
total expenses for the project. 
Accrued expenses to date are 
equal to book expenses plus 
accruals for time lag in invoicing 
(Accrued but not recorded). income 
to date is equal to total anticipated 
expenses plus project contributions 
multiplied by the percentage of 
completion.

Projects are normally invoiced 
monthly with 30 days’ credit. 
However, the projects have 
different payment plans. invoicing 
is done either in line with the 
execution of the work or in 
accordance with agreed payment 
plans. 

Accrual accounting is used for both 
income and expenses. non-
invoiced earned income is booked 
under accounts receivable (execu-
ted, not invoiced). unearned 
invoiced income (pre-agreed 
payment plans) is also booked 
under accounts receivable (in-
voiced, not executed). only one of 
these items may be applied per 
project. if the item “invoiced, not 
executed” is larger than booked 
accounts receivable for the project, 
the surplus is entered as advance 
payment from customers (other 
short-term liabilities). 
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each project thus shows either a 
net receivable from the customer 
or a net debt to the customer. Cost 
accruals (Accrued, not recorded) 
are entered under creditors, while 
provision for guarantee work on 
completed projects is entered 
under guarantee provisions etc. 

reference is made to note 6 
Projects in progress, note 18 
Accounts receivable, note 25 
Creditors and note 26 Warranty 
provisions etc.

these accounting principles to a 
great extent also apply to projects 
in Veidekke’s asphalt operations, 
although only to projects which last 
more than one accounting period.

Non-residential projects 
non-residential projects involve the 
development and construction of 
non-residential buildings for sale for 
Veidekke’s own account. Veidekke 
acquires sites and properties for 
the development and construction 
of non-residential buildings. it also 
finds long-term tenants. the 
acquired sites and outlays on 
non-residential projects are entered 
in the statement of financial 
position under non-residential 
projects. non-residential buildings 
for Veidekke’s own account are not 
entered in the profit and loss 
account until the project is sold. 
From the time when it is likely that 
a non-residential project will be 
initiated, all project-related costs 
including interest are capitalised. 
loss-making projects are charged 
to income immediately.

Residential projects
residential projects involve the 
building of apartments for sale for 
Veidekke’s own account. A housing 
project consists of many units and, 
normally, a minimum of 50 percent 
of the units must be sold before 
project start-up. 

Projects	under	development:	
development expenses are 
charged to the profit and loss 
account until it is considered highly 
likely that the project will be 
initiated. interest expense is 
capitalised on the property, but 
only from the time the project has 
received approval for the overall 
framework by regulatory authori-
ties. Before this time interest is 
expensed as it is incurred. the site 
is capitalised when control of the 
future financial advantages linked 
with the site, has been transferred.

Projects	under	construction:
no profit is reported until the sales 
rate measured in value exceeds 60 
percent. the profit is accrued in 
accordance with the projects 
estimated final profit multiplied by 
the sales rate multiplied by the 
percentage of completion. 

income to date is also calculated in 
this way. When calculating the 
anticipated profit, only directly 
attributable expenses are regarded 
as project expenses, including 
interest costs. since the site costs 
normally constitute a large propor-
tion of total project costs and the 
sales rate is normally less than 100 
percent, this means that interest 
expenses are normally activated 
during the project. these costs are 
reversed in line with the project's 
profit and loss account. loss-
making projects are charged to 
income immediately. 

For housing projects for Veidekke’s 
own account, payment takes place 
on delivery. earned income that 
has not been invoiced is booked 
under accounts receivable (execu-
ted, not invoiced). sites for 
development and outlays on the 
part of the project that has not 
been taken to income, as well as 
unsold, completed apartments, are 
entered in the statement of 
financial position under residential 
projects. the fair value of sites and 
unsold apartments are based on 
specific, individual assessments. if 
the fair value is assessed to be 
lower than the book value, the 
sites and dwellings are devaluated 
to fair value.

Long-term contracts for the 
operation and maintenance of 
public roads
An operation and maintenance 
contract usually has a duration of 
5–7 years. in general, the same 
accounting principles are applied to 
operation and maintenance 
contracts as to ordinary construct-
ion projects. the status of oper-
ation and maintenance contracts is 
updated at the end of each year. if 
the profit achieved on the contract 
at the turn of the year is negative, 
the loss is entered in the profit and 
loss account. For projects with 
positive results, the margin cannot 
be higher than what has actually 
been accomplished. For projects 
that are expected to show a net 
loss in the remaining contract 
period, the loss is entered in the 
profit and loss account as soon as 
it has been identified. the perfor-
med assessment shall cover the 
remaining term.

PPP project
Veidekke participates in a major 
PPP project (public private part-
nership) involving the construction 
of a road between lyngdal and 
Flekkefjord and a subsequent 
25-year operation and maintenance 
until 2031. the construction work 
was completed in 2006. 

A PPP project consists of several 
elements: the PPP contract, the 
construction contract and the 
operation and maintenance 
contract. the PPP contract is 
entered in the accounts according 
to iFriC 12 service concession 
arrangements (”the Financial 
Asset Model”), as a financial asset 
at cost amortised over the contract 
period. 

the construction contract was 
reported as an ordinary construct-
ion project, and operation and 
maintenance of the road are 
entered in the profit and loss 
account as the work is executed.

the PPP contract was awarded to 
the associated company Allfarveg 
As, for which Veidekke uses the 
equity method of accounting. 
reference is made to note 13.
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Other operations
income from sales of products 
(crushed stone, asphalt etc.) is 
entered on delivery. income from 
hire operations is reported continu-
ously according to the agreed 
rental fee. income from services 
rendered, consultancy assign-
ments etc. is also reported 
continuously. sales of non-current 
assets are recognised in the profit 
and loss account when they are 
handed over. gains on sales of 
non-current assets are entered 
under operating revenues, while 
the losses on sale of assets are 
entered under other operating 
costs.

Warranty provisions etc.
Provision is made in the accounts 
when the group has an obligation 
(legal or self-imposed) as a result 
of a previous incident, and it is 
probable that a financial settlement 
will take place as a result of that 
obligation, and the size of the 
amount can be measured reliably. 
Provision is made for confirmed 
work under guarantee and for 
probable concealed deficiencies. 
reference is made to note 26.

Restructuring
Provision is made for restructuring 
when the group has approved a 
detailed and formal restructuring 
plan, and the restructuring is either 
initiated or has been announced to 
the affected parties.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

the group classifies financial 
investments in the following 
categories:

1.	Financial	assets	at	fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss
A financial asset is classified in this 
category if it is acquired primarily 
with the intention of selling it in the 
course of a short time. gains and 
losses on investments held for sale 
are recognised in the accounts as 
they occur. Veidekke has currently 
no such financial assets.

2.	Held-to-maturity	investments
Veidekke does not undertake such 
investments, and this category is 
therefore not described in detail.

3.	Loans	and	receivables
loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active 
market. loans and receivables are 
recognised in the statement of 
financial position at amortised cost 
using the effective rate of interest 
method, with a deduction for any 
write-downs. Accounts receivable 
and other receivables are included 
under loans and receivables in the 
statement of financial position. 
gains and losses are taken/charged 
to income when loans or receiva-
bles are deducted or devalued.

4.	Available-for-sale	financial	assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 
are financial investments which are 
either designated in this category 
or cannot be classified in the other 
categories. After first-time recogni-
tion, investments available for sale 
are measured at fair value where 
increases in value are entered 
directly in the statement of 
comprehensive income as a 
separate component, until the 
investment is sold or it is determi-
ned that the investment shall be 
written down. At this point, the 
accumulated values, which were 
previously recognised in the state-
ment of comprehensive income, 
are transferred to the profit and 
loss account.

the fair value of investments that 
are traded over the stock exchange, 
is valued based on the market price 
on the statement of financial 
position date. the fair value of 
investments that are not part of an 
active market, is valued by applying 
generally accepted valuation techni-
ques or by using valuations for 
comparable investments in an 
active market. in the absence of an 
active market with clear indications 
of market price, the original cost 
will normally be used.

Writing down financial assets
if there are indications of impair-
ment relating to loans and receiv-
ables that are valued at amortised 
cost, the need for a write-down is 
considered. the write-down 
amount is calculated as the 
difference between the asset’s 
statement of financial position 
value and present value of anticipa-
ted future cash flows. the write-
down amount is charged to 
income. 

Veidekke has two types of financial 
risks relating to the group’s 
accounts receivable: credit risk and 
project risk. Credit risk relates to 
the customer’s ability to pay. this 
risk has always been low at 
Veidekke because contracts 
normally require bank guarantees, 
among other things. Provision for 
such losses is made using a 
separate “Provision for bad debts” 
account. Provisions are made 
based on historic experience 
related to various customer groups. 
specific debts are written down 
when the company, based on a 
concrete assessment, regard them 
as non-recoverable. 

Project risk relates to the 
customer’s willingness to pay a 
debt. the risk that the customer is 
unwilling to pay is treated as part 
of the individual project’s valuation. 
in the accounts, such impairment 
will be presented as a reduction of 
accounts receivable. in the notes, 
this risk will be presented as part 
of the item “invoiced, not execu-
ted”. For details, see note 18.
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if a financial asset that is classified 
as available for sale based on 
objective criteria has been the 
object of impairment, the loss is 
entered in the profit and loss 
account as a write-down. A 
reversal of the impairment of 
available-for-sale financial instru-
ments is not entered in the profit 
and loss account, but included in 
the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Derivatives and hedging 
transactions
upon first-time recognition, 
derivatives are entered in the 
accounts at fair value. subse-
quently, the item is revalued again 
each time the accounts are 
prepared. on entering into a 
derivative agreement, the group 
defines whether this is fair value 
hedging of an accounting item or 
hedging of an obligation it has 
entered into (hedging of cash 
flows).

Changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are both defined as 
hedging and satisfy the require-
ments for hedging of cash flows 
are entered against equity. equity 
items are reversed and entered as 
income or expenses during the 
period the hedged obligation or 
transaction affects the profit and 
loss account.

Changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that do not qualify as 
hedging are entered in the profit 
and loss account as they occur. 

Financial obligations – Loans
loans are reported in the accounts 
by recognising the amount that is 
received less directly related 
transaction costs. the loan is 
thereafter entered at amortised 
cost by using the effective rate of 
interest method.

Deduction of financial assets and 
obligations
A financial asset is deducted if the 
right to receive cash flows from 
the asset no longer exists. similar-
ly, a financial obligation is deducted 
if the obligation has been honour-
ed, cancelled or has expired as 
agreed.

Financial income and expenses
Financial income includes interest 
income on financial investments, 
dividends, currency gains, sales 
gains from available-for-sale 
financial assets, changes in the fair 
value of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, and 
gains from hedging instruments 
recognised in the profit and loss 
account. interest income is 
recognised in the profit and loss 
account by using the effective rate 
of interest method. 

Financial costs include interest 
charges on loans, currency losses, 
changes in the fair value of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, impairment of financial assets 
and loss on hedging instruments 
that have been entered in the profit 
and loss account. All loan expenses 
are recognised using the effective 
rate of interest method.

OTHER POLICIES

Pensions
Veidekke has pension schemes for 
all its employees in scandinavia. 
these include both defined-contri-
bution and defined-benefit plans. 

in the case of defined-contribution 
plans, the enterprise makes a 
contribution to the employee’s 
pension savings. Here, the future 
pension depends on the size of the 
contribution and return on the 
pension funds. the cost to the 
enterprise is equal to the contribu-
tions for the year. the enterprise’s 
only commitment is to make an 
annual contribution, and no 
commitment is entered in the 
statement of financial position. 
Veidekke’s subsidiaries in denmark 
and sweden have defined-contribu-
tion plans. 

in the case of defined-benefit 
plans, the enterprise commits itself 
to providing a pension of a speci-
fied size. Veidekke’s pension 
schemes are financed either by 
funds or by operations. the 
pension scheme for employees in 
norway normally provides a 
pension amounting to 60 percent 
of the salary on retirement, 
including public pension benefits. 
Here, the enterprise bears the risk 

for the return on pension funds. 
An actuarial calculation is made 
each year of pension costs and 
pension commitments. Pension 
commitments equal the present 
value of earned pension rights. 
employees’ pension rights are 
entered as costs as they are 
earned, and provision is made for 
pension commitments in the 
statement of financial position. the 
pension calculation takes into 
account estimated wage growth 
and pension costs are distributed 
linearly over the employment 
period. rights in connection with 
contractual early retirement 
pension rights in norway are 
distributed in the same way. 

For defined-benefit plans, the net 
value of pension commitments and 
pension funds is entered in the 
statement of financial position 
under long-term liabilities or 
receivables. Pension funds consist 
of a premium fund and a share of 
the life assurance company’s funds 
(mathematical reserve). Pension 
costs consist of the present value 
of the year’s earning plus interest 
on the commitments less return on 
the pension funds. estimate 
variances are recognised in the 
profit and loss account.

in defined-benefit plans, an annual 
difference arises between the 
estimated and actual return on 
pension funds and between 
estimated and actual pension 
commitments, so-called estimate 
variances. this is, among other 
things, due to differences and 
changes in the assumptions. 
Veidekke has adopted the “corri-
dor” approach to estimate varian-
ces, and they are thus entered in 
the statement of financial position. 
the corridor is defined as the 
greater of 10 percent of pension 
funds or of pension commitments. 
estimate variances which exceed 
the corridor are amortised (repor-
ted in the profit and loss account) 
over the average remaining earning 
period. Changes in plans are 
entered in the profit and loss 
account immediately, unless the 
change depends on the employees’ 
remaining in the enterprise, in 
which case the change is amorti-
sed over the remaining earning 
period.
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Tax
income taxes are tax on the 
company’s profit. tax is treated in 
the accounts as an expense and is 
accrued in the normal way. Payable 
tax and deferred tax relating to 
items recorded as other income, 
and expenses in total income are 
entered against the total income.
tax for the year consists of payable 
tax and change in deferred tax. 
Payable tax is fixed on the basis of 
the company’s taxable profit for the 
year. deferred tax is a provision 
(accrual) for future payable tax. 

deferred tax/tax assets are 
calculated on all timing differences 
between accounts and tax. timing 
differences arise because some 
items are treated in different ways 
in financial accounts and tax 
accounts. Both tax-increasing and 
tax-reducing timing differences 
occur. deferred tax is calculated on 
net timing differences, i.e. by 
offsetting tax-increasing against 
tax-reducing timing differences. A 
nominal tax rate, based on tax 
rules adopted at the statement of 
financial position date, is used to 
calculate deferred tax. deferred tax 
assets relating to loss carry-for-
ward are entered in the accounts 
when it is probable that the 
company will have an adequate 
profit in the next three years to 
make use of the assets. 

Payable tax and deferred tax 
relating to equity transactions are 
charged directly to equity. tax 
items relating to unrealised 
intra-group gains are eliminated 
along with these.

Goodwill
goodwill arises when a company 
purchases operations. goodwill 
corresponds to the original 
purchase prise at the time of 
takeover less the fair value of the 
acquired company’s identified 
assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities. if the fair value of the net 
identified assets exceed the 
original purchase price (negative 
goodwill), the amount is entered in 
the profit and loss account. 

Other intangible assets
the group’s other intangible assets 
with a determined useful life are 
valued to original purchase price 
less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated loss on impairment.
this applies, among other things, 
to the right to extract crushed 
stone and gravel, for which 
depreciations are determined 
based on extractions.

Tangible non-current assets
tangible non-current assets consist 
of plant, buildings, machinery, 
equipment, etc. Veidekke books 
tangible non-current assets at 
historic cost. this means that 
tangible non-current assets are 
valued at original cost less accum-
ulated depreciation and write-
downs. tangible non-current assets 
are entered in the statement of 
financial position when it is 
probable that future financial 
advantages linked with the asset 
will accrue to the enterprise and 
the original cost can be measured 
in a reliable way. this applies both 
to first-time purchase of operating 
equipment and to later changes, 
conversions, overhauls, etc. other 
repairs and maintenance are 
entered as expenses as they arise. 
tangible non-current assets are 
depreciated linearly over their 
estimated useful life.

the estimated expected useful life 
for the present period and compa-
rable periods is as follows:

• Vehicles:  4–5 years
• Machinery etc.:  5–7 years
• Asphalt plants: 10–15 year
• Bitumen tanks: 15 years
• Buildings:  20–50 years

the depreciation period and 
residual value are assessed 
annually. gains and losses on 
disposals of non-current assets are 
reported in the profit and loss 
account and constitute the 
difference between sales price and 
book value. 

Write-down of non-current 
assets
on indication of impairment of 
value, the recoverable amount is 
calculated. non-current assets are 
written down to a recoverable 
amount if this is lower than the 
book value. the recoverable 
amount is the higher of net sales 
value and utility value. the utility 
value is the present value of the 
future cash flows that the asset is 
expected to generate. if there is an 
indication that the asset will fall in 
value, the recoverable amount is 
used and the asset is written down 
as required. 

intangible non-current assets with 
an indeterminable life and goodwill 
are tested for impairment in the 
fourth quarter each year, and are 
written down as required. the 
utility value is calculated per cash 
generating unit (Cgu). if a Cgu 
has to be written down, goodwill is 
written down first. other assets 
are then written down proportion-
ately. if the value of written-down 
intangible non-current assets rises 
again later, the write-down is 
reversed. the write-down of the 
goodwill, however, is not reversed.

the calculation of a Cgu is based 
on future estimated cash flows for 
the unit, discounted at a suitable 
rate (risk-free rate plus risk). the 
calculation is based on the Cgu’s 
budgets and prognoses, including 
scrap value. Maintenance costs 
and replacement investment are 
also taken into account, but not 
expansion investment. Financing 
expenses and tax are not included 
in the calculation.
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Financial lease agreements
Financial lease agreements 
(leasing) are agreements where 
most of the financial risk and 
control relating to the object has 
been transferred to the lessee. 
Financial lease agreements for 
operating equipment are entered in 
the statement of financial position 
and depreciated in the normal way, 
while leasing commitments are 
entered as debts to credit institu-
tions. the lease agreement is 
entered in the statement of 
financial position at the lower of 
the present value of the leasing 
payments and the fair value. the 
year’s leasing payment consists of 
interest, which is entered under 
interest charges, and an instalment 
part, which is entered repayment 
of debts. 

Operating lease agreements
lease agreements where most of 
the financial risk and control has 
not passed to the lessee, are 
classified as operating lease 
agreements. For operating lease 
agreements, leasing payments are 
entered as expenses linearly over 
the leasing period, and commit-
ments are not entered in the 
statement of financial position.

Currency transactions 
transactions involving foreign 
currency are converted at the 
exchange rate at the time of 
transaction. Monetary items in 
foreign currency are assessed at 
the exchange rate on the balance 
sheet date and related currency 
gains/losses are entered in the 
profit and loss account. Monetary 
items are items that will be settled 
at a fixed nominal amount. this 
applies to cash and cash equiva-
lents, receiv-ables, debts, etc. For 
non-monetary items, the exchange 
rate at the time of transaction is 
taken as the basis for original cost, 
i.e. is not converted later. this 
applies to tangible non-current 
assets, products, etc.

Classification
Assets and liabilities relating to the 
circulation of goods (projects) are 
classified as current assets and 
current liabilities. Veidekke has 
debts to credit institutions in the 
form of withdrawal rights which are 
used to finance both non-current 
assets (investments) and working 
capital. the agreed due date is 
2010 with an option for renewal 
until 2012. this is classified as a 
long-term loan. other debts to 
credit institutions which are taken 
up to finance non-current assets 
(investments) are classified as long-
term liabilities, while other loans 
that are taken up to finance 
working capital (current assets) are 
classified as short-term liabilities. 
other receivables and debts due 
for payment more than a year 
hence are classified as non-current 
assets and long-term liabilities. the 
first year’s instalments on long-
term liabilities are classified as 
short-term liabilities.

Inventories
inventories consist of project 
stocks and stocks for crushed 
stone and asphalt operations. 
Project stocks are included in 
project valuations. stocks for 
crushed stone and asphalt opera-
tions are entered in the accounts at 
the lower of total production costs 
and net sales price.

Share discounts
Veidekke buys back its own shares 
and resells them to its employees 
at a discount. these sales of shares 
are reported in accordance with 
iFrs 2 on share-based payment. 
the discount is entered as cost at 
the fair value at the time of issue, 
taking into account the lock-in 
period. this entails that the 
discount is calculated according to 
an option pricing model. the fair 
value of the discount is charged to 
wages. reference is made to 
note 4.

Proposed dividend
Proposed dividends are not entered 
as liabilities in the accounts until 
they have been approved by the 
Annual general Meeting. this
means that the proposed dividends 
at 31 december are part of the 
equity.

Development costs
Veidekke carries out very little 
research and development of 
products etc.

Uncertainties
Veidekke’s profits from projects are 
affected to a great extent by 
estimates which entail some 
uncertainty. see details on page 18 
under ”estimates”. information on 
uncertainties is provided in 
note 33.

Loan expenses
loan expenses that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, 
manufacture or production of a 
qualifying asset, are capitalised as 
part of the current asset's original 
cost. For Veidekke this leads to 
capitalisation of interest in con-
nection with own-account projects 
within property. in connection with 
the purchase of operating equip-
ment in which it takes a long time 
before an asset can be used for the 
expected purpose, interest will also 
be activated. this applies, for ex- 
ample, to the acquisition of an 
asphalt plant. other loan expenses 
are charged to the profit and loss 
account as they are paid. 

Own shares
repurchased shares are booked at 
cost price including costs directly 
attributable to equity. the 
company’s own shares are 
presented as a reduction in equity. 
losses or gains on transactions 
with own shares are not recogni-
sed in the profit and loss account.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist 
of cash and bank deposits, includ-
ing deposits subject to certain 
conditions, and short-term liquid 
investments with a maximum term 
of three months, which can be 
converted into cash immediately. 
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Earnings per share
the earnings per share are 
calculated by dividing the period’s 
earnings attributable to the owners 
of the parent company, by the 
weighted average number of 
outstanding shares in the period.

Cash flow statement
the cash flow statement is drawn 
up using the indirect method. 

in the property divisions, invest-
ments are made continuously in 
new development projects, 
including sites. these are regarded 
as part of the operating activities, 
and are presented under operating 
activities in the cash flow state-
ment. Associated companies and 
joint ventures are also used as part 
of the operating activities for the 
development of property projects. 
Both purchases and sales of 
associated companies and joint 
ventures are regarded as operating 
activities. in the other divisions of 
the group, purchases and sales of 
companies are classified as 
investment activities. 

in 2009,  a renewed assessment 
was made of what should be 
included in the "Profit and loss 
items without cash flow effect" 
line. included, among other things, 
are investments in associated and 
jointly-controlled companies. 
Previously, results from this type of 
investment have been adjusted for 
dividends received. it is considered 
more appropriate not to adjust for 
dividends received, but to show 
just the results from associated 
and jointly-controlled companies in 
this line. Comparable figures for 
previous years are restated. 

The following standards will be 
implemented from the date 
when EU requires them to be 
followed:

• iFrs 2 (Amendment) share- 
 based Payment – deposits of  
 business by the establishment of  
 jointly controlled entity and the  
 business associations under  
 common control are outside the  
 scope of iFrs 2.

• iFrs 2 (Amendment) share- 
 based Payment – the changes in  
 iFrs 2 involves more guidance  
 related to share-based payments  
 made in cash.

• iFrs 3 (revised) – Business  
 Combinations – Accounting of  
 step acquisitions, minority  
 interests, contingent consider-
 ations and acquisition costs.

• iFrs 5 (Amendment) – non- 
 Current Assets Held for sale and  
 discontinued operations   
 – Accounting of planned sale of  
 controlling interest in subsidiary.

• iFrs 8 – operating segments: 
 it must be emphasised that it is  
 only the segment assets and  
 liabilities, which are reported in  
 particular for internal decision- 
 making purposes, that must be  
 disclosed in the segment  
 information.

• iFrs 9 – Financial instruments  
 – recognition and measurement  
 of financial instruments.

• iFriC 9 – reassessment of  
 embedded derivatives - regar- 
 ding embedded derivatives in  
 business. 

• iFriC 14–19 – limitations of  
 a net defined benefit pension  
 asset, minimum funding and the  
 interaction between them.

• iFriC 15 – Agreements for the  
 Construction of real estate.  
 
• iFriC 16 – Hedges of a net  
 investment in a Foreign oper-
 ation

• iFriC 17 – Acccounting for  
 distribution of non-cash assets to  
 owners.

• iFriC 18 – Accounting for assets  
 transferred from customers to  
 suppliers of electricity, gas,  
 water and telecommunications.

• iFriC 19 – extinguishing Financial  
 liabilities with equity instru- 
 ments. the interpretation  
 provides guidance on accounting  
 for transactions when a company  
 makes up all or part of its  
 financial obligations through the  
 issuance of equity instruments,  
 and applies when debt conver- 
 sion occurs as a result of a  
 renegotiation of the loan  
 agreement.

• iAs 1 – Presentation of Financial  
 statements: if a lender at any  
 time has the right to convert a  
 convertible loan into equity, the  
 classification of the loan will not  
 be affected.

• iAs 7 – statement of Cash Flows:  
 specifies that only expenditures  
 that are capitalised will be  
 included in cash flow from  
 investing activities.

•  iAs 17 – lease Agreements: the  
 special mention of criteria for  
 classification as a financial lease  
 is removed for land.

• iAs 18 – revenue: it is taken into  
 more guidance to the assess- 
 ment of whether a company 
 is an agent or seller for their 
 own account and the risks as 
 principal. 

• iAs 24 (revised) – related Party  
 disclosures. in relation to the  
 current iAs 24, the revised  
 standard has a clarification and  
 simplification of the definition of  
 related party.

• iAs 27 (Amendment) – Consoli-
 dated and separate Financial  
 statements – guidance on  
 accounting for changed owner- 
 ship interest in subsidiaries.
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• iAs 32 (Amendment) – Financial  
 instruments Presentasjon  
 – subscription rights in currency.

• iAs 36 (Amendment) – impair 
 ment of Assets. emphasise that  
 the operation segment is the  
 highest level one can allocate  
 goodwill to in a business  
 combination. 

• iAs 38 (Amendment) – intangible  
 Assets. it has been specified  
 in a clarification that if an  
 intangible asset is only identifi-
 able with another intangible  
 asset, the two can be presented  
 as one asset provided their  
 lifespan is approximately equal.

• iAs 39  – Financial instruments  
 – recognition and measurement:  
 regarding prepayment options in  
 connection with a host contract,  
 contracts in connection with  
 business combinations and  
 where cash flow hedges result 
 in a financial instrument being 
 entered into the statement of  
 financial position.

the following standard will have a 
significant impact on Veidekke’s 
consolidated accounts:

IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate 
the iAsB has released an interpre-
tive of the rules for the sale of flats 
built for own account. the eu has 
decided that the new rules shall be 
applied from 1 January 2010. the 
new interpretation clarifies what is 
included by the rules regarding 
construction contracts (iAs 11), and 
what should be treated as ordinary 
sales of goods (iAs 18).  the 
interpretation clarifies when 
turnover and profit may be recogni-
sed in the accounts.

today’s practice among listed 
swedish and norwegian construct-
ion companies is to recognise 
revenue as it is earned in line with 
the sales rate and percentage of 
completion in compliance with iAs 
11.  For Veidekke, the implementa-
tion of iFriC 15 implies that the 
sale of housing units shall only be 
entered as income after they have 
been delivered. this is because the 
sale of a flat shall be treated in the 
accounts in the same way as the 
sale of a product since the buyer of 
the apartment is not given the 
opportunity to influence the design 
of the apartment.

We expect the accounting effect in 
the form of reduced equity as of 
1 January 2010 will be in the range 
of Mnok 40. the amount is 
relatively low because there has 
been a limited number of new 
projects start-ups in 2009. 

IFRS 3 – Business combinations
the revised iFrs 3 will have impact 
on how the acquisitions made after 
31 december 2009 are treated in 
the accounts. in relation to the 
current iFrs 3 the revised standard 
involves individual ammendments 
and clarifications concerning the 
application of the purchase 
method. specific conditions that 
are affected include goodwill for 
incremental acquisitions, minority 
interests, contingent fees and 
acquisition expenses. 

IAS 27 – Consolidated and 
separate financial statements
the revised iAs 27 provides more 
guidance on accounting for 
ownership changes of subsidiaries. 
the introduction of the revised 
standard stipulates that when the 
group loses control of a subsidiary, 
any remaining equity interest in the 
subsidiary must be measured at 
fair value and the corresponding 
gain or loss entered into the profit 
and loss account.
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note 1. Operating segments

disclosure for operating segment is presented for the operating segments as they are reported to the corporate 
management (kl) and the group director (Ceo), who is the group's chief operating decision maker. segment 
information includes the geographic areas as they are reported to the Ceo and corporate management. details on 
the operating segments can be found in the annual report, pages 2 to 5. 

A. Operational segments
Construction Property Development Industry Other operations/items Group elimination Group

Profit and Loss Account 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
operating revenues  12 094.9  15 534.3  15 390.5 711.2  1 401.8  2 319.7  2 968.0  3 292.6  2 906.9 288.9 219.9 87.6 -505.0  -1 053.3  -1 368.8  15 558.0  19 395.3  19 335.9 
operating expenses  -11 427.3  -14 809.1  -14 835.5 -726.7  -1 272.4  -2 002.4  -2 777.3  -3 030.0  -2 637.6 -301.2 -255.1 -123.3 505.0  1 049.3  1 368.8  -14 727.5  -18 317.3  -18 230.0 
depreciation of goodwill  -  -  -  -  -  -  - -4.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - -4.2  - 
depreciation -150.5 -121.6 -98.4 -6.2 -7.0 -8.2 -162.4 -148.4 -118.7 -16.5 -14.8 -8.3  -  -  - -335.6 -291.8 -233.6 
Operating profit 517.1 603.6 456.6 -21.7 122.4 309.1 28.3 110.0 150.6 -28.8 -50.0 -44.0  - -4.0  - 494.9 782.0 872.3 

                  
share of profit. associated companies and joint ventures 2.7 -2.9 -2.9 2.9 77.1 303.9 10.5 41.7 19.8 9.9 7.4 5.0  -  -  - 26.0 123.3 325.8 
net financial items 85.9 173.1 96.9 -55.1 -180.1 -79.0 -31.7 -83.6 -40.3 6.1 0.9 5.3 -3.0  -  - 2.2 -89.7 -17.1 
earnings before tax 605.7 773.8 550.6 -73.9 19.4 534.0 7.1 68.1 130.1 -12.8 -41.7 -33.7 -3.0 -4.0  - 523.1 815.6  1 181.0 
                   
Balance Sheet at 31 December                   
non-current assets  1 162.1  1 106.6 959.9 705.5 781.7 539.4  1 162.3  1 150.5 957.0  1 456.1  1 548.6  1 373.5  -1 179.1  -1 215.9  -1 024.4  3 306.9  3 371.5  2 805.4 
Current assets  2 122.0  2 134.1  2 534.0  1 861.2  2 469.3  2 524.0 543.1 665.1 612.1 597.8  1 017.9  1 072.8 -795.7  -1 046.3  -1 121.4  4 328.4  5 240.1  5 621.5 
Cash and cash equivalents  2 600.9  2 828.2  2 130.2 17.9 108.7 173.3  -  -  - 12.6  - 21.9  -2 487.3  -2 582.9  -2 053.0 144.1 354.0 272.4 
Total assets  5 885.0  6 068.9  5 624.1  2 584.6  3 359.7  3 236.7  1 705.4  1 815.6  1 569.1  2 066.5  2 566.5  2 468.2  -4 462.1  -4 845.1  -4 198.8  7 779.4  8 965.6  8 699.3 
equity  1 037.7  1 470.1 997.4 669.5 869.6  1 301.0 301.3 253.3 221.9  1 138.4 642.7 798.6  -1 093.2  -1 121.8  -1 033.0  2 053.7  2 113.9  2 285.9 
long-term liabilities 521.2 332.4 435.2  1 180.6  1 629.2 954.3 888.2  1 087.2 901.8 777.2 972.6 808.4  -2 591.2  -2 681.8  -2 056.3 776.0  1 339.6  1 043.4 
short-term liabilities  4 326.1  4 266.4  4 191.5 734.5 860.9 981.4 515.9 475.1 445.4 150.9 951.2 861.2 -777.7  -1 041.5  -1 109.5  4 949.7  5 512.1  5 370.0 
Total equity and liabilities  5 885.0  6 068.9  5 624.1  2 584.6  3 359.7  3 236.7  1 705.4  1 815.6  1 569.1  2 066.5  2 566.5  2 468.2  -4 462.1  -4 845.1  -4 198.8  7 779.4  8 965.6  8 699.3 
gross investment for the year 187.3 248.8 225.5 32.5 122.2 81.7 240.4 351.6 245.1 10.4 51.8 13.5 -2.9  -  - 467.7 774.4 565.8 
invested capital *)     2 218.6  2 634.7  2 346.1  1 098.7  1 259.8  1 047.2        2 360.4  2 998.7  2 907.0 
iinvestment in associated companies and joint ventures 11.5 10.5 11.7 449.0 488.4 244.4 149.3 142.3 120.2 34.3 31.4 51.4  -  -  - 644.1 672.6 427.7 

*)	 Invested	capital	is	only	specified	for	the	segments	Property	and	Industry,	as	they	are	the	two	most	capital	intensive	segments.

Construction Property Development Industry Other operations/items Group elimination Group

Other information at 31 December 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
no. of employees 4 610 4 825 5 101  97  113  120 1 111 1 268 1 212  536  780  880  -  -  - 6 354 6 986 7 313 
Profit and loss items with no effect on cash flow                   
(over and above write-downs and depreciation ) *) -42.0 329.6 66.3 -12.4 3.8 -1.9 -25.9 -13.9 -13.9 -6.8 -7.7 -16.0  -  -  - -87.1 311.8 34.5 
Backlog of orders 12 323 10 356 13 133  -  -  -  -  -  -  11  208  130  -  -  - 12 334 10 564 13 263 
- due for completion within 12 months 8 731 8 064 10 380  -  -  -  -  -  -  11  173  130  -  -  - 8 742 8 237 10 510 

*)	 The	year's	changes	with	no	effect	on	cash	flow	relating	to	warranty	provisions,	impairment	of	financial	assets,	pension	liabilities	
and	earnings	in	associated	companies.	Positive	figures	equals	positive	adjustment	of	cash	flow.

notes Veidekke group



Veidekke Financial report 2009   Page 29

note 1. Operating segments

disclosure for operating segment is presented for the operating segments as they are reported to the corporate 
management (kl) and the group director (Ceo), who is the group's chief operating decision maker. segment 
information includes the geographic areas as they are reported to the Ceo and corporate management. details on 
the operating segments can be found in the annual report, pages 2 to 5. 

A. Operational segments
Construction Property Development Industry Other operations/items Group elimination Group

Profit and Loss Account 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
operating revenues  12 094.9  15 534.3  15 390.5 711.2  1 401.8  2 319.7  2 968.0  3 292.6  2 906.9 288.9 219.9 87.6 -505.0  -1 053.3  -1 368.8  15 558.0  19 395.3  19 335.9 
operating expenses  -11 427.3  -14 809.1  -14 835.5 -726.7  -1 272.4  -2 002.4  -2 777.3  -3 030.0  -2 637.6 -301.2 -255.1 -123.3 505.0  1 049.3  1 368.8  -14 727.5  -18 317.3  -18 230.0 
depreciation of goodwill  -  -  -  -  -  -  - -4.2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - -4.2  - 
depreciation -150.5 -121.6 -98.4 -6.2 -7.0 -8.2 -162.4 -148.4 -118.7 -16.5 -14.8 -8.3  -  -  - -335.6 -291.8 -233.6 
Operating profit 517.1 603.6 456.6 -21.7 122.4 309.1 28.3 110.0 150.6 -28.8 -50.0 -44.0  - -4.0  - 494.9 782.0 872.3 

                  
share of profit. associated companies and joint ventures 2.7 -2.9 -2.9 2.9 77.1 303.9 10.5 41.7 19.8 9.9 7.4 5.0  -  -  - 26.0 123.3 325.8 
net financial items 85.9 173.1 96.9 -55.1 -180.1 -79.0 -31.7 -83.6 -40.3 6.1 0.9 5.3 -3.0  -  - 2.2 -89.7 -17.1 
earnings before tax 605.7 773.8 550.6 -73.9 19.4 534.0 7.1 68.1 130.1 -12.8 -41.7 -33.7 -3.0 -4.0  - 523.1 815.6  1 181.0 
                   
Balance Sheet at 31 December                   
non-current assets  1 162.1  1 106.6 959.9 705.5 781.7 539.4  1 162.3  1 150.5 957.0  1 456.1  1 548.6  1 373.5  -1 179.1  -1 215.9  -1 024.4  3 306.9  3 371.5  2 805.4 
Current assets  2 122.0  2 134.1  2 534.0  1 861.2  2 469.3  2 524.0 543.1 665.1 612.1 597.8  1 017.9  1 072.8 -795.7  -1 046.3  -1 121.4  4 328.4  5 240.1  5 621.5 
Cash and cash equivalents  2 600.9  2 828.2  2 130.2 17.9 108.7 173.3  -  -  - 12.6  - 21.9  -2 487.3  -2 582.9  -2 053.0 144.1 354.0 272.4 
Total assets  5 885.0  6 068.9  5 624.1  2 584.6  3 359.7  3 236.7  1 705.4  1 815.6  1 569.1  2 066.5  2 566.5  2 468.2  -4 462.1  -4 845.1  -4 198.8  7 779.4  8 965.6  8 699.3 
equity  1 037.7  1 470.1 997.4 669.5 869.6  1 301.0 301.3 253.3 221.9  1 138.4 642.7 798.6  -1 093.2  -1 121.8  -1 033.0  2 053.7  2 113.9  2 285.9 
long-term liabilities 521.2 332.4 435.2  1 180.6  1 629.2 954.3 888.2  1 087.2 901.8 777.2 972.6 808.4  -2 591.2  -2 681.8  -2 056.3 776.0  1 339.6  1 043.4 
short-term liabilities  4 326.1  4 266.4  4 191.5 734.5 860.9 981.4 515.9 475.1 445.4 150.9 951.2 861.2 -777.7  -1 041.5  -1 109.5  4 949.7  5 512.1  5 370.0 
Total equity and liabilities  5 885.0  6 068.9  5 624.1  2 584.6  3 359.7  3 236.7  1 705.4  1 815.6  1 569.1  2 066.5  2 566.5  2 468.2  -4 462.1  -4 845.1  -4 198.8  7 779.4  8 965.6  8 699.3 
gross investment for the year 187.3 248.8 225.5 32.5 122.2 81.7 240.4 351.6 245.1 10.4 51.8 13.5 -2.9  -  - 467.7 774.4 565.8 
invested capital *)     2 218.6  2 634.7  2 346.1  1 098.7  1 259.8  1 047.2        2 360.4  2 998.7  2 907.0 
iinvestment in associated companies and joint ventures 11.5 10.5 11.7 449.0 488.4 244.4 149.3 142.3 120.2 34.3 31.4 51.4  -  -  - 644.1 672.6 427.7 

*)	 Invested	capital	is	only	specified	for	the	segments	Property	and	Industry,	as	they	are	the	two	most	capital	intensive	segments.

Construction Property Development Industry Other operations/items Group elimination Group

Other information at 31 December 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
no. of employees 4 610 4 825 5 101  97  113  120 1 111 1 268 1 212  536  780  880  -  -  - 6 354 6 986 7 313 
Profit and loss items with no effect on cash flow                   
(over and above write-downs and depreciation ) *) -42.0 329.6 66.3 -12.4 3.8 -1.9 -25.9 -13.9 -13.9 -6.8 -7.7 -16.0  -  -  - -87.1 311.8 34.5 
Backlog of orders 12 323 10 356 13 133  -  -  -  -  -  -  11  208  130  -  -  - 12 334 10 564 13 263 
- due for completion within 12 months 8 731 8 064 10 380  -  -  -  -  -  -  11  173  130  -  -  - 8 742 8 237 10 510 

*)	 The	year's	changes	with	no	effect	on	cash	flow	relating	to	warranty	provisions,	impairment	of	financial	assets,	pension	liabilities	
and	earnings	in	associated	companies.	Positive	figures	equals	positive	adjustment	of	cash	flow.



Veidekke Financial report 2009   Page 30

Construction operations
Construction Norway Construction Sweden Construction Denmark Construction Total

Profit and Loss Account 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
operating revenues  8 121.4  10 660.2  9 854.7  2 355.0  2 801.1  2 756.2  1 618.5  2 073.0  2 779.6  12 094.9  15 534.3  15 390.5 
operating expenses  -7 549.6  -10 005.5  -9 201.0  -2 299.4  -2 737.3  -2 754.6  -1 578.3  -2 066.3  -2 879.9  -11 427.3  -14 809.1  -14 835.5 
depreciation of goodwill  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
depreciation -118.5 -94.8 -79.4 -22.3 -17.1 -9.7 -9.7 -9.7 -9.3 -150.5 -121.6 -98.4 
operating profit 453.3 559.9 574.3 33.3 46.7 -8.1 30.5 -3.0 -109.6 517.1 603.6 456.6 
share of profit, associated companies and joint ventures 1.3 -3.6 -3.5  -  -  - 1.4 0.7 0.6 2.7 -2.9 -2.9 
net financial items 69.1 151.6 72.2 3.1 6.0 3.8 13.7 15.5 20.9 85.9 173.1 96.9 
Earnings before tax 523.7 707.9 643.0 36.4 52.7 -4.3 45.6 13.2 -88.1 605.7 773.8 550.6 

Balance Sheet at 31 December             
non-current assets 749.2 689.5 625.4 224.8 190.0 150.4 188.1 227.1 184.1  1 162.1  1 106.6 959.9 
Current assets  1 289.6  1 539.9  1 866.4 341.4 350.2 298.1 491.0 244.0 369.5  2 122.0  2 134.1  2 534.0 
Cash and cash equivalents  2 413.0  2 627.9  2 123.9  - 30.3 -84.9 187.9 170.0 91.2  2 600.9  2 828.2  2 130.2 
Total assets  4 451.8  4 857.3  4 615.7 566.2 570.5 363.6 867.0 641.1 644.8  5 885.0  6 068.9  5 624.1 
equity 740.8  1 185.3 949.2 36.9 32.5 -94.5 260.0 252.3 142.7  1 037.7  1 470.1 997.4 
long-term liabilities 405.0 335.6 427.9 107.0 -3.2 7.3 9.2  -  - 521.2 332.4 435.2 
short-term liabilities  3 306.0  3 336.4  3 238.6 422.3 541.2 450.8 597.8 388.8 502.1  4 326.1  4 266.4  4 191.5 
Total equity and liabilities  4 451.8  4 857.3  4 615.7 566.2 570.5 363.6 867.0 641.1 644.8  5 885.0  6 068.9  5 624.1 
gross investment for the year 130.3 156.8 155.2 49.8 77.8 58.5 7.2 14.2 11.8 187.3 248.8 225.5 
investment in associated companies and joint ventures 7.7 6.8 8.9  -  -  - 3.8 3.7 2.8 11.5 10.5 11.7 

Other information at 31 December            
no. of employees 3 207 3 270 3 296  917  999 1 102  486  556  703 4 610 4 825 5 101 
Backlog of orders 8 581 6 579 9 030 2 764 2 479 2 222  978 1 298 1 881 12 323 10 356 13 133 
- due for completion within 12 months 6 126 5 288 7 047 1 760 1 624 1 824  845 1 152 1 509 8 731 8 064 10 380 

Property Development
Property Development Norway Property Development Sweden Property  Development Denmark Property Development 

Profit and Loss Account 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
operating revenues 349.1 631.7  1 389.1 359.3 719.7 767.8 2.8 50.4 162.8 711.2  1 401.8  2 319.7 
operating expenses -349.0 -570.2  -1 202.5 -342.2 -629.2 -638.5 -35.5 -73.0 -161.4 -726.7  -1 272.4  -2 002.4 
depreciation of goodwill  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
depreciation -6.1 -6.5 -4.4 -0.1 -0.5 -3.8  -  -  - -6.2 -7.0 -8.2 
Operating profit -6.0 55.0 182.2 17.0 90.0 125.5 -32.7 -22.6 1.4 -21.7 122.4 309.1 
share of profit, associated companies and joint ventures 3.7 61.6 298.5 6.1 15.5 5.5 -6.9  - -0.1 2.9 77.1 303.9 
net financial items -45.6 -166.5 -49.3 -1.9 -3.7 -18.0 -7.6 -9.9 -11.7 -55.1 -180.1 -79.0 
Earnings before tax -47.9 -49.9 431.4 21.2 101.8 113.0 -47.2 -32.5 -10.4 -73.9 19.4 534.0 

Balance Sheet at 31 December             
non-current assets 551.1 659.8 417.8 138.5 112.4 119.6 15.9 9.5 2.0 705.5 781.7 539.4 
Current assets  1 124.2  1 595.3  1 713.9 481.3 570.2 532.5 255.7 303.8 277.6  1 861.2  2 469.3  2 524.0 
Cash and cash equivalents  -  -  -  - 108.7 173.3 17.9  -  - 17.9 108.7 173.3 
Total assets  1 675.3  2 255.1  2 131.7 619.8 791.3 825.4 289.5 313.3 279.6  2 584.6  3 359.7  3 236.7 
equity 364.2 395.5 822.3 283.0 415.0 422.2 22.3 59.1 56.5 669.5 869.6  1 301.0 
long-term liabilities  1 114.2  1 546.7 887.0 66.4 82.5 66.4  -  - 0.9  1 180.6  1 629.2 954.3 
short-term liabilities 196.9 312.9 422.4 270.4 293.8 336.8 267.2 254.2 222.2 734.5 860.9 981.4 
Total equity and liabilities  1 675.3  2 255.1  2 131.7 619.8 791.3 825.4 289.5 313.3 279.6  2 584.6  3 359.7  3 236.7 
gross investment for the year 32.5 122.2 54.9  -  - 26.8  -  -  - 32.5 122.2 81.7 
Capital invested  1 462.7  1 929.1  1 843.9 497.9 415.0 259.0 258.0 290.6 243.2  2 218.6  2 634.7  2 346.1 
investment in associated companies and joint ventures 356.0 419.1 195.5 93.0 66.8 46.9  - 2.5 2.0 449.0 488.4 244.4 

6 126 5 288 7 047 1 760 1 624 1 824  845 1 152 1 509 8 731 8 064 
Other information at 31 December            
no. of employees  44  47  53  51  64  58  2  2  9  97  113  120 
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Construction operations
Construction Norway Construction Sweden Construction Denmark Construction Total

Profit and Loss Account 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
operating revenues  8 121.4  10 660.2  9 854.7  2 355.0  2 801.1  2 756.2  1 618.5  2 073.0  2 779.6  12 094.9  15 534.3  15 390.5 
operating expenses  -7 549.6  -10 005.5  -9 201.0  -2 299.4  -2 737.3  -2 754.6  -1 578.3  -2 066.3  -2 879.9  -11 427.3  -14 809.1  -14 835.5 
depreciation of goodwill  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
depreciation -118.5 -94.8 -79.4 -22.3 -17.1 -9.7 -9.7 -9.7 -9.3 -150.5 -121.6 -98.4 
operating profit 453.3 559.9 574.3 33.3 46.7 -8.1 30.5 -3.0 -109.6 517.1 603.6 456.6 
share of profit, associated companies and joint ventures 1.3 -3.6 -3.5  -  -  - 1.4 0.7 0.6 2.7 -2.9 -2.9 
net financial items 69.1 151.6 72.2 3.1 6.0 3.8 13.7 15.5 20.9 85.9 173.1 96.9 
Earnings before tax 523.7 707.9 643.0 36.4 52.7 -4.3 45.6 13.2 -88.1 605.7 773.8 550.6 

Balance Sheet at 31 December             
non-current assets 749.2 689.5 625.4 224.8 190.0 150.4 188.1 227.1 184.1  1 162.1  1 106.6 959.9 
Current assets  1 289.6  1 539.9  1 866.4 341.4 350.2 298.1 491.0 244.0 369.5  2 122.0  2 134.1  2 534.0 
Cash and cash equivalents  2 413.0  2 627.9  2 123.9  - 30.3 -84.9 187.9 170.0 91.2  2 600.9  2 828.2  2 130.2 
Total assets  4 451.8  4 857.3  4 615.7 566.2 570.5 363.6 867.0 641.1 644.8  5 885.0  6 068.9  5 624.1 
equity 740.8  1 185.3 949.2 36.9 32.5 -94.5 260.0 252.3 142.7  1 037.7  1 470.1 997.4 
long-term liabilities 405.0 335.6 427.9 107.0 -3.2 7.3 9.2  -  - 521.2 332.4 435.2 
short-term liabilities  3 306.0  3 336.4  3 238.6 422.3 541.2 450.8 597.8 388.8 502.1  4 326.1  4 266.4  4 191.5 
Total equity and liabilities  4 451.8  4 857.3  4 615.7 566.2 570.5 363.6 867.0 641.1 644.8  5 885.0  6 068.9  5 624.1 
gross investment for the year 130.3 156.8 155.2 49.8 77.8 58.5 7.2 14.2 11.8 187.3 248.8 225.5 
investment in associated companies and joint ventures 7.7 6.8 8.9  -  -  - 3.8 3.7 2.8 11.5 10.5 11.7 

Other information at 31 December            
no. of employees 3 207 3 270 3 296  917  999 1 102  486  556  703 4 610 4 825 5 101 
Backlog of orders 8 581 6 579 9 030 2 764 2 479 2 222  978 1 298 1 881 12 323 10 356 13 133 
- due for completion within 12 months 6 126 5 288 7 047 1 760 1 624 1 824  845 1 152 1 509 8 731 8 064 10 380 

Property Development
Property Development Norway Property Development Sweden Property  Development Denmark Property Development 

Profit and Loss Account 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
operating revenues 349.1 631.7  1 389.1 359.3 719.7 767.8 2.8 50.4 162.8 711.2  1 401.8  2 319.7 
operating expenses -349.0 -570.2  -1 202.5 -342.2 -629.2 -638.5 -35.5 -73.0 -161.4 -726.7  -1 272.4  -2 002.4 
depreciation of goodwill  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
depreciation -6.1 -6.5 -4.4 -0.1 -0.5 -3.8  -  -  - -6.2 -7.0 -8.2 
Operating profit -6.0 55.0 182.2 17.0 90.0 125.5 -32.7 -22.6 1.4 -21.7 122.4 309.1 
share of profit, associated companies and joint ventures 3.7 61.6 298.5 6.1 15.5 5.5 -6.9  - -0.1 2.9 77.1 303.9 
net financial items -45.6 -166.5 -49.3 -1.9 -3.7 -18.0 -7.6 -9.9 -11.7 -55.1 -180.1 -79.0 
Earnings before tax -47.9 -49.9 431.4 21.2 101.8 113.0 -47.2 -32.5 -10.4 -73.9 19.4 534.0 

Balance Sheet at 31 December             
non-current assets 551.1 659.8 417.8 138.5 112.4 119.6 15.9 9.5 2.0 705.5 781.7 539.4 
Current assets  1 124.2  1 595.3  1 713.9 481.3 570.2 532.5 255.7 303.8 277.6  1 861.2  2 469.3  2 524.0 
Cash and cash equivalents  -  -  -  - 108.7 173.3 17.9  -  - 17.9 108.7 173.3 
Total assets  1 675.3  2 255.1  2 131.7 619.8 791.3 825.4 289.5 313.3 279.6  2 584.6  3 359.7  3 236.7 
equity 364.2 395.5 822.3 283.0 415.0 422.2 22.3 59.1 56.5 669.5 869.6  1 301.0 
long-term liabilities  1 114.2  1 546.7 887.0 66.4 82.5 66.4  -  - 0.9  1 180.6  1 629.2 954.3 
short-term liabilities 196.9 312.9 422.4 270.4 293.8 336.8 267.2 254.2 222.2 734.5 860.9 981.4 
Total equity and liabilities  1 675.3  2 255.1  2 131.7 619.8 791.3 825.4 289.5 313.3 279.6  2 584.6  3 359.7  3 236.7 
gross investment for the year 32.5 122.2 54.9  -  - 26.8  -  -  - 32.5 122.2 81.7 
Capital invested  1 462.7  1 929.1  1 843.9 497.9 415.0 259.0 258.0 290.6 243.2  2 218.6  2 634.7  2 346.1 
investment in associated companies and joint ventures 356.0 419.1 195.5 93.0 66.8 46.9  - 2.5 2.0 449.0 488.4 244.4 

6 126 5 288 7 047 1 760 1 624 1 824  845 1 152 1 509 8 731 8 064 
Other information at 31 December            
no. of employees  44  47  53  51  64  58  2  2  9  97  113  120 
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B. GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
Norway Sweden Denmark Other operations/items Group

Profit and Loss Account 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
operating revenues  11 073.2  13 897.0  13 368.9  2 575.3  3 177.3  3 165.2  1 620.6  2 101.1  2 845.8 288.9 219.9 -44.0  15 558.0  19 395.3  19 335.9 
operating profit 475.6 724.9 907.1 50.3 136.7 117.4 -2.2 -25.6 -108.2 -28.8 -54.0 -44.0 494.9 782.0 872.3 
earnings before tax 482.9 726.1  1 204.5 57.6 154.5 108.7 -1.6 -19.3 -98.5 -15.8 -45.7 -33.7 523.1 815.6  1 181.0 

Balance Sheet                
total assets 2 462.6 2 499.8 2 000.2 363.3 302.4 270.0 204.0 236.6 186.1 277.0 332.7 349.1 3 306.9 3 371.5 2 805.4
Capital invested  1 531.5  2 217.9  2 529.0 482.5 447.4 165.1 282.3 311.4 199.2 64.1 22.0 13.7  2 360.4  2 998.7  2 907.0 
                
no. of employees 4 402 4 623 4 607  968 1 063 1 160  488  558  710  496  742  836 6 354 6 986 7 313 
Backlog of orders 8 581 6 579 9 030 2 764 2 479 2 222  978 1 298 1 881  11  208  130 12 334 10 564 13 263 
- due for completion within 12 months 6 126 5 288 7 047 1 760 1 624 1 824  845 1 152 1 509  11  173  130 8 742 8 237 10 510 

Segment reporting 
Criteria for division of segments
division of operating segments is based on type of product delivery, market, risk situation and earnings. segments 
are reported as they are submitted to chief operating decision maker.

Presentation of segments
the effect on profit of cash flow from projects constitutes for Veidekke a substantial part of net financial items. 
in addition, profits from associated companies and joint ventures constitute a substancial part of the operating 
segments. For that reason, earnings before tax give a more correct picture of the earnings of the operating 
segments than the operating profit or loss does. therefore, financial items and earnings before tax are presented 
in addition to the operating profit. Furthermore, complete statements of the financial position are presented for each 
segment.

Non-distributed items
some group costs are not allocated to the operating segments. the same applies to a number of financial items. 
non-distributed items are shown under “other operations/items”.

Inter-divisional transactions
there are relatively few sales between the divisions, but some contracts are carried out jointly by different entities. 
intra-group sales and collaboration take place on commercial terms. intra-group sales between the different 
operating segments is shown in the table below.

Norway Sweden Denmark Total

Intra-group sales 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Construction norway/Property norway 310.5 601.6 640.3       -310.5 -601.6 -640.3 
industry/Construction norway 54.8 85.9 141.5       -54.8 -85.9 -141.5 
Construction sweden/Property sweden    139.0 343.5 358.8    -139.0 -343.5 -358.8 
Hoffmann/Hoffmann eiendom (property)       0.7 22.3 96.6 -0.7 -22.3 -96.6 
Total 365.3 687.5 781.8 139.0 343.5 358.8 0.7 22.3 96.6 -505.0  -1 053.3  -1 237.2 

Geographical area
the geographical distribution of the group’s activities corresponds to the geographical location of the resources 
used for the respective activities. this corresponds in the main to the geographical location of the customers. 

Major customers
the largest single customer is the norwegian Public roads Administration, which accounts for 9 percent of total 
revenues. Veidekke does not view the norwegian state as an enterprise group.

 



Veidekke Financial report 2009   Page 33

B. GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
Norway Sweden Denmark Other operations/items Group

Profit and Loss Account 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
operating revenues  11 073.2  13 897.0  13 368.9  2 575.3  3 177.3  3 165.2  1 620.6  2 101.1  2 845.8 288.9 219.9 -44.0  15 558.0  19 395.3  19 335.9 
operating profit 475.6 724.9 907.1 50.3 136.7 117.4 -2.2 -25.6 -108.2 -28.8 -54.0 -44.0 494.9 782.0 872.3 
earnings before tax 482.9 726.1  1 204.5 57.6 154.5 108.7 -1.6 -19.3 -98.5 -15.8 -45.7 -33.7 523.1 815.6  1 181.0 

Balance Sheet                
total assets 2 462.6 2 499.8 2 000.2 363.3 302.4 270.0 204.0 236.6 186.1 277.0 332.7 349.1 3 306.9 3 371.5 2 805.4
Capital invested  1 531.5  2 217.9  2 529.0 482.5 447.4 165.1 282.3 311.4 199.2 64.1 22.0 13.7  2 360.4  2 998.7  2 907.0 
                
no. of employees 4 402 4 623 4 607  968 1 063 1 160  488  558  710  496  742  836 6 354 6 986 7 313 
Backlog of orders 8 581 6 579 9 030 2 764 2 479 2 222  978 1 298 1 881  11  208  130 12 334 10 564 13 263 
- due for completion within 12 months 6 126 5 288 7 047 1 760 1 624 1 824  845 1 152 1 509  11  173  130 8 742 8 237 10 510 

Segment reporting 
Criteria for division of segments
division of operating segments is based on type of product delivery, market, risk situation and earnings. segments 
are reported as they are submitted to chief operating decision maker.

Presentation of segments
the effect on profit of cash flow from projects constitutes for Veidekke a substantial part of net financial items. 
in addition, profits from associated companies and joint ventures constitute a substancial part of the operating 
segments. For that reason, earnings before tax give a more correct picture of the earnings of the operating 
segments than the operating profit or loss does. therefore, financial items and earnings before tax are presented 
in addition to the operating profit. Furthermore, complete statements of the financial position are presented for each 
segment.

Non-distributed items
some group costs are not allocated to the operating segments. the same applies to a number of financial items. 
non-distributed items are shown under “other operations/items”.

Inter-divisional transactions
there are relatively few sales between the divisions, but some contracts are carried out jointly by different entities. 
intra-group sales and collaboration take place on commercial terms. intra-group sales between the different 
operating segments is shown in the table below.

Norway Sweden Denmark Total

Intra-group sales 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Construction norway/Property norway 310.5 601.6 640.3       -310.5 -601.6 -640.3 
industry/Construction norway 54.8 85.9 141.5       -54.8 -85.9 -141.5 
Construction sweden/Property sweden    139.0 343.5 358.8    -139.0 -343.5 -358.8 
Hoffmann/Hoffmann eiendom (property)       0.7 22.3 96.6 -0.7 -22.3 -96.6 
Total 365.3 687.5 781.8 139.0 343.5 358.8 0.7 22.3 96.6 -505.0  -1 053.3  -1 237.2 

Geographical area
the geographical distribution of the group’s activities corresponds to the geographical location of the resources 
used for the respective activities. this corresponds in the main to the geographical location of the customers. 

Major customers
the largest single customer is the norwegian Public roads Administration, which accounts for 9 percent of total 
revenues. Veidekke does not view the norwegian state as an enterprise group.
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note 2. Operating revenues 
2009 2008 2007

ordinary operating revenue  15 452.0 19 320.5  19 267.2 
other operating revenue  106.0 74.8  68.7 
Operating revenue  15 558.0 19 395.3  19 335.9 

Specification of other operating revenue
2009 2008 2007

Profit from sale of assets *)  10.7 30.2  32.1 
rental income  44.2 17.8  13.4 
other income  51.1 26.8  23.2 
Other operating revenue  106.0 74.8  68.7 

*)	 Only	gains	are	included	in	other	operating	revenue.	Losses	are	included	in	other	operating	expenses. 

note 3. Wage expenses
   
 2009 2008 2007
Wages  2 982.6 3 143.7  3 012.1 
Pension costs  266.7 214.8  188.8 
social security  411.6 475.1  427.6 
other wage expenses (social benefits etc.)  165.9 305.3  212.3 
Total  3 826.8 4 138.9  3 840.8 

   
Average number of employees 2009 2008 2007
scandinavia 5 925 6 431 6 451
Africa 690 1 006 608
Total 6 615 7 437 7 059

Employees at 31 December 2009 2008 2007
scandinavia 5 858 6 244 6 475
Africa 496 742 838
Total 6 354 6 986 7 313

note 4. Shares to employees

each year Veidekke sells shares to its employees at a discount on the current market price during the employee 
subscription period. the shares are subject to two and three-year lock-in periods. 

these sales of shares are reported in accordance with iFrs 2 on share-based payment. the expensed discount is 
calculated as the difference between market price and purchase price at the time of purchase, taking into account 
the agreed lock-in period for the shares. the effect of the agreed lock-in period is calculated as the value of a put 
option during the lock-in period where the sales price equals the purchase price of the share calculated according to 
the Black-scholes model. 

the assumptions relating to volatility are based on the actual fluctuations in the price of Veidekke shares.

2009 2008 2007
sales of shares to employees (no. of shares)  3 157 731 4 074 762  3 219 357 
expensed discount 4.1 0.9 0.0
discount entered as reduction in equity 21.0 28.5 27.6
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2009 2008 2007
loans to senior executives re purchases of Veidekke shares  247.1 262.1  255.4 
interest expense related to loans  7.5 14.2  10.2 
number of executives with loans 547  551 502 
    
loans on share scheme for all employees 55.2 34.1 48.0
number of employees with loans  1 702 2 049  1 806 

loans to senior executives are currently interest-free and repaid at 5 percent a year. the loans are revocable after 10 
years. loans are secured by collateral in the shares. Mnok 1.6 of the total loans of Mnok 247.1 are interest only 
loans, also Mnok 4.3 until maturity on 31 december 2011. 

the loans to employees in connection with the share scheme for all employees are also interest-free and secured by 
mortgages in the shares. the loan term is up to one year. interest expenses related to the long-term interest-free 
loans are classified as compensation expense. see note 5.  

in addition to the information given above, 771 employees of Veidekke’s operations in sweden have been given 50 
shares each in connection with a bonus scheme in 2009. total number of shares is 38 550.

note 5. Financial income/financial expenses 
2009 2008 2007

interest income 4.8 35.8 27.9
interest income non-financial institutions 20.2 34.9 24.5
Currency gains 38.0 20.4 6.5
Financial instruments that do not meet requirements for hedging  2.1 5.5
sale of shares/dividends - shares available for sale 1.5 2.2 1.4
other financial income 1.3 16.9 14.6
Financial income 65.8 112.2 80.4
interest charges -7.1 -54.1 -77.2
Currency losses -25.0 -15.4 -9.6
Write-down of shares available for sale – for details, see note 14 -13.0 -93.1 0.0
sale of shares/dividends – shares available for sale -2.2 -11.1 0.0
interest charges non-financial institutions -3.9 -4.6 -1.8
other financial expenses -12.5 -23.4 -8.9
Financial expenses -63.6 -201.9 -97.5
Financial income/expenses 2.2 -89.7 -17.1

interest income using the effective interest method for loans to employees, as well as compensation to employees 
in the form of interest free loans recorded in the profit and loss account, have previously been presented in net 
terms in the income statement. this has been changed for 2009 with compensation now entered as wage costs and 
reduced interest expense. For 2009, Mnok 7.5 is classified as compensation expense. the corresponding figures for 
2008 and 2007 are Mnok 14.2 and Mnok 10.2 respectively.

Capitalised interest charges 2009
Capitalised interest 2009 own account 7.8
Capitalised interest own account as of 31 december 2009 7.8
  
Capitalised interest charges 2009 operating equipment 2.0
Capitalised interest operating equipment as of 31 december 2009 2.0
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note 6. Projects in progress

2009 2008 2007
Distribution of turnover:    
Project turnover 14 715  18 669 18 594 
sales of goods/services (aggregates/recycling) 844  726 742 
Total 15 558  19 395 19 336 
    
Income recognised from projects in progress *)    
Accumulated income 12 382  11 540 16 850 
Accumulated contributions 721  859  1 661 
    
loss-bringing projects in progress – remaining turnover  **) 541.4 715.3 541.0
    
owing by customers 248.4 239.6 234.8
earned, not invoiced income 437.8 962.7 1470.3
Advance payments from customers -602.9 -493.4 -428.5

*)	 Projects	under	construction,	not	handed	over	to	the	customer.
**)	 Anticipated	losses	on	these	projects	have	been	charged	to	income.

Maintenance contracts 
Veidekke has 18 maintenance contracts for national and regional roads for the norwegian Public roads Administra-
tion. these contracts have duration of five to seven years. due to unprofitability, it was necessary to make provisions 
for expected losses in the remaining contract period. this applies to older contracts and must be viewed in the 
context of both that this is a new priority area for Veidekke and that these contracts were signed at a time when this 
market was exposed to competition in norway for the first time. Provisions for losses are classified as debt to 
creditors.
 

2009 2008
remaining revenues from unprofitable contracts *) 327.7 398.2
number of unprofitable contracts 12 11
Average years remaining on unprofitable contracts 1.9 years 2.9 years
   
total revenues from maintenance contracts 379.7 369.4
number of contracts 19 17
   
Provisions for losses on maintenance contracts 64.3 41.0

*)	 Remaining	revenues	from	unprofitable	contracts	in	this	table	are	also	included	in	the	table	above	for	the	Group
**)	 15	contracts	are	reported	under	the	Industry	segment,	but	there	are	also	4	contracts	under	the	Construction	Norway	

segment.
***)	 For	one	of	these	contracts,	the	Public	Roads	Administration	is	the	contractor.

note 7. Earnings per share
2009 2008 2007

earnings per share (nok) 3.0 4.5 7.1
Profit for the year 411.6 615.5 1 001.1
Veidekke’s equity holders’ share of profit for the year 402.4 611.3 989.7
Average number of shares (million) *) 133.7 135.2  140.0 
number of shares at 1 January (million) *) 133.7 139.0  140.9 
number of shares at 31 december (million) *) 133.7 133.7  139.0 

*)	 Own	shares	have	been	deducted	in	the	table.

Veidekke has no financial instruments that have a dilution effect.
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note 8. Goodwill 
 

2009 2008 2007
At 1 January     
original cost 925.2 868.6  875.8 
Accumulated depreciation  -368.6  -364.4 -365.4 
Book value at 1 January 556.6 504.2  510.4 
    
Accounting year    
Book value at 1 January 556.6 504.2  510.4 
Conversion differences  -27.1 26.1 -10.6 
Additions  7.7 35.4  7.7 
disposals  -14.3   
other changes  -4.8 -3.4 
Write-downs for the year  - -4.2 - 
Book value at 31 December 523.0 556.6  504.2 
    
At 31 December     
original cost 891.6 925.2  868.6 
Accumulated depreciation/write-downs  -368.6  -368.6 -364.4 
Book value at 31 December 523.0 556.6  504.2 

Group’s largest goodwill items, plus the goodwill for each area of activity
Booked value 

at 31 December 2009 
Purchases (cash-generating unit) in order of size
Hoffmann 75.8 
Br. reme 70.7 
Veidekke entreprenad AB region West 70.5 
litra grus 45.1 
Block Berge Bygg 36.9 
Total goodwill items > MNOK 25 299.0 
goodwill items < Mnok 25 (40 enterprises) 224.0 
Total goodwill  523.0 
  
Total for each area of activity  
industry 10.8
Construction, norway 166.4 
Construction, sweden 84.5
Construction, denmark 165.6 
Property development, sweden 95.7 
Total goodwill 523.0

the group has recognised goodwill arising from the acquisition of 45 enterprises. each goodwill item is linked to a 
cash-generating unit. When a purchased operation is upheld as an independent unit, this unit is the cash-generating 
unit. When a purchased enterprise is integrated with an existing Veidekke company, the amalgamated unit is the 
cash-generating unit. 

goodwill is not written-down, but is tested for impairment in the fourth quarter each year. in the event of a particular 
indication of possible impairment, the test is carried out on a quarterly basis. the test is carried out by comparing the 
estimated recoverable amount with booked invested capital for the unit in question. When the recoverable amount 
exceeds invested capital, the book value of the goodwill is upheld. When the recoverable amount is lower than 
invested capital, the book value is written down to the estimated recoverable amount. invested capital is the unit’s 
total capital less interest-free short-term liabilities and interest-free long-term liabilities. 
. 
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the recoverable amount is the estimated present value of future cash flows for the unit and is based on 
management's approved budget and strategy numbers for the  next three years. in addition, are the following 
assumptions for the calculation:

Turnover level and operating profit margin next three years
According to management's approved budget and strategy for the next three years. Based on actual figures and the 
changes expected at the time of valuation. 

Assumptions forming the basis for last year’s estimates
the assumptions on which estimates were based at the end of 2008, were to a great extent achieved by a good 
margin, with the exception of the expectations for sweden’s region West (see separate comment).

Turnover level and profit margin in the subsequent period
Assumed annual growth corresponds to anticipated general growth in the economy (nominal 2.5 percent p.a.). Most 
estimates are based on a time horizon of 15 years in which  today's equity including goodwill adjusted for 2.5 
percent growth is assumed that the final value. our investment decisions are long-term and which is the reason for 
the chosen time horizon.

 Investment requirements/reinvestment
According to management’s approved budget and strategy for the coming three years. reinvestments normally 
correspond to anticipated depreciation on the units’ non-current assets.

Discount rate 
the nominal discount rate before tax based on the group’s estimated capital cost calculated as a weighted average 
of cost for the group’s equity and liabilities. discount rates in the range of 12–13 percent were used for the value 
tests in 2008. the discount rate is on the same level as 2008. A slightly lower risk premium, but also a slightly higher 
long-term interest rate is used.

Goodwill, Region West
Veidekke sweden region West delivered a deficit of Mnok 20 for 2009. the weak results must be viewed in light of 
the financial crisis which had a significant effect on the industry in the göteborg area, resulting in a greatly reduced 
construction market. For region West this meant that sales fell from Mnok 760 in 2008 to Mnok 550 in 2009. in 
the adopted calculations for 2009, it was assumed that the market would improve from 2011, and from 2011 a profit 
margin for region West of 1.2 percent was assumed. We have assumed an expected turnover in 2011 of Mnok 770. 
if region West delivers at least 1.2 percent in profit margin in the future, this will not result in impairment. our 
expectations are much higher than this, and a 40 percent reduction in expected earnings or a 40 percent increase in 
the discount rate will not make it necessary to write down the goodwill.

Goodwill Hoffmann
Veidekke construction company in denmark, Hoffmann As, did not deliver satisfactory results for 2008. For 2009, 
however, the results were far better than what was expected in the goodwill calculations for 2008. Profit before tax 
for 2009 was Mnok 45.6. our expectations for Hoffmann suggest that there is a low risk of the need to write-down 
of goodwill.  

Goodwill Litra Grus
it is expected that litra grus will have a turnover of Mnok 55 and a profit before tax Mnok 8.6 in 2010. turnover in 
2009 was Mnok 63 and profit before tax was Mnok 7.9. the calculation of utility value is made on the basis of 
operating income with additional consideration given to value related to investments in joint venture companies.  
large investments have been made in recent years, which limit the need to make reinvestments for the next four 
years. this is reflected in the calculation of utility value. if the need to reinvest should increase by 50 percent, this 
will give grounds for write-downs of approximately Mnok 5. no significant growth in turnover or profit has been 
assumed in the calculations. 
  
Sensitivity analysis
in addition to the specific conditions mentioned above, a standardised sensitivity analysis related to the net 
expected cash flow and discount rate is performed as part of the value test. For the five largest goodwill items, 
a 20 percent reduction in expected cash flow or the discount rate would not result in impairment.
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note 9. Other intangible assets (extraction rights for gravel and crushed stone)

2009 2008
At 1 January 
original cost 26.8 -
Accumulated depreciation 0 -
Book value at 1 January  26.8 -

-
Accounting year -
Book value at 1 January  26.8 -
Conversion differences  -1.7 0.9
investment in current operations  2.0 14.4
investments from acquisition of companies - 11.5
depreciation  -0.4 -
Book value at 31 December  26.7 26.8

-
At 31 December -
original cost 27.1 26.8
Accumulated depreciation -0.4 -
Book value at 31 December  26.7 26.8

depreciation will be entered in the accounts in line with extractions of gravel.

note 10. Machinery and Property

 2009 2008

 
 Machinery  

etc.  Property   Total  

 Machinery

etc.  Property  Total 2007 

Book value opening balance  1 200.0 576.4  1 776.4 927.3 495.2 1 422.5 1 164.0 
        
Cost opening balance  2 790.6 768.3  3 559.0  2 364.1 698.1 3 062.2 2 692.1 
investments in current operations 374.2 59.8  433.9 545.6 141.2 686.8  542.7 
investments in purchases of
company operations  6.6 17.4  24.0 22.7  3.6 26.3 3.0 
disposals original cost  -172.2  -111.7 -283.9  -158.4  -103.4  -261.8 -164.4 
Conversion difference original cost  -28.2  -19.7 -47.9 16.6 28.8 45.4 -11.2 
Cost closing balance  2 971.0 714.1  3 685.1  2 790.6 768.3 3 558.9 3 062.2 
        
Accumulated depreciation/write-downs oB  -1 590.6  -191.9 -1 782.5 -1 436.8  -202.9  -1 639.8  -1 528.1 
Accumulated depreciation sold
non-current assets  126.9  6.1  132.9 133.1 36.1 169.2  117.0 
depreciation for the year  -313.9  -21.3 -335.2  -272.5  -19.3  -291.8 -233.6 
Conversion difference depreciation 12.9  3.6  16.4  -14.4 -5.7  -20.1 5.0 
Accumulated depreciation/
write-downs closing balance  -1 764.8  -203.5 -1 968.4 -1 590.6  -191.9  -1 782.5  -1 639.7 
        
Book value closing balance  1 206.2 510.5  1 716.7  1 200.0 576.4 1 776.4 1 422.5 
        
depreciation method      linear linear
depreciation rate 7–25% 2–5%

As at 31 december 2009, interest costs of Mnok 2.0 related to the construction of the asphalt plant were recorded in the 
statement of financial position. Mnok 34.7 was activated in the Machinery etc. item related to financial leasing. the group 
has not entered into contracts regarding supply of operating equipment for delivery after 2009 of significant importance. 
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Investments and sales (sales price)
2009 2008 2007

Inv. Sales inv. sales inv. sales
Machinery etc.*) 374.2 37.8  540.2 42.9 433.2 48.4 
Property 59.8 2.1  144.6 79.6 109.5 24.1 
Total 433.9 39.9  684.8 122.4 542.7 72.5 

Total net capitals gains (losses) on sale of non-current assets *)

2009 2008 2007
Property - 12.3 12.0
Machinery etc. 4.0 17.5 13.1
Total net capital gains 4.0 29.8 25.1

*)	 Gain	on	sale	of	non-current	assets	included	in	operating	income.	Loss	on	sale	of	non-current	assets	included	in	operating	
expenses.	

note 11. Acquisitions and sales of operations

Acquisition of companies 2009
Veidekke bought the remaining 50 percent stake in svensk kross & Återvinning AB (skÅAB).  Veidekke now owns all 
the shares in skÅAB. the shares were acquired with effect from 1 June 2009. skÅAB receives, recycles and 
disposes of waste in the stockholm area. the purchase price for the shares was Mnok 11.9. Mnok 7.7 was 
assigned to goodwill. Mnok 3.4 was added in asset value. skÅAB had in 2009 a turnover of Mnok 14.9 and 
a profit before tax of Mnok 1.0.

in december 2009, Veidekke acquired all the shares in sjølyststranda Parkering As. sjølyststranda Parkering As was 
bought from sjølyststranda eiendom As, in which Veidekke owns 50 percent of the shares. sjølyststranda Parkering 
owns 51 parking spaces in skøyen in oslo. the shares were bought for Mnok 22.1. there is an excess value of 
Mnok 3.7 associated with the property.

Excess value analysis presented in one statement
Book value, 

balance sheet
net

excess value Purchases
Cash and bank deposits 10.9 10.9
Machinery, property 16.2 7.1 23.3
investments in jointly controlled companies -7.9 -7.9
Machinery, property 6.3 6.3
deferred tax -1.0 -1.0
Creditors and other interest-free liabilities -5.3 -5.3
Net identified assets and liabilities 20.2 6.1 26.3
goodwill at time of acquisition 7.7 7.7
Purchase price 34.0

Agreed purchase price 34.0
Cash received -10.9
Net outgoing cash flow   23.1

goodwill is mainly related to market and earning potential. Acquisitions of associated companies totalling Mnok 6.7 
were made, but because of the relative size, these are not stated.

Sales of operations 2009
litra Containerservice As was sold effective from 1 April 2009. the company is sold to Østlandet gjenvinning As in 
which Veidekke has an ownership interest of 50 percent. litra Containerservice As was acquired by Veidekke as 
recently as 1 January 2008. the company operates container hire in the district of lillehammer and has 10 employ-
ees. sale price was Mnok 25.8. the sale had no earnings effect for Veidekke.
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Sales of non-residential properties
Victoriagården 1 and 2 As were sold on 30 november 2009.  Veidekke rented out commercial premises in sandvika 
through these companies.  Veidekke built the building from which these companies have operated. normally 
Veidekke has a short time horizon for this type of investment, and commercial buildings for sale are recorded as 
current assets. in this case, rentals have been operated over some time and therefore the activity has been classi-
fied as fixed assets. the sale involves a gain to Veidekke of Mnok 10.2.
 
Purchase of operations in 2008 
Purchase of subsidiary 
All shares in olav Ødegård As was acquired with effect from 1 May 2008. the company operates transport services 
in the Østfold area. the purchase price was Mnok 26.0. Mnok 5.8 was assigned to goodwill. olav Ødegård As is 
merged with the consolidated company kai Arne Humleskjær As as of 1 January 2009. 

All shares of sl grus As and Mosand As were acquired in August 2008 for a total of Mnok 10.8.

in 2008, enterprises were purchased totalling a operating value of Mnok 12.8 (company operations). this value has 
been entered in the statement of financial position under goodwill. the enterprises are integrated with existing 
Veidekke operations.

Purchase of associated companies and joint ventures in other activities
on 1 January 2008 Veidekke industry bought 50 percent of the shares in the company lauvåsen Pukk As for 
Mnok 30. the company has the rights to remove about 400 000 tonnes of stone and gravel from the stjørdalen 
area. goodwill relates mainly to the synergies with existing operations in the region.

Sales of companies
the industry division owned 30 percent of the shares in the company nordic shelter solutions group oy (nss). 
these shares have been sold, at a gain of Mnok 27.5. Final settlement was first made in 2009, in which the share 
price was reduced by Mnok 4.8. this is income recorded in the accounts for 2009. 

the norwegian Property division owns 50 percent of the company sjølyststranda eiendom As. in 2008, this 
company sold the company sjølyststranda næring As. Veidekke’s share of the accounting gains on the sale amounts 
to Mnok 62, and is presented under profit from associated companies.

note 12. Investments in associated companies and joint ventures
 

earnings Book value
 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
total associated companies -0.5 23.8 245.4 71.5 53.9 120.8
total joint ventures 26.6 99.5 80.4 572.6 618.7 306.9
Total 26.0 123.3 325.8 644.1 672.6 427.7

Investments in associated companies 
Veidekke has investments in associated companies in all areas of activity. Profit/loss and balance sheet values are 
specified in the table below.

 earnings Book value *)

 Country 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Property projects norway 2.3 0.6 227.5 15.9 20.7 60.5
Property projects sweden  - 0.1 1.0 12.8 5.2 7.5
Property projects denmark -6.9  -  -  -  -  - 
Total property development  -4.6 0.7 228.5 28.7 25.9 68.0
industry  norway 2.8 26.1 19.8 35.0 17.9 39.1
Construction  norway 1.3 -3.6 -3.5 7.7 6.8 8.9
Construction  denmark  - 0.7 0.5  - 3.4 4.9
Total*)  -0.5 23.8 245.4 71.5 53.9 120.8

*)	 There	are	no	published	share	quotations	(market	prices)	for	any	of	Veidekke’s	joint	ventures	or	associated	
				companies.
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the group’s total share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses relating to investments in associated companies 
and joint ventures is shown in the table below. the information has been taken from the respective accounts.
 

2009
 Construction Property industry other Total 2008 2007
Profit and Loss Account        
income 18.8 41.5 108.2  - 168.4 134.7 259.6
expenses -17.1 -44.6 -104.7  - -166.4 -100.0 -235.8
Earnings before tax (EBT) 1.7 -3.2 3.5  - 2.1 34.7 23.8
Balance sheet:        
Assets        
Current assets 9.6 40.5 32.7  - 82.8 128.3 285.0
non-current assets 0.5 78.8 16.9  - 96.2 31.5 49.0
Liabilities        
short-term liabilities 3.0 14.7 19.3  - 36.9 89.7 192.5
long-term liabilities 1.0 81.6 1.9  - 84.5 17.9 54.3
Net assets 6.2 22.9 28.4  - 57.5 52.3 87.1
Consolidation method: equity method

Reconciliation between profit in company accounts and reporting in Veidekke’s consolidated accounts
 

earnings
 2009 2008 2007
earnings before tax, associated companies 2.1 34.7 23.8
estimated tax on profit for the year -0.6 -9.7 -6.7
earnings after tax, associated companies 1.5 25.0 17.1
sales of shares in property projects -0.7  - 227.8
other items -1.3 -1.2 0.5
in Veidekke’s consolidated accounts -0.5 23.8 245.4

Investments in joint ventures 
Veidekke has investments in joint ventures in all areas of activity. Profit/loss and balance sheet values are specified 
in the table below.

earnings Book value*)

Country 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Property projects norway 1.5 61.0 71.0 340.1 398.4 135.0
Property projects sweden 6.1 15.3 4.5 80.1 61.6 39.4
Property projects denmark  -  -  -  - 2.8  - 
Total property development projects 7.6 76.3 75.5 420.2 462.8 174.4
industry norway/sweden 7.7 15.7  - 114.2 124.5 81.1
Construction sweden  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Construction denmark 1.3  -  - 3.8  -  - 
PPP Allfarveg norway 9.9 7.4 4.9 34.3 31.4 51.4
Total*)  26.6 99.5 80.4 572.6 618.7 306.9

*)	 There	are	no	published	share	quotations	(market	prices)	for	any	of	Veidekke’s	joint	ventures	or	associated	
			companies.
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the group’s total share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses relating to investments in associated companies 
and joint ventures is shown in the table below. the information has been taken from the respective accounts.

 2009 
 Construction Property industry PPP Total 2008 2007
Profit and Loss Account:        
income 9.6 101.1 163.5 13.7 287.9 295.7 491.8
expenses -7.7 -97.0 -152.5 0.0 -257.2 -246.1 -424.7
Earnings before tax (EBT) 2.0 4.1 11.0 13.7 30.8 49.5 67.1
Balance sheet:        
Assets        
Current assets 5.6 377.7 63.6 49.4 496.3 814.2 791.8
non-current assets  - 274.7 60.0 715.7 1 050.4 735.1 775.1
Liabilities        
short-term liabilities  - 85.2 27.4 16.9 129.6 419.2 564.5
long-term liabilities 1.8 474.2 12.5 668.6 1 157.0 810.3 809.7
Net assets/liabilities 3.8 93.0 83.7 79.6 260.1 319.7 192.7
Consolidation method: equity method

Reconciliation between profit in company accounts and reporting in Veidekke’s consolidated accounts

 2009 2008 2007
earnings before tax, joint ventures 30.8 49.5 67.1
estimated tax on profit for the year -8.6 -11.6 -18.8
earnings after tax, joint ventures 22.2 37.9 48.3
sales of shares in property projects 4.8 62.0 30.3
other items -0.4 -0.4 1.8
in Veidekke’s consolidated accounts 26.6 99.5 80.4

The largest investments in associated companies and joint ventures
the four largest investments in associated companies and joint ventures in order of book values:

Company division
ownership 

share
type of 

company
share of profit 

2009
Book value 
31.12.2009

lørenvangen utvikling As Property norway 50% Associated -2.0 126.0
lilleby eiendom As Property norway 50% Associated -1.0 59.4
strandlieveien As Property norway 50% Associated -1.2 60.2
Allfarveg As (oPs) other 50% Associated 9.9 34.3

Consortiums       
in some cases Veidekke enters into consortiums with other construction companies (joint ventures) in order to 
carry out major construction contracts. the following table shows the values in the consolidated accounts from 
consortiums (proportional consolidation):

 2009 2008 2007
Profit and Loss Account:    
income 278.1 291.4 294.1
expenses -270.2 -279.0 -295.1
Earnings before tax (EBT) 7.9 12.4 -1.0
Balance sheet:    
Assets    
Current assets 132.8 188.7 124.5
non-current assets  -  - 0.1
Liabilities    
short-term liabilities -82.5 -142.1 94.4
long-term liabilities  -  -  - 
Net assets/liabilities 50.2 46.6 30.2
Consolidation method: gross method
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note 13. PPP Project Allfarveg

As a 50 percent owner of Allfarveg As, Veidekke participates in the e39 lyngdal-Flekkefjord PPP project 
(PPP = public private partnership). Allfarveg As has built and is operating this road for the Public roads 
Administration. the construction period was three years, and the project was completed in summer 2006. 
the subsequent operation period is 25 years.

Allfarveg As contracted out the construction of the road to a working partnership, in which Veidekke has a 
70 percent share. 

the operation and maintenance contract was awarded to Veidekke through kolo Veidekke As. the cost of con-
structing the road was approximately Bnok 1.2. to this must be added operation, maintenance and financing. 
settlement by the Public roads Administration takes place monthly in equal instalments over the 25-year operation 
period.

Allfarveg As treats the PPP contract as a financial asset, which is entered in the accounts in accordance with the 
principles of iFriC 12 service Concession Arrangements (the financial assets model). the financial asset is reported 
on the basis of amortised cost. the operation and maintenance contract is taken into income continuously over the 
operation period, in step with execution of the work. Allfarveg As is a joint venture and Veidekke uses the equity 
method of accounting for this investment.

there is a shareholder’s agreement regarding a skewed distribution of dividends. Veidekke’s earned profit ratio is 
59.85 percent. in 2009, Veidekke’s ownership share in Allfarveg As contributed a profit of Mnok 9.9 (Mnok 7.4). 
Allfarveg As is financed by long-term loans, which are being repaid over the operation period. the interest-rate terms 
have been hedged with interest-rate swaps. As a result of hedge accounting of the interest-rate swaps, in 2009 
Mnok 6.8 (Mnok -39.9) was booked as a reduction of consolidated equity in 2009. the amount corresponds to 
Veidekke’s share of the change in the fair value of the interest-rate swaps.

2009 2008 2007
Fully paid equity shares 0.3 0.3 0.3
Conversion from subordinated loan to equity 65.9 65.9  
Veidekke’s share of earned profit after tax, accumulated 27.3 17.4 9.9
Adjustment for fair value, long-term interest-rate swaps in Allfarveg As -45.3 -52.1 -12.2
received distribution from Allfarveg As -13.7   
subordinated loan   53.4
Book value in balance sheet at 31 December 34.3 31.4 51.4

Movements of the year:
2009 2008 2007

Book value in balance sheet at 1 January 31.4 51.4 17.3
Conversion from subordinated loan to fully paid new equity  65.9  
subordinated loan   -53.4  
Veidekke’s share of the profit 9.9 7.4 4.9
received distribution from Allfarveg As -13.7   
Adjustment for fair value, long-term interest-rate swaps in Allfarveg As 6.8 -39.9 29.2
Book value in balance sheet at 31 December 34.3 31.4 51.4

note 14. Financial assets 

 2009 2008 2007
loans to employees 1)  249.3  271.0  271.1 
shares in Hansa Property group AsA 2)  33.3  16.3  96.8 
other shares *) 6.9 7.0  17.9 
other receivables  27.6 9.0  19.6 
Financial assets  317.1  303.2  405.4 

*)	 Other	shares	are	financial	instruments	available	for	sale	and	recognised	in	the	accounts	at	fair	value.	The	original	cost	prices	are	
used	as	an	estimate	of	fair	value.
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1) Loans to employees 
 2009 2008 2007
loans to employees 200.2 216.4 216.5
long-term advance to employees 49.1 54.6 54.6
Book value  249.3 271.0 271.1

loans to employees are entered in the statement of financial position in accordance with the principles of iAs 39 
at amortised cost. As of today, the loans are interest-free. Book value is found by discounting the expected future 
repayments by the assumed market interest rate. the 2009 estimations are based on an assumed market interest 
rate of 4.3 percent (4.8 percent) after tax and an assumed average remaining term of 5 years. the difference 
between the book value and the nominal value of the loans shall be treated as advance payments to employees. 
in the statement of financial position, the advance payment is presented together with an estimated book value of 
the loans. satisfactory security has been furnished for the loans. see note 4.

2) Shares in Hansa Property Group ASA

Original cost 1 January 2009  109.4 
Capital contribution 2009  30.0 
loss on impairment recognised through profit or loss in 2009 -13.0
loss on impairment recognised through profit or loss at 1 January 2009 -93.1
Book value  33.3

 Veidekke AsA owns 333 268 107 shares in Hansa Property group AsA. this represents an ownership share of 9.5  
 percent in the company. For accounting purposes, the shares in Hansa Property AsA are regarded as available for  
 sale. increases in value are entered directly against equity until the asset is sold. if there are objective indications  
 that the value of the shareholding is lower than the book value, the loss will be incorporated in the profit. in 2009,  
 the shareholding was written down by Mnok 13, and the write-down has been classified as a financial expense.  
 Following this devaluation, the shares are valued at nok 1.00 per share. this corresponds to the last issue price. 
 see note 29 Financial risk. 

note 15. Non-residential projects

non-residential projects involve the development and construction of non-residential buildings for sale for Veidekke’s 
own account. Costs incurred in respect of sites, buildings under construction and completed non-residential 
buildings are entered under this item in the statement of financial position. Many of the projects have a duration of 
more than 12 months, and assets will therefore not be realised and settled until after 12 months have passed. 
development sites will normally be realised after 12 months.

Non-residential projects at 31 December

2009
sites for  

development

under 

construction

Completed 

buildings total 2008 2007
Projects, norway 96.5 312.6  409.1 212.8 60.0
Projects, denmark 14.1  14.1 16.7 13.5
Projects, sweden  42.6 42.6 40.4 0.0
Balance sheet total 110.6 312.6 42.6 465.8 269.9 73.5

 2009 2008 2007
gain (+)/loss (-) on sales of non-residential projects - -1.3 4.3
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note 16. Residential projects

residential projects involve building housing for sale for Veidekke’s own account. Costs incurred in respect of sites 
for development and housing under construction are entered under this item in the statement of financial position. 
Many of the projects have a duration of more than 12 months, and assets will therefore not be realised and settled 
until after 12 months have passed. sites for development will normally be realised after 12 months.

Residential projects at 31 December 2009 2008 2007
sites for development 956.2 953.8 845.4 
Projects in progress/unsold completed 301.1 527.7 451.6 
Balance sheet total  1 257.3 1 481.4  1 297.0 

Residential projects at 31 December      
2009 2008 2007

sites for 

development

under 

construction

unsold 

completed Total total total

Projects, norway 441.6 30.7 178.9  651.2  801.7  787.4 
Projects, sweden 294.5 55.9 -  350.4  379.5  279.7 
Projects, denmark 220.1 -  35.6  255.7  300.3  229.9 
Balance sheet total 956.2 86.6 214.5  1 257.3 1 481.4 1 297.0 

Specification of dwellings under construction and unsold completed dwellings at 31 December 2008

no. of 

units under 

construction

no. of units 

unsold under 

construction

no. of 

units unsold 

completed**)

Average sales 

rate *)

Average 

production 

rate *)

Projects, norway – subsidiaries 45 1 88 98% 10%
Projects, norway – assoc. companies 
(Veidekke’s share) ***) 19 3 2 84% 71%
Projects, sweden – subsidiaries 247 15 0 94% 51%
Projects, denmark – subsidiaries 17
Total number /total sales rate 311 19 107 94%

*)	 	For	units	under	construction
**)	 	Also	includes	unsold	dwellings	that	are	temporarily	let.
***)	 	Shares	in	associated	companies	are	reported	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	under	investment	in	associated	companies.	

See	Note	12.

Market risk
the market risk within property development can mainly be ascribed to unsold dwellings and the site portfolio, the 
values of which will be affected by changes in the market. the tables below present the situation at 31 december 
2008 for Veidekke and per country, and also accounts for the consequences resulting from various market changes.

Unsold dwellings
no. of units under 

construction

no. of 

units unsold 

original sales  

value Mnok

Market value

Mnok

Book value 

Mnok*)

no. of 

units let

under construction  311  19 45 45  39  - 
Completed  107 274 251  218  82 
Total  311  126 320 296  257  82 

*)	 For	projects	under	construction,	book	value	means	expected	full	cost	according	to	final	prognosis.

At the end of 2009, Veidekke’s property development operations in scandinavia had a total of 311 housing units 
under construction. At the same time, the group had 126 unsold dwellings. 19 of these are under construction, 
whereas the other 107 are completed. the majority of the unsold dwellings are located in norway, spread over 
14 projects. 77 percent of the completed unsold dwellings is let.  
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Sensitivity analysis
the building of today’s unsold dwellings was started in 2006/2007, and the prices were set early in 2006. reference 
is made to column 3 in the table above , “original sales value”, where the price list value totals Mnok 320.

in connection with the year-end closing of accounts, a concrete assessment was made of the value of each dwel-
ling. Column 4 of the table above shows the total market value, which amounts to Mnok 296. on average, the 
market value is 7 percent lower than the original sales value. the market price assessments are on a level with the 
sales prices obtained in transactions in January and February 20010.

Column 5 in the table shows the total book value of the dwellings, amounting to Mnok 257. For the units that are 
under construction, the book value is established in accordance with the final prognosis. the market value at 31 
december is approximately 15 percent above the book value.

the table below shows the change in value for the group if the prices should fall below today’s level (by 10 and 20 
percent, respectively), based on the current portfolio. A large part of the unsold dwellings is let, and lease agree-
ments provide a continuous cash flow which supports the book values. these dwellings are therefore not included 
in the sensitivity analysis.

For the remaining part of the portfolio, a price fall of 10 percent will not necessitate write-downs. should the prices 
drop 20 percent, the necessary write-downs should be within a limit of Mnok 6.

Market value in Mnok Book value in Mnok

necessary write-downs   

in Mnok for 

10% price fall

necessary write-downs

in Mnok   

for 20% price fall

All unsold  296  257 
- of which let  172  152 
exposure  124  105 - 6

The site portfolio
At the end of 2009, Veidekke’s portfolio of sites in scandinavia comprised altogether 131 sites, with a development 
potential for approximately 7 800 housing units. A substantial share of the portfolio consists of sites with options to 
purchase, especially in sweden where the municipalities own a large number of sites and offer property developers 
so-called land allocations. the sites are distributed as shown in the following table.

No. of housing units direct purchases options to purchase sum

norway 2 554 761 3 315
sweden 1 224 2 661 3 885
denmark 600 - 600
Total 4 378 3 422 7 800

these are expected to be ready for sale according to the table below.

Housing units total number ready for sale in 2009 ready for sale in 2010 ready for sale in 2011

ready for sale at 

a later time

norway 3 315 623 574 688 1 430
sweden 3 885 616 1223 356 1 690
denmark 600 600
Total 7 800 1 839 1 797 1 044 3 120

our share of the total cost price of the sites which Veidekke has a direct obligation to purchase is expected to 
amount to Mnok 2 009. Mnok 1 145 corresponds to our share and was paid at the end of 2009. the remaining 
payment related to our share, Mnok 864, is expected to fall due as follows: Mnok 326 in 2010, Mnok 166 in 2011 
and Mnok 372 later. remaining payment related to our share of Mnok 864 pertains to 3 622 housing units and is 
divided into Mnok 514 in wholly owned projects and Mnok 350 in partly owned. the above mentioned Mnok 514 
payment has not been entered in the statement of financial position, as transfer of control has not yet taken place. 

the remaining share of the site portfolio consists of sites with options to purchase, meaning that we may, but are 
not obliged to purchase the sites. the largest of the 131 sites in the portfolio are located in oslo, stockholm and 
trondheim. 
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the following is an overview of sites with a purchase price (our share) exceeding Mnok 100:

ownership share

Purchase price 

Mnok (our share)*)

rental income 2009

(Mnok)

Price per 

gFAs**) (nok)

no. of housing 

units (our share)

oslo: Johan throne Holst plass 100% 168 5 9 500 250
oslo: lørenvangen 50% 110 5 6 500 259
oslo: Bertram narvesens vei 100% 108 6 4 100 377
trondheim: ladeveien 100% 108 2 3 600 300
stockholm: Östermalm 50% 165 4 800 205

*)	 Some	of	the	purchase	totals	can	be	adjusted	based	on	final	regulation.	
**)	 GFAS	means	the	housing	units’	expected	gross	floor	area	for	sale.

these are the sites which are the most sensitive to market changes. However, on several of the sites the already 
existing buildings provide regular rental income. All the other sites in the portfolio have a purchase price of less than 
Mnok 50. the sites have been purchased over a period of several years, and for the portfolio as a whole, the 
average price is approximately nok 4 200 per gFAs. this means that the site cost’s share of the project costs is in 
the range of 10–12 percent.

Value assessment
in connection with the year-end closing of accounts, we assessed the value of all the large sites in the portfolio, 
using the present value method. this means that all cash flows were discounted to the point in time at which the 
assessment was made, using a chosen discounting factor which reflected the group’s 15 percent before tax 
required rate of return. Where possible, we also made comparisons with equivalent sites.

the assessments for norway and sweden showed that the present value exceeded book value, thus write-downs 
were not necessary. the relatively low value of the sites provides a sound basis for successful and profitable 
projects in times ahead. in connection with the sites in denmark, valued at Mnok 216, we have had external value 
assessments. the outcome was that the sites were written down by a total of Mnok 20 in 2009.  this has been 
classified as material costs.

Sensitivity analysis
the best benchmarking method involves comparing one’s transactions with equivalent transactions in the same 
area. As very few transactions have taken place in the last year, this has proved difficult. Most sellers have chosen to 
await developments. What we do know, however, is that we have taken a cautious approach to site purchases, and 
that most of our sites were purchased at prices well below the market peak.

in connection with the value assessment, we considered the parameters building start date, sales price and building 
costs. to render visible the effects of market changes is just as difficult as to quantify excess values in a develop-
ment portfolio. nevertheless, the effect of a few scenarios may be described as follows:

1. Moderate fall in sales prices (10–15 percent)
there is a correlation between variations in sales price and building costs, but it is not parallel. if the sales prices go 
down, the building costs will eventually follow, as both are dependent of activity. this means that it is possible to 
keep the profit margins relatively stable even if prices fall. When the site cost’s share of the project costs is low, the 
effect on the project profit margin is small, and the value of the site remains, to a large extent, intact.

2. Dramatic fall in sales prices (25–30 percent)
Although there is a correlation between sales price and building costs, there is a limit to how low the building costs 
can go. Furthermore, the site cost’s share of the project costs will increase with a dramatic price drop. the value of 
the sites will decrease, and the total effect will most likely be within a limit of Mnok 100.

3. Delays in the start-up of building projects
With a required rate of return of 15 percent, the value of a site will be affected by changes in the start date for 
building projects. in the estimations performed when purchasing sites, assumptions are made for planning time, and 
thus also for sales and building start-up. everything else being equal, a one year postponement of the building start 
date will reduce the value of the portfolio by 15 percent. therefore, delays of two to three years have to be made 
probable before this issue has a significant impact on the valuation. 
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note 17. Inventories

inventories include project inventory and inventory for industry operations. Project inventory consists of materials, 
spare parts, tools, etc., while inventory for industry operations consists of aggregates and materials (crushed stone/
gravel, bitumen and waste fractions).
 

2009 2008 2007
inventories for industry operations  105.0 144.7  105.2 
other inventories  160.9 177.8  167.9 
Total inventories  265.9 322.5  273.1 

note 18. Accounts receivable
 

2009 2008 2007
invoiced accounts receivable 2 401.2 2 741.1 3 400.8
Provision for bad debts -42.0 -52.8 -41.1
due from customers 248.4 239.6 234.8
executed, not invoiced – own account Property 36.6 589.9 898.1
executed, not invoiced – other operations 401.3 438.0 572.2
invoiced, not executed -885.5 -1 109.2 -1 321.8
Accounts receivable entered in balance sheet 2 160.0 2 846.7 3 743.1

Projects for external clients are normally invoiced monthly with 30 days’ credit. invoicing is usually done in step with 
the execution of the work, but there are also lump sum payment plans. For housing projects for Veidekke’s own 
account, payment takes place on handover, and earned but not invoiced income is entered under accounts receiv-
able, “executed, not invoiced”.

Both income and costs are accrued for projects. earned income which has not been invoiced is entered under 
"executed, not invoiced". invoiced income which has not been earned (lump sum payment plans)  is entered under 
"invoiced, not executed". only one of these items may be applied per project.

if the item “invoiced, not executed” is larger than book accounts receivable for the project, the surplus is entered as 
advance payment from customers under “other short-term liabilities”. each project thus shows either a net receiv-
able from the customer or a net debt to the customer. 

Cost accruals (Accrued, not recorded) are entered under creditors, while provision for guarantee work on completed 
projects is entered under guarantee provisions etc.

Parts of the outstanding receivables are secured by bank guarantees, mortgages or other forms of security. there is 
not considered to be any credit risk associated with public customers.  As security for housing purchases, an 
advance payment is as a rule made on signing the contract. this is deposited in a blocked estate agent’s account, 
and the dwelling is not handed over to the customer until it is fully paid.

note 19. Cash and cash equivalents

the group’s cash and cash equivalents consist of bank deposits, of which Mnok 39.5 was restricted at 31 decem-
ber 2009. the group has no short-term investments.
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note 20. Number of shares, shareholders, etc.

Veidekke ASA’s largest shareholders at 31 December 2009 no. of shares ownership share
oBos Forretningsbygg As 37 469 440 28.0%
iF skadeförsäkring AB 11 649 680 8.7%
Folketrygdfondet 9 796 350 7.3%
First securities As egenhandelskonto 6 640 000 5.0%
JPMorgan Chase Bank nordea treaty Account 3 136 082 2.3%
MP Pensjon 3 100 000 2.3%
Must invest As 2 560 250 1.9%
Awilco invest As C/P Awilhelmsen Mana 2 477 000 1.9%
rasmussengruppen As 1 850 000 1.4%
sHB stockholm Clients, c/o Handelsbanken As 1 148 000 0.9%
Bank of new York Mellon s/A Mellon nominee 1 1 057 620 0.8%
Holberg norge v/Holberg Fondsforvaltning 950 000 0.7%
state street Bank & trust Co, Client Fund 844 893 0.6%
state street Bank and trust Co, Client 738 457 0.6%
Vital Forsikring AsA 731 179 0.5%
Total, 15 largest  84 148 951 62.9%
employees 25 840 925 19.3%
others  23 715 066 17.7%
Total  133 704 942 100.0%

Changes in number of shares 
issued shares at 1 January 2009 135 959 342 
Cancellation of shares at Annual general Meeting 7 May 2009 -2 254 400
Issued shares at 31 December 2009 133 704 942 

the nominal value of a Veidekke share is nok 0.50

Shares held by senior executives of the company at 31 December 2009

Board of Directors no. of shares 
Martin Mæland 1) 3) - 
Peder Chr. løvenskiold 2) 220 000
Jette Wigand knudsen  5 000 
Hilde M. Aasheim - 
göte dahlin 4)  50 000 
inge ramsdal 3 300
steinar krogstad 13 865
eiliv staalesen  32 768 
Shares held by Board members 324 933

 
President and CEO Terje R. Venold 2) 3) 347 515

Members of the corporate management team  
dag Andresen 209 825
Arne giske 168 800
kai krüger Henriksen 151 710
Bente lillestøl 46 660
Per-ingemar Persson 4) 120 400
Jørgen Wiese Porsmyr 74 045
Shares held by members of the corporate management team 771 440
Total 1 443 888

1)	 Chairman	of	the	Board.
2)	President	and	CEO	of	OBOS.
3)	 Including	shares	held	by	closely	related	persons	and	companies.
4)	A	portion	of	the	shareholding	is	placed	in	capital	insurance.
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Reconciliation of own shares
no. of shares held at 1 January 2009  2 254 400 
Purchases prior to the Annual general Meeting 7 May 2009 - 
Cancelled by the Annual general Meeting 7 May 2009  2 254 400 
Purchases after Annual general Meeting -
No. of own shares at 31 December 2009 - 

Dividends
dividends for 2008 that were distributed in 2009, amount to Mnok 334.3 (nok 2.50 per share). the proposed 
dividend for 2009 also amounts to Mnok 334.3 (nok 2.50 per share).

the distribution of dividends to the parent company’s shareholders affects neither the company’s tax payable or its 
deferred tax.

note 21. Pensions

Pension schemes
Veidekke has pension schemes for all its employees, but the schemes differ between norway, sweden and 
denmark.

Norway
in norway, Veidekke has the following pension schemes:

• general pension scheme
• Contractual early retirement scheme (AFP)
• early retirement scheme for managers
• Additional scheme for employees with salaries exceeding 12g

General pension scheme
Veidekke has a general pension scheme for all employees in norway. this is a defined-benefit plan in which the 
company commits itself to providing a pension of a specified size, and where the company bears the risk of the 
return on pension funds. the pension scheme is provided as a supplement to public pension benefits (through the 
national insurance scheme), and is financed by funds accumulated in a life insurance company, which manages the 
funds and administers the scheme. the scheme covers retirement pension, disability pension and child’s pension. 

the earning period for full retirement pension is 30 years. together with the national insurance scheme, full earning 
through the pension scheme provides a retirement pension of around 60 percent of salary on retirement. Pension 
credit is not earned on salary above 12g (the basic amount of the national insurance scheme), i.e. there is a ceiling 
of 12g in the general pension scheme. the pension age in norway is usually 67, and retirement pensions, both the 
national insurance scheme and Veidekke pensions, are lifelong. the employer pays all contributions to the general 
pension scheme. the cost of the scheme constitutes approximately 8 percent of the base salary. 

A few smaller companies in Veidekke have defined-contribution plans.

A new, flexible retirement pension (national insurance) will be introduced in norway from 2011 with a voluntary 
retirement age from 62 years.

Contractual early retirement scheme (AFP)
Most norwegian Veidekke companies offer a contractual early retirement scheme (AFP) to its employees. this 
provides pension benefits between the ages of 62 and 67, and enables employees to retire at 62. the AFP scheme 
was jointly established by employers and organised employees (the Confederation of norwegian enterprise, nHo/
the norwegian Confederation of trade unions, lo). the employer pays an annual premium to the scheme based on 
wage expenses. in addition, the employer covers 25 percent of the pension for employees who have taken early 
retirement through the AFP scheme. the state also finances a part of the AFP scheme. For accounting purposes, 
own paid-in contributions are treated as a separate defined benefit plan, while annual premiums are treated as 
defined-contribution plans. the future withdrawal rate for the AFP scheme is expected to be 40 percent from the 
age of 62. 
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New contractual early retirement scheme (AFP) 
in February 2010, a new scheme for contractual early retirement pensions (AFP) was adopted in norway, which will 
include most of Veidekke’s norwegian companies. the scheme will apply from 2011, but will affect accounting 
procedures from 2010. the current AFP scheme covers pensions between ages 62 to 67 (voluntary early retire-
ment). the new AFP scheme provides a life-long supplement to the national insurance scheme for all who participate 
in it. retirement age is therefore flexible, with voluntary retirement between 62 and 75 years. Moreover, the 
pension pay-out of both the national insurance scheme and AFP becomes larger, the longer participants work. 
the new AFP scheme will be financed by employers (2/3) and the state (1/3).

under the new scheme, employers pay an annual premium based on wage expenses, while the current self-paid 
contributions for those who retire early, will be eliminated. in a statement issued in november 2009, the norwegian 
Accounting Foundation concluded that the new AFP system is regarded as a performance-based multi-employer 
plan according to iAs 19. Presently, the scheme’s administrator does not expect it will be necessary to make 
calculations for each company in the scheme. the norwegian Accounting Foundation has, in its statement, con-
cluded that the whole AFP scheme, up to these calculations, shall be treated as a defined-contribution scheme for 
accounting purposes.  that is, the premium will be expensed in the year it is paid, and no pension liabilities will be 
capitalised. 

everyone born after 31 december 1948 will be transferred to the new AFP system, which means that pension 
obligations recorded in the accounts for these participants must be recorded in the profit and loss account. For 
Veidekke this means that approximately Mnok 95 before taxes will be recorded as income in the profit and loss 
account for 2010. the amount is based on calculations made in January 2010 and requires that the AFP scheme be 
treated as a defined-contribution plan in the 2010 accounts.

Early retirement scheme for managers
Veidekke has a separate early retirement scheme for the top management team in norway, covering pension for 
managers between the ages of 64 and 67 (a defined-benefit plan which comprises 25 persons). the scheme enables 
the employees to retire at the age of 64. Full earning through this early retirement scheme provides a pension of 
approximately 60 percent of the salary on retirement. the earning period is 15 years from the day the employee is 
included in the scheme, and the early retirement pension is financed through operations. When it comes to the 
Ceo’s pension, see note 31.

Pension above 12G
Veidekke also has an additional scheme for norwegian employees with salaries exceeding 12g (a defined-benefit 
plan). the scheme gives pension credit for salary above 12g, and covers retirement pension, disability pension and 
child’s pension. Full earning through the scheme provides employees with salaries exceeding 12g with a retirement 
pension amounting to 60 percent of the salary on retirement, including public pension benefits and Veidekke’s 
general pension scheme. the earning period for full additional pension is 15 years from the year the salary exceeds 
12g. the pensionable age is 67, and the pension will be paid for life. the pension scheme is financed through 
operations.

Denmark
in denmark, Veidekke has a pension scheme covering all employees. this is a defined-contribution plan in which the 
company’s only commitment is to make an annual contribution, while the employees bear the risk of the return on 
pension funds. the pension scheme is provided as a supplement to public pension benefits. the pension funds are 
placed in a life insurance company, which manages the funds and administers the scheme. the pension scheme 
covers retirement and disability pension, and the employer pays 2/3 of the contributions, while the employee pays 
the remaining 1/3. the employer’s contribution constitutes 8 percent of the salary, and the employee may choose 
the risk profile. the pensionable age in denmark is 65, but will gradually be raised to 67. the payment of the retire-
ment pension is very flexible. in the event of death, the pension is payable to surviving dependents.

Sweden
Veidekke also has a pension scheme covering all employees in sweden. this is a defined-contribution plan in which 
the company’s only commitment is to make an annual contribution, while the employees bear the risk of the return 
on pension funds. the pension scheme is provided as a supplement to public pension benefits, and the pension 
funds are placed in life insurance companies, which manage the funds and administer the scheme. the pension 
scheme covers retirement and disability pension. the company’s contribution to the scheme constitutes 10 percent 
of the salary, and the pensionable age in sweden is 65. the payment of the retirement pension is very flexible. 
in the event of death, the pension is payable to surviving dependents.
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2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Veidekke 

Construc t-

ion As

Veidekke 

AsA

kolo 

Veidekke 

As

other 

com-

panies

Group 
Total

group 

total

group 

total

group 

total

group 

total

Pension costs          
Current service cost 75.5 6.2 18.8 20.5 121.0 95.1 79.4 77.2 88.3
interest cost on benefit obligation 41.4 6.2 11.3 8.9 67.8 63.6 51.0 45.5 41.9
expected return on plan assets -27.0 -5.4 -8.6 -5.5 -46.5 -42.0 -34.6 -33.0 -34.9
Actuarial loss 22.9 2.2 5.1 3.8 34.0 20.9 12.4 8.1 0.4
Costs defined-benefit plans 112.8 9.2 26.6 27.7 176.3 137.6 108.2 97.8 95.7
Costs defined-contribution plans 12.0 0.8 3.5 74.1 90.4 77.2 80.6 83.7 54.2
Pension costs 124.8 10.0 30.1 101.8 266.7 214.8 188.8 181.5 149.9
          
Carrying amount at 31 December          
Pension liability -1 040.4 -154.9 -289.3 -244.8 -1 729.4 -1 656.0 -1 363.5 -1 169.0 -1 016.2
Fair value of plan assets 526.0 93.8 160.0 120.8 900.6 805.8 707.7 646.1 563.7
net pension liability -514.4 -61.1 -129.3 -124.0 -828.8 -850.2 -655.8 -522.9 -452.5
unrecognised net actuarial lossesand 327.8 36.9 79.0 74.3 518.0 597.4 396.0 266.2 194.9
Pension liability entered in 
balance sheet -186.6 -24.2 -50.3 -49.7 -310.8 -252.8 -259.8 -256.7 -257.6
          
Net pension liability          
net liability at 1 January -533.0 -61.0 -124.3 -131.9 -850.2 -655.8 -522.9 -452.5 -255.1
Pension costs -89.9 -7.0 -21.5 -23.9 -142.3 -116.7 -95.8 -89.7 -95.3
Actuarial gains/losses  34.6 0.5 0.7 9.6 45.4 -222.3 -142.2 -79.4 -192.4
social security contributions and 
employer’s contribution 73.9 6.4 15.8 22.2 118.3 144.6 105.1 98.7 90.3
Net liability at 31 December -514.4 -61.1 -129.3 -124.0 -828.8 -850.2 -655.8 -522.9 -452.5
          
Pension liability          
liability at 1 January -992.5 -155.3 -270.8 -237.4 -1 656.0 -1 363.5 -1 169.0 -1 016.2 -754.0
Current service cost -75.5 -6.2 -18.8 -20.5 -121.0 -95.1 -79.4 -77.2 -88.3
interest cost on benefit obligation -41.4 -6.2 -11.3 -8.9 -67.8 -63.6 -51.0 -45.5 -41.9
Actuarial gains/losses 49.4 1.5 4.6 16.1 71.6 -178.3 -100.0 -65.2 -166.3
employer’s contribution 8.5 0.4 1.8 2.6 13.3 15.9 11.5 11.3 10.4
Pensions paid 11.1 10.9 5.2 3.3 30.5 28.6 24.4 23.8 23.9
Liability at 31 December -1 040.4 -154.9 -289.3 -244.8 -1 729.4 -1 656.0 -1 363.5 -1 169.0 -1 016.2
          
Pension liability at 31 December          
Fund-based schemes -904.8 -102.2 -235.1 -191.3 -1 433.4 -1 373.5 -1 126.0 -984.8 -856.2
non fund-based schemes -135.6 -52.7 -54.2 -53.5 -296.0 -282.5 -237.5 -184.2 -160.0
Liability at 31 December -1 040.4 -154.9 -289.3 -244.8 -1 729.4 -1 656.0 -1 363.5 -1 169.0 -1 016.2
          
Pension assets          
Assets at 1 January 459.5 94.3 146.5 105.5 805.8 707.7 646.1 563.7 498.9
expected return on plan asset 27.0 5.4 8.6 5.5 46.5 42.0 34.6 33.0 34.9
Contributions 65.4 6.0 14.0 19.6 105.0 128.7 93.6 87.4 79.9
Actuarial gains/losses -14.8 -1.0 -3.9 -6.5 -26.2 -44.0 -42.2 -14.2 -26.1
Pensions paid -11.1 -10.9 -5.2 -3.3 -30.5 -28.6 -24.4 -23.8 -23.9
Pension assets at 31 December 526.0 93.8 160.0 120.8 900.6 805.8 707.7 646.1 563.7

Principal assumptions 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
expected return on plan asset 5.6% 6.3% 5.8% 5.5% 5.5%
discount rate 4.4% 4.3% 4.8% 4.5% 4.5%
Annual wage growth 4.3% 4.5% 4.5% 4.2% 3.0%
Annual basic pension rate adjustment 4.0% 4.2% 4.2% 4.2% 3.0%
Annual adjustment of pension under payment 2.2% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.5%
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Veidekke’s financial assumptions are based on the norwegian Accounting standards’ guidelines as of August 2009.

For contractual early retirement pensions (AFP), a 40% withdrawal rate is used from the age of 62. the anticipated 
premium for defined-contribution plans for 2010 is approximately Mnok 130. estimated mortality is based on the 
relevant mortality table for norway (k2005). Assumptions regarding disability are based on the relevant disability 
table used by storebrand.

Sensitivity analysis for pension liability and pension costs

 Change in pension liability

Change in pension costs  

(service Cost)

Discount rate  
3.90% 12.4% 13.7%
4.40% 0.0% 0.0%
4.90% -10.8% -11.7%
   
Future wage growth   
3.80% -11.9% -13.6%
4.30% 0.0% 0.0%
4.80% 13.5% 16.2%
   
Future pension adjustment   
1.70% -6.3% -6.4%
2.20% 0.0% 0.0%
2.70% 6.9% 7.1%
   
Basic pension rate adjustment   
3.50% 6.6% 9.4%
4.00% 0.0% 0.0%
4.50% -6.7% -9.1%

Pension funds 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
investment      
Property 16% 17% 15% 10% 9%
long-term bonds 27% 14% 29% 28% 29%
short-term bonds, etc. 45% 60% 26% 35% 38%
shares 12% 9% 30% 27% 24%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

return on investment      
Book value 4.7% 2.0% 8.9% 7.1% 6.9%
Value adjustment 4.7% -0.5% 7.3% 8.3% 6.9%
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note 22. Income tax

Income tax expense 2009 2008 2007
Payable tax 132.6 320.4 119.6
Change in deferred tax  -21.1  -120.3 60.3
Total 111.5 200.1 179.9

Difference in income tax expense 2009 2008 2007
28% of earnings before tax 146.5 28.0% 228.4 28.0% 330.7 28.0%
Actual income tax expense 111.5 21.3% 200.1 24.5% 179.9 15.2%
Difference 35.0 6.7% 28.3 3.5% 150.8 12.8%

Difference in income tax expense       
non-deductible expenses -8.4  -9.6  -8.7  
lower tax rate in sweden and denmark (26.3%/25%) -1.1 -0.6 -3.0
Profit associated companies/joint ventures 
(equity method) 1) 4.9  27.3  17.1  
tax-related write-down     24.1  
tax-free gains on shares and dividends 18.8  53.1  120.7  
Change in use of deferred tax assets 2) 30.5  -14.2  -15.7  
Change in tax rate in denmark from 28 to 25% -14.2  -26.1    
Change in tax rate in sweden from 28 to 26.3%   -2.2  3.1  
Corrections previous years 3.5    9.2  
other items 0.9  0.6  4.0  
Total 35.0  28.3  150.8  

1)	 Profit	from	associated	companies	and	joint	ventures.	For	these	companies	the	equity	method	of	accounting	is	used,	incor-
    porating	the	earnings	after	tax,	and	this	gives	a	positive	deviation	in	income	tax	expense.
2)	 This	refers	to	reporting	(use)	of	deferred	tax	assets	in	Sweden,	i.e.	loss	carry-forward,	and	other	taxpaying	positions	which	have	

not	been	recorded	in	the	statement	of	financial	position.

At 31 december 2009, Veidekke reported deferred tax assets in sweden amounting to Mnok 40.5 in the statement 
of financial position. Anticipated taxable profit in sweden indicates that the book deferred tax assets can be used in 
the course of three years. there is no time limit for loss carry-forward in sweden. in addition, Veidekke has deferred 
tax assets in sweden of Mnok 4 which have not been recorded in the statement of financial position.
 

Basis for deferred tax Book value deferred tax 
 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Projects in progress etc. (short-term items)  1 089.4  1 112.8 1 339.8 305.1 309.6 372.9
loss carried-forward -225.5 -238.8 -257.4 -58.7 -61.0 -69.0
non-current assets – additional depreciation 65.1 35.7 36.5 18.1 9.3 9.7
gain and loss account 34.0 43.0 53.7 9.5 12.0 15.0
Warranty provisions etc. -730.7 -717.0 -425.5 -204.6 -200.7 -119.0
Pension liability -266.7 -215.6 -229.8 -74.7 -60.4 -64.3
other long-term items 145.8 154.7 85.5 39.9 43.0 23.9
Total deferred tax 111.2 174.9 602.8 34.7 51.8 169.3

recorded deferred tax assets – tax assets that 
cannot be offset against deferred tax -79.3 -35.9 -45.6
recorded deferred tax 114.0 87.7 214.9
Recorded net deferred tax 34.7 51.8 169.3
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                 effect of deferred tax on profit
 2009 2008 2007
Projects in progress etc. (short-term items) -4.5 -63.4 116.0
loss carry-forward 2.3 8.0 -40.1
Additional depreciation 8.8 -0.4 7.1
gain and loss account -2.5 -3.0 -3.2
Warranty provisions -3.9 -81.7 -10.3
Pension liability -14.3 4.0 0.8
other long-term items -3.1 19.1 -8.1
Change in deferred tax -17.2 -117.4 62.1

Conversion differences -4.1 2.9 0.1
deferred tax related to acquisitions 0.2 -5.8 -1.9
Effect of deferred tax on profit -21.1 -120.3 60.3

Income tax reported directly in shareholder’s equity and comprehensive income 
in 2009, Mnok 7.9 (Mnok 9.9) was recorded as a reduction in taxes payable and an increase in equity related to 
the sale of Veidekke’s own shares at a discount to employees in the group. see note 4. 

the comprehensive income statement, in addition to net income, also includes currency conversion differences and 
value adjustment of financial assets at fair value. the latter item is Veidekke’s share of the comprehensive income  
item from its investment in Allfarveg based on the equity method. the items are thus net after tax. 

Currency conversion differences have no tax effect. 
 

note 23. Long-term liabilities 
   
Long-term debts to credit institutions

Long-term liabilities 2009 2008 2007
overdraft on committed borrowing facilities, dnB nor  204.5  827.1  419.0 
other loans, credit institutions  101.1  57.4  38.9 
Debts to credit institutions  305.6  884.4  457.9

Other long-term debts, not interest-bearing

Long-term liabilities 2009 2008 2007
deferred payment in connection with purchases of development sites  6.4  74.5  66.4 
estimated purchase price for shares in seby As and Br. reme As  24.5  28.0  43.0 
other long-term liabilities  14.7  12.2  1.4 
Long-term commitments – financial instruments  45.6  114.7  110.8 

installment profile details can be found in note 30.

Veidekke owns shares in the subsidiaries seby As and Br. reme As of 70 and 94 percent respectively. there is an 
option agreement for these companies with existing owners, according to which Veidekke has a right and obligation 
to purchase the remaining shares. it is therefore recorded as a liability in this statement.

For seby it is not probable that the right will be exercised. Veidekke is thus not deemed to have rights equivalent to 
full ownership and the company is therefore recorded in the accounts as a minority. this means that a net liability is 
recorded in the accounts related to the purchase of the shares, which in turn means that the expected purchase 
price minus the minority share of equity is entered as a long-term debt.

For Br. reme, it is highly probable that the option will be exercised, and the company is considered for accounting 
purposes to be considered as a wholly owned subsidiary. this means that the estimated gross residual purchase 
price is entered as a long-term liability in the accounts. As a result of the minority put option, 100 percent of goodwill 
at the time of acquisition was entered as an asset. the calculation of the estimated residual purchase price is 
updated annually.
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note 24. Short-term debts to credit institutions etc.

Short-term liabilities 2009 2008 2007
Bank overdraft  1.1  0.4 - 
debt instruments and building loans related to property development - -  163.2 
Debts to credit institutions  1.1  0.4  163.2 

 
Note 25. Creditors, unpaid government charges and other short-term liabilities

Creditors 2009 2008 2007
Carrying amount of creditors  1 345.4  1 471.2  1 955.1 
Accrued expenses  1 151.0  1 064.3  1 075.4 
Total creditors  2 496.4  2 535.5  3 030.5 

Other short-term liabilities 2009 2008 2007
Advance payments from customers 602.9 493.4 428.5
other liabilities 572.8 802.8 551.7
Total other short-term liabilities 1 175.7 1 296.2 980.2

Advance payments from customers refer to invoiced income from projects that have not been earned (invoiced, not 
executed). reference is also made to note 18 Accounts receivable. unpaid holiday pay is included in other liabilities.
 

Note 26. Warranty provisions etc.

 2009 2008 2007
total warranty provisions etc. at 1 January  964.3 620.8 563.4
    
exchange rate difference -42.3 50.2 6.2
new provisions for warranty (additions) 394.0 537.4 334.5
reversed provisions for warranty (disposals) -259.3 -97.2 -132.2
Accrued guarantee expenses (consumptions) -216.9 -146.8 -151.0
    
Warranty provisions at 31 December  839.9 964.3 620.8

Liability for non-conformity
A project must be handed over to the customer as specified in the contract. if projects do not conform to the 
contract when handed over, it is the responsibility of the construction company to correct this non-conformity at no 
extra cost to the customer. the guarantee period is normally from three to five years. Complaints for any visible 
non-conformities must be submitted by the customer on takeover. during the complaint period, the construction 
company is usually responsible for concealed non-conformities. After the expiry of the complaint period, the 
construction company is only responsible for concealed non-conformities that are due to gross or wilful negligence. 
the final limitation period is 13 years.

there are mainly two types of contracts in the construction industry: execution contracts and turnkey contracts. in 
execution contracts, the construction company is responsible for non-conformities relating to the execution of the 
work, while the customer is responsible for non-conformities arising from the design. in turnkey contracts, the 
construction company also takes responsibility for the design.

Warranty provisions etc.
Provision is made under ”Warranty provisions etc.” for work under guarantee, i.e. for correction of non-conformities 
in completed projects. Warranty provisions etc. also cover other obligations, such as claims from subcontractors, 
claims from third parties, etc. Provisions must be made for both accrued guarantee commitments and for actual 
incurred and relatively certain obligations. Provisions should include cover for future expenses for repairs of con-
cealed non-conformities, i.e., defects that are not known. this also applies to known non-conformities where there 
is uncertainty attached to scope, liability, costs, etc. (e.g. disputes).
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note 27. Mortgages, guarantees and joint and several liability 

Mortgages 2009 2008 2007
Carrying amount liabilities secured by mortgages etc.  34.7 55.7  197.1 
Carrying amount value of mortgaged buildings, sites/machinery  34.7 55.8  328.5 

the group has issued negative mortgage declarations for loans and guarantees.

As a result of its participation in partnerships and joint ventures, Veidekke could become liable for other participants’ 
inability to fulfil their obligations. However, Veidekke cannot be called to account until the company in question is 
unable to meet its obligations.

note 28. Capital management

it is Veidekke’s aim to give its shareholders a high return on their investment in the company both in the short and 
the long term, and to have a strong financial position. good profitability throughout the group is crucial to achieve 
this. 

the group entities are managed in accordance with several financial and non-financial parameters, adapted to the 
different entities according their individual character. 

• For construction operations, targets have been set for project and profit margins. the long-term target for   
 construction operations is a profit margin of 5.0 percent before tax. in 2009, the target was achieved, as the  
 profit  margin for construction operations as a whole reached 5.0 percent (5.0 percent). over the past five 
 years, the profit margin has been 4.1 percent.

• For property development operations, tied up capital in the form of invested capital and the return on this are  
 important target figures. By invested capital we mean book equity and net interest-bearing liabilities. 

 the total invested capital within property development at 31 december 2009 was Mnok 2 219 (Mnok 2 635).  
 the return on invested capital for 2009 was -0.8 percent (8.0 percent), calculated as earnings before financial  
 items divided by average invested capital. over the past five years, the return on invested capital has been  
 14.1 percent.  the group’s long-term target is a return on invested capital of at least 15 percent over an 
 economic cycle. in addition to this, risk exposure in the form of sales rate for dwellings under construction and  
 number of unsold completed dwellings are important target figures. As of 31 december 2009, the sales rate for  
 dwellings under construction was 94 percent, and the group had 107 (130) completed unsold dwellings, 82 of  
 which are rented out indefinitely.
 
• the long-term target for industry operations is a profit margin of 6.5 percent before tax. the target for return 
 on invested capital is minimum 15 percent. in 2009, the profit margin was 0.2 percent (2.1 percent) and return  
 on invested capital was 3.3 percent (13.2 percent). over the past five years, the profit margin has been 
 3.4 percent.

Veidekke intends to have a strong financial position. important instruments in steering the group’s capital structure 
are the group’s dividend policy, share buy-back and net investment level. net interest-bearing liabilities as a percen-
tage of book equity (gearing) is a target figure in following up capital structure. 

• gearing as of 31 december 2009 was -5 percent (12 percent).
• group equity ratio at 31 december 2009 was 26.4 percent (23.6 percent). the target here is a year-end equity  
 ratio of 25 percent. 
• the dividend ratio for 2009 (proposed dividends/earnings per share) is 83 percent (56 percent). the group’s  
 dividend policy indicates a dividend of minimum 50 percent of earnings per share.
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the most important non-financial parameters concern health, safety and environment (Hse). these are followed-up 
in all parts of the group, and include injuries with and without absences, short-and long-term sick leave, and 
monitoring of undesirable events.

Veidekke emphasises systematic monitoring and following-up adapted to the individual nature of each operating 
area. important areas, in addition to Hse, include improvement processes, employee involvement, supplier and 
customer orientation.

note 29. Financial Risk

it is Veidekke’s aim to have a strong financial position. in order to achieve this, good operational management, low 
risk exposure, and a sound management of the parameters influencing the company’s financial risk, are important 
factors. Financial management and control is an integral part of the group’s strategy process, and the group’s 
financial policy sets the guidelines for the handling of financial risk management. 

the group’s financial policy has been approved by the Board of directors, and is maintained by the corporate staff in 
cooperation with the individual operating areas. the corporate staff is responsible for tasks relating to financing and 
management of interest rate and currency risk, while the operating areas manage the risks relating to ongoing 
operations, for example credit risk and payment conditions.

Veidekke makes use of financial instruments such as bank and certificate loans. the purpose of these financial 
instruments is to procure capital for investment in the group’s activities.

Veidekke is primarily exposed to risk through financial instruments such as accounts receivable, liquidity and 
interest-bearing liabilities. the risk is related to credit, market and liquidity matters. 

(1) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss due to the inability of a customer or the counterpart of a financial instrument to 
fulfil their contractual obligations. the group’s credit risk is mainly attached to the settlement of receivables, includ-
ing the largest risk which is inherent in the group’s accounts receivable. the credit risk attached to accounts 
receivable is related to the customer’s ability to pay, and not to the customer’s willingness to pay, as this is a project 
risk. Further details regarding project risk is provided in a separate section. 

the group has a considerable share of its income from public customers (37 percent), for whom the credit risk is 
considered very low. For our private customers (63 percent), we seek to handle the credit risk within the group’s 
various divisions through methods adapted to the individual character of the different operating areas.  the group’s 
largest single customer is the norwegian Public roads Administration (9 percent).

For construction projects, importance is attached to thorough assessments in the tender process, settlement of 
work according to progress, contractual guarantees and active follow-up of outstanding claims. 

on signing contracts, the credit risk depends on the specific design of agreements with the client. As a part of 
Veidekke’s risk management, the management systems contain clear procedures for the design of contracts, 
including specifications stating that agreed payment plans shall be closely linked with planned progress. in addition, 
turnkey contracts are, to a large extent, based on national standards (e.g. standards norway), which contain 
standard requirements for the client’s provision of security for the contract price (standards norway require up to 
17.5 percent of the contract price during the building period). together, these two measures mean that exposure to 
credit risk within ordinary construction projects is regarded as low. in sweden, there is no national standard provi-
sion for bank guarantees making the risk somewhat higher in this market.

For the industry division, which has a considerably larger number of customers, importance is attached to 
procedures for credit rating, timely invoicing, guarantees and active follow-up of outstanding claims. 

Within property operations, we seek to minimise risk through advance payments, and by ensuring that handover 
does not take place until the dwellings are paid. 
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the group has no significant credit risk relating to any one party or to any parties that may be regarded as a group 
based on similarities in credit risk. However, at 31 december 2009, the group had receivables from the norwegian 
state (state and municipal level) in scandinavia totalling Mnok 826.

the group has not acted as guarantor for any third party’s debts.

(2) Project risk
there is always a risk that a customer may not be willing to settle its debts. this is regarded as an operating risk and 
not a financial risk, and is handled as part of the ordinary project valuation. Accounting details can be found in note 
18 Accounts receivable.

(3) Interest rate risk
due to its low net interest-bearing position, the interest rate risk for the group as a whole is low. However, the 
various divisions are exposed to interest rate risk based on their different financial positions. in some partly-owned 
companies, interest derivatives are used to hedge against considerable long-term interest risk.

the group, to some extent, has historically used interest rate derivatives to reduce fluctuations in profit figures 
arising from changes in interest rate levels, i.e. interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of loans. the interest-
bearing position has in recent years been low, and on this basis, no new fixed rate deals have been entered into for 
some months. As at 31 december 2009 there were no interest rate derivatives in the group. the need to enter into 
new agreements is evaluated continuously based on expected future cash flows.

long-term interest rate contracts have been signed for the joint venture company Allfarveg As. see separate details 
in note 30.

Determination of fair value
Fair value of the group’s interest rate swaps is routinely set using the forward rate on the balance sheet date, and is 
confirmed by the financial institution with which the agreement is signed.

the current interest rate level is expected to have a significant effect on the demand for the group’s products, 
particularly among private customers. therefore, an indirect interest rate risk is inherent in the general market risk. 
increasing interest rates normally entail lower activity for the group’s building and construction operations, and also 
reduce sales of dwellings from the group’s entities within property development.

(4) Liquidity risk
Veidekke has secured its long-term financing through borrowing facilities which are effective until 2012. the level is 
well adjusted to the group’s strategy and planned operations for the years ahead.

Veidekke has committed borrowing facilities totalling Mnok 2,100 in dnB nor. At the end of 2009, unused 
committed borrowing facilities amounted to Mnok 1 896 (Mnok 1 273). the borrowing facilities are based on a 
negative mortgage declaration and are conditional on Veidekke’s financial key figures (covenants), as well as sales of 
significant assets without consent and own account risk in residential and non-residential projects. Veidekke meets 
all the conditions laid down in the loan agreement, and has satisfactory freedom of action.

the group also has other substantial borrowing facilities available to it, to meet its current performance guarantees 
for construction projects.

in order to handle liquidity risks in projects for own account within property operations, the group has set a require-
ment stating that projects shall not be started up until the sales rate exceeds 50 percent. Projects for own account 
are often organised in companies in which Veidekke has an ownership share of 50 percent.

For more information, see note 19 on cash and cash equivalents, note 23 on long-term interest-bearing liabilities, 
note 24 on short-term interest-bearing liabilities and note 27 on mortgages and guarantees.
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(5) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, e.g. currency exchange rates, interest rates and share prices, 
will influence the revenues or values of financial instruments. the purpose of market risk management is to ensure 
that the risk exposure is well within the defined limits, while at the same time, risk-adjusted yield is optimised. 

Currency risk
Fluctuations in currency rates have little direct influence on Veidekke, as its operations are largely national in cha-
racter and the project cash flows are normally in the same currency. Any substantial currency risks that arise are 
hedged through forward exchange contracts or similar arrangements. equity in foreign subsidiaries is not hedged 
and changes will affect the total result.

net currency gains in 2009 were entered at Mnok 13.0 (Mnok 5.0). the group had no financial derivatives for 
currency hedging at 31 december 2009.

Market price risk – shares
the group is exposed to price risk related to equity instruments through investments classified as available for sale. 
this applies primarily to shares. this type of investment is normally not a part of the group’s investment strategy. 
Veidekke prioritises investments in companies and projects which allow the group considerable influence on future 
operations and development. 

the group has only one significant financial investment which may be classified as available for sale, and that is the 
shareholding in Hansa Property group AsA. the shares were mainly purchased as a part settlement of the sale of a 
property project in 2007.  in 2009 the book value of the shares in Hansa Property group AsA were written down by 
Mnok 13. during the year, Mnok 30 in new equity was injected into company equity.  Book value as of 31 decem-
ber 2009 was Mnok 33. in total, the shares have been written down by Mnok 106 compared with their original 
acquisition cost. 

(6) Derivatives and hedging of material derivatives
Raw materials/materials for use in production
Veidekke to a small extent hedges input factors for use in production. When hedging does occur, it is not performed 
until after the order has been placed, and may include hedging of price and quantity in e.g. deliveries of steel.

the petroleum product bitumen is an important input factor in the asphalt operations within the industry division. 
the price development for this product is closely linked with the development of the oil price. However, bitumen 
costs are rarely hedged. the reason for this is that our largest customer, the Public roads Administration, contractu-
ally bears the risk related to the price development for bitumen. As regards deliveries to other customers, the time 
between contract placement and execution is usually short, thus reducing the risk related to price changes.
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note 30. Financial Instruments

Credit risk exposure  
the balance sheet value of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. there is a separate assess-
ment for the company’s accounts receivables. Maximum exposure to credit risk for the group’s financial assets on 
the balance sheet date is shown in the following table.

2009 2008 2007
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  -  1.4  2.1 
long-term receivables  277.0 280.2 290.8 
Accounts receivable 1) 2 160.0  2 846.7  3 743.1 
short-term receivables  179.4 318.2 232.7 
Total credit risk financial assets 2 616.4  3 446.5  4 268.7 

1)	 Details	regarding	unhedged	credit	risk	related	to	accounts	receivable	are	provided	below.	

 2009 2008 2007
Invoiced accounts receivable  2 401.2 2 741.1  3 400.8 
Accounts receivable recorded in statement of financial position  2 160.0 2 846.7  3 743.1 

reference is made to note 18 for details regarding accounts receivable that are entered in the statement of financial 
position.

Age distribution of invoiced accounts receivable at 31 December:
2009 2008 2007

receivables not due for payment  1 348.4 1 397.4  2 020.5 
less than 30 days since due date 355.9 526.7 602.5 
30–60 days since due date 112.9 167.2 111.3 
60–90 days since due date 195.9 123.2 204.2 
90–180 days since due date 232.6 289.1 67.1 
More than 180 days since due date *) 155.5 237.6 395.2 
Invoiced accounts receivable  2 401.2 2 741.1  3 400.8 

*)	Receivables	that	are	overdue	by	more	than	180	days	involve	large	amounts	of	money.	This	may	be	ascribed	to	disputes	which	
take	time	to	resolve,	and	which,	in	some	cases,	must	be	resolved	legally.	Any	impairment	of	a	receivable	based	on	project	risk	will	
normally	be	included	in	the	individual	evaluation	of	the	project’s	final	prognosis. 

Credit risk is the risk that a customer becomes insolvent and is not able to settle its debts with Veidekke (bankruptcy risk).

Estimation of credit risk for accounts receivable:
 2009 2008
Accounts receivable entered in balance sheet 2 160.0  2 846.7 

received bank guarantees related to the accounts receivable 204.3 565.4 
other guarantees 217.8 69.7 
security in property 1) 34.8 527.8 
receivables from public authorities (state and municipal level) 2)  1 001.2 805.8 
Maximum credit risk in accounts receivable 701.9 878.1 

1)	 The	value	of	security	in	property	has	been	assessed	at	fair	value.
2)	 It	is	assumed	that	the	credit	risk	related	to	receivables	from	public	authorities	in	Scandinavia	is	non-existent.
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Changes in provision for impairment related to credit risk from accounts receivable:

 2009 2008 2007
Provision at 1 January 52.8 41.1 53.2
Conversion difference  - 2.0 0.6 0.2
Provision made during the year 26.5 40.7 34.0
Provision used during the year - 5.5  - 5.8 -1.6
Provision reversed during the year  - 29.8  - 23.8 -44.7
Provision at 31 December 42.0 52.8 41.1

Provisions are mainly made on a group basis

Available-for-sale financial assets
2009 2008 2007

Book value at 1 January 23.2 114.7 13.9
Additions available-for-sale financial assets 30.0 12.7 100.8
Change in value entered in profit and loss account  -13.0  - 93.1 -
Change in value entered in balance sheet -  - -
sales/deduction from the class available-for-sale*)  - 0.1  -11.1 -
Available-for-sale financial assets 40.1 23.2 114.7

*)	 Deduction	from	the	class	available-for-sale	for	2008	refers	to	shares	in	a	company	that	went	bankrupt	in	2008.	The	loss	is	
presented	under	losses	on	sales	of	financial	assets	–	shares	available	for	sale.	Veidekke	only	has	share	investments	in	the	class	
available-for-sale	financial	assets.	Change	in	value	entered	in	the	profit	and	loss	account	refers	to	the	shareholding	in	Hansa	
Property	Group	ASA.	For	further	details,	see	Note	14.

Valuation hierarchy
the table below analyses financial instruments in the statement of financial position at fair value by valuation 
method. the different levels have been defined as follows:

level 1: Fair value is measured using quoted prices from active markets for identical financial instruments. 
no adjustment is made with respect to these prices.

level 2: Fair value is measured using other observable input than that used in level 1, either directly (prices) 
or indirectly (derived from the prices).

level 3: Fair value is measured with the use of input that is not based on observable market data.

At 31 December 2009 level 1 level 2 level 3
Financial assets available for sale  - 40.1
Financial assets at fair value through profit    
Total - - 40.1

 
At 31 December 2008 level 1 level 2 level 3
Financial assets available for sale  16.3 7.0
Financial assets at fair value through profit 1.4   
Total 1.4 16.3 7.0

the investment in Hansa Property group, entered in the statement of financial position with a volume of Mnok 
16.3 at 31 december 2008 was reclassified from level 2 to level 3 at the end of 2009.
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Interest rate risk
overview of agreements related to interest rate derivatives at 31 december 2009.

interest-rate agreements nominal value due date
interest rate   
(incl. margin) Fair value  

Change in value 
2009

expired contracts    - -1.4
Total    - -1.4

the group does not use hedge accounting in accordance with iAs 39, change in value is charged/credited to the 
profit and loss account.
 
overview of effective interest rates for selected financial instruments in 2008 

 31 december 2009**) 2009*) 2008*) 2007*)

liquidity 1.8% 2.1% 5.5% 4.6%
short-term interest-bearing liabilities 2.2% 2.5% 5.9% 5.0%
long-term interest-bearing liabilities 2.2% 2.5% 5.9% 5.0%

*)	 The	average	effective	interest	rate	is	calculated	as	the	average	of	the	rates	applicable	through	the	year.
**)	Actual	interest	rates	at	31	December	2009.

Sensitivity analysis of cash flow for financial instruments
Veidekke has its strongest financial position at year end. Parts of the operating experience seasonal fluctuations 
which also affects the group's financial instruments. there can be considerable variation in the group's contract 
types and terms of payment. overall, this means that there are a number of risks factors in calculating the sensiti-
vity of change to interest rate levels. Assuming last year's use of financial instruments, we estimate that a general 
increase in interest rates of 1 percent will result in a profit before tax which is Mnok 10 lower. A similar reduction in 
interest rates will cause the same improvement in profit before tax. the assessment does not include investment in 
the joint venture Allfarveg As.

Hedging - Allfarveg PPP project
As a 50 percent owner of Allfarveg As, Veidekke participates in the e39 lyngdal-Flekkefjord PPP project (PPP = 
public private partnership). Allfarveg As has built and is operating this road for the Public roads Administration. the 
project was completed in summer 2006 at the end of a 3-year construction period. the operation period is 25 years. 
Allfarveg is financed by long-term loans repayable over the life of the project. Future payments on this loan are 
hedged with an interest-rate swap. Veidekke’s share of earned profit in Allfarveg is 59.85 percent. the interest rate 
swap satisfies the requirements for hedge accounting. key figures for loans and interest rate swaps are shown in 
the table below.

nominal value due date Fair value
Financing    
loan 668.6  February 2030 668.6
Hedging   
interest-rate swaps 653.9 February 2030 716.8

Changes in the equity hedge reserve:
 

2009 2008 2007
Hedge reserve at 1 January -52.1 -12.2 -41.5
Change in hedge reserve 6.8 -39.9 29.3
Hedge reserve at 31 December -45.3 -52.1 -12.2

this chart shows that Veidekke’s share of interest rate derivatives has a lesser value at 31 december 2009 by 
Mnok 45.3 after tax.
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Sensitivity analysis for interest rate swaps in Allfarveg AS
A change in the interest rate of 100 basis points would have lead to the following changes in the accounts:

 Profit and loss Account total result
 100 bp increase 100 bp reduction 100 bp increase 100 bp reduction
interest rate instrument Allfarveg - - 43.1 -48.8

Liquidity risk

Maturity profile for the Group’s long-term liabilities

Maturity/repayment structure
Book value, 

balance sheet 2010 2011 2012 After  2012

total 

contractual 

cash flows

used committed borrowing facilities 
dnB nor *) 204.5   236.7  236.7
other loans, credit institutions 101.1 11.7 11.2 9.1 87.4 119.4
other long-term liabilities 45.6  9.2 36.4 45.6
Contractual site obligations not 
entered in balance sheet **)  246.0 129.5 81.4 57.8 514.7
Total 351.2 257.7 149.9 327.2 181.6  916.4 

*)	 Total	contractual	cash	flows	include	accumulated	interest	rates	up	until	the	borrowing	facilities	expire	2	November	2010.	The	
statement	is	based	on	the	assumption	that	no	interest	is	paid	before	the	agreement	expires.

**)	 Long-term	operating	lease	agreements	are	not	taken	into	account	in	the	table.	Reference	is	made	to	Note	32	on	lease	
agreements	for	details	regarding	anticipated	future	cash	flows.

Key figures 2009 2008 2007
unused committed borrowing facilities 1 895.5  1 272.9  1 681.3 
Weighted effective interest rate 2.5% 5.9% 5.0%

Maturity profile short-term liabilities
2009

 
Maturity/repayment profile

Book value, 

balance sheet

Payable on 

demand, due 

date not set

0-3  

months

3-12  

months

over 12 

months

Anticipated 

cash flow

short-term debts to credit institutions 1.1  1.1   1.1
Creditors 1) 2 496.4 968.4 1 435.9 73.2 18.9  2 496.4 
guarantee funds 2) 839.9  839.9     839.9 
unpaid government charges 309.7 0.5 279.7 27.5 2.1  309.7 
Payable tax 126.9   16.0  110.9   126.9 
short-term liabilities 1 175.7 193.4 562.3 414.4 5.6  1 175.7 
Total short-term liabilities 4 949.7  2 002.2 2 295.0  626.0 26.5  4 949.7 

2008

 
Maturity/repayment profile

Book value, 

balance sheet

Payable on 

demand, due 

date not set

0-3  

months

3-12  

months

over 12 

months

Anticipated 

cash flow

short-term debts to credit institutions 0.4  0.4   0.4
Creditors 1)  2 535.5 621.0  1 834.3 64.8 15.4  2 535.5 
guarantee funds 2)  964.3  964.3     964.3 
unpaid government charges  425.6 0  413.9 9.3 2.4  425.6 
Payable tax  290.1  44.1  246.1   290.1 
short-term liabilities  1 296.2 417.8  596.1 282.3   1 296.2 
Total short-term liabilities  5 512.1  2 003.1  2 888.8  602.5 17.8  5 512.1 
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2007

 
Maturity/repayment profile

Book value,

balance sheet

Payable on 

demand, due 

date not set 0-3 months 3-12 months

More than 12 

months

Anticipated 

cash flow

short-term debts to credit institutions  163.2 153.3  9.9  163.2
Creditors 1)  3 030.6  755.8  2 218.7 47.1  9.0  3 030.6 
guarantee funds 2)  620.8  620.8     620.8 
unpaid government charges  422.7   415.4  4.4  2.9  422.7 
Payable tax  152.5    152.5   152.5 
short-term liabilities  980.2  314.8  298.2  367.2    980.2 
Total short-term liabilities  5 370.0  1 844.7  2 932.2  428.6 11.9  5 370.0 

1)	 When	the	due	date	is	not	set	for	creditors,	this	is	largely	related	to	project	accrual	due	to	invoice	not	being	received.
2)	 In	many	cases	it	is	difficult	to	estimate	the	time	at	which	warranty	provisions	will	be	paid	out,	because	project	warranty	

provisions	cover	the	whole	complaint	period.	Therefore,	we	have	not	set	up	a	profile	for	expected	payment	time.

Fair value and carrying amount for financial assets and obligations

 31 December 2009 31 december 2008 31 december 2007

 

Carrying 

amount

balance sheet

Carrying 

amount

balance sheet

Carrying 

amount

balance sheet

Carrying 

amount

balance sheet

Carrying 

amount

balance sheet

Carrying 

amount

balance sheet

Available-for-sale financial assets 40.1  40.1  23.0  23.0  114.7  114.7 
Financial assets at fair value through   
profit or loss -  - 1.4 1.4 2.1 2.1 
long-term receivables  227.9 227.9  225.6  225.6  236.2  236.2 
Accounts receivable 2 160.0  2 160.0 2 846.7 2 846.7 3 743.1 3 743.1 
short-term receivables  179.4 179.4  318.2  318.2  232.7  232.7 
Cash and cash equivalents  144.1 144.1  354.0  354.0  272.4  272.4 
Total assets 2 751.5 2 751.5 3 768.9 3 768.9 4 601.2 4 601.2 
       
long-term debts to credit 
institutions  270.9 270.9  842.8  842.8  419.0  419.0 
Financial leasing obligations 34.7  34.7  41.6  41.6  38.9  38.9 
other long-term liabilities 45.6  45.6  114.7  114.7  110.8  110.8 
short-term debts to credit 
institutions 1.1  1.1 0.4 0.4  163.2  163.2 
Creditors 1 345.4 1 345.4 1 471.2 1 471.2 1 955.1 1 955.1
other short-term liabilities 1 175.7  1 175.7 1 296.2 1 296.2  980.2  980.2 
Total liabilities 2 873.4 2 873.4 3 766.9 3 766.9 3 667.2 3 667.2

Methods used to determine the fair value of financial instruments 
the following of the company’s financial instruments are not entered at fair value: cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, other short-term receivables and long-term debts to credit institutions. the balance sheet 
values for cash and cash equivalents and long-term debts to credit institutions are virtually the same as the fair value 
since these instruments have a short maturity term. Correspondingly, the balance sheet values of accounts receiv-
able and creditors are virtually the same as the fair value, as they are agreed upon under ”normal” terms. 

long-term debts have a variable interest rate and continuous interest rate adjustment, and therefore, the balance 
sheet value is approximately the same as the fair value.
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note 31. Compensation

Declaration to the Annual General Meeting on principles for determining management salaries
the Board of directors must give a report to the Annual general Meeting on the determination of salaries and other 
compensation to senior executives, as stated in § 6-16a of the Public limited Companies Act. the declaration for 
2009 will be enclosed with the notice of the Annual general Meeting.

salaries for the company’s senior executives are founded on information obtained from wage statistics, based on 
the responsibilities and complexity of the positions, as well as comparisons with pay levels for other enterprises in 
and outside of the industry. the company’s strategy is to offer competitive salaries. However, the company does not 
wish to be a wage leader. A bonus programme has been established under which the maximum payment is set at 
30 percent of annual salary. this is based on budgets and target achievement in relation to agreed action plans. 
Veidekke’s managers also participate in the company’s general programme for shares to senior executives at 
discount prices and with financial assistance. Veidekke has no share option schemes.

Implemented management compensation policy for 2009 and effects for the company and shareholders of 
agreements entered into and changed
As a result of the financial crisis, in consultation with the Board, it was decided that Veidekke would forgo salary 
adjustments for corporate management in 2009. until 2009, a bonus programme has been in place for executive 
and corporate management according to which the maximum payout was set at 30 percent of annual salary. For 
2009, however, it was decided that Veidekke would forgo the bonus programme for executive and corporate 
management. this is in accordance with the declaration that was submitted to the general Assembly on 7 May 
2009. 

Compensation to the President and CEO and the Corporate Management Team
2009 2008

salary Bonus*)

Car, interest 

rate advantage

total 

compensation

total 

compensation

President and CEO    
terje r. Venold 3.3 0.3 3.6  4.5 
Corporate management    
dag Andresen 2.2 0.3 0.3 2.8 3.2
Arne giske 1.8 0.3 2.1 2.4
kai krüger Henriksen 1.5 0.2 1.7 2.1
Jørgen Wiese Porsmyr 1.7 0.2 1.9 1.9
Bente lillestøl 1.2 1.2 1.5
Per-ingemar Persson 2.1 0.2 0.1 2.4 2.8
torben Bjørk nielsen ***) 0.8 0.8 3.4
Vidar Aarvold ***) 0.4 0.1 0.5 2.3
Total CEO and 
corporate management 15.0 0.6 1.4 17.0  24.1 

 2009 
Year’s changes 

pension 

commitments**)

Present value 

of pension 

commitment

loan for share 

purchases other loans

President and CEO     
terje r. Venold 2.5  25.1  2.7  
Corporate management     0.2 
dag Andresen 0.1  9.3  1.5  
Arne giske 0.4  5.3  1.9  
kai krüger Henriksen 0.6  5.1  1.5  0.2 
Jørgen Wiese Porsmyr 0.9  3.4  1.0  
Bente lillestøl 0.1  3.0  0.9  
Per-ingemar Persson 0.4 2.0  0.6  
Total CEO and 
corporate management 5.0 53.2 10.1  0.2

*)	 Applies	to	bonus	paid	in	2009,	but	which	was	earned	in	2008.
**)	 For	Per-Ingemar	Persson,	an	additional	amount	of	MNOK	0.7	has	been	paid	for	a	defined	contribution	pension	plan.
***)	 The	number	of	people	in	corporate	management	was	reduced	in	2009.	Remuneration	is	therefore	only	included	for	
								Vidar	Aarvold	and	Torben	Bjørk	Nielsen	until	31	March	2009.
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President and CEO
on the basis that 2009 earnings targets were not reached, no bonus was paid to the President and Ceo in 2009. 
no bonus programme is established for 2009.

the President and Ceo has a 12-month notice period. on termination of employment he is guaranteed a further 
12 months’ salary. A deduction will be made from this guaranteed salary for any salary or other remuneration the 
President and Ceo may receive from a new employer. the President and Ceo has a right to resign from his position 
on reaching the age of 60. the Board of directors has requested that the President and Ceo continues, and he has 
agreed to remain in his position until the age of 62 as a minimum. His annual early retirement pension until the age 
of 67 will be the equivalent of 60 percent of his pension basis and will be adjusted in accordance with the consumer 
price index. A retirement pension will be paid for life from the age of 67 and will be the equivalent of 60 percent of 
the pension basis on retirement. 

the pension basis will not be adjusted during the period from retirement to 67 years of age. Any national insurance 
payments and collective insurances received will be deducted from the guaranteed pension. 

the President and Ceo takes part in Veidekke’s share programme for employees and purchased a total of 8 000 
shares through the programme in 2009. the share programme is described in more detail in note 4. there are no 
share option schemes.

Veidekke has granted a loan to the President and Ceo for the purchase of Veidekke shares amounting to Mnok 2.7 
at 31 december 2009. the loan is interest free and is secured by a mortagage in the shares. the interest rate 
advantage has been reported to the tax authorities.

Corporate management
the group as a whole did not achieve performance goals established for 2008, however, some divisions delivered 
results that exceed budget. Members of corporate management from the divisions which met performance goals, 
received bonus in 2009. no bonus programme is established for 2009.

With one exception, members of the corporate management have employment contracts stipulating a mutual notice 
period of 6 months. upon termination, they are guaranteed pay for a further 12 months. salaries and other remune-
ration received from potential new employers will be deducted from the guaranteed salary. the retirement age for 
members of the corporate management team is 64. during the period from resignation to the age of 67, a pension 
will be paid equivalent to 60 percent of salary on retirement from the position of executive vice president. Any 
payments such as contractual early retirement pension, severance pay and collective insurance will be deducted 
from the guaranteed salary. 

Per-ingemar Persson, Managing director of the swedish operations, has an individual agreement and will according-
ly receive resignation compensation for 18 months in addition to the 6-month notice period. Furthermore, he has a 
pension agreement which applies from the age of 60.

the corporate management team participates in Veidekke’s share programme for employees and purchased a total 
of 51 650 shares through the programme in 2009. the share programme is described in more detail in note 4. there 
are no share option schemes.

Veidekke has granted loans to members of the corporate management team for the purchase of Veidekke shares 
amounting to Mnok 10.1 at 31 december 2009. A list of loans to members of the corporate management team is 
shown above. the loans are interest free and they are secured by mortgages in the shares. 

Remuneration to Board members
 Board member fee total compensation
Martin Mæland (chairman)  0.26 0.26 
göte dahlin (former chairman)  0.43 0.43 
kari gjesteby *)  0.22 0.22 
Jette knudsen  0.22 0.22 
Peder Chr. løvenskiold  0.26 0.26 
Hilde M. Aasheim  0.22 0.22 
eiliv staalesen (elected by employees)  0.18 0.18 
inge ramsdal (elected by employees)  0.18 0.18 
steinar krogstad (elected by employees)  0.18 0.18 
Total remuneration to Board members 2.1  2.1 

*)	 Kari	Gjesteby	was	appointed	as	a	National	Mediator	in	Norway	in	August	2009,	and	in	the	light	of	this,	withdrew	from	the	board	
from	the	same	time.

Veidekke has established auditing, compensation and property committees. Compensation for participation in the 
committees is included in the Board members’ fees.
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Remuneration to auditors
 2009 2008
statutory audit including audit-related assistance 10.3 11.0
tax-related assistance 1.0 0.5
other services in addition to auditing 0.7 0.3
Total remuneration to auditors 12.0 11.8

note 32. Lease commitments

Agreements where Veidekke is the lessee
Veidekke has interminable leases for the renting/hiring of property, sites, operating equipment, etc. Costs fall due on 
these leases as set out in the table below.

 rent non-current assets other commitments
 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Costs this year (2009)  66.8  62.5  56.9  34.9  31.6  20.8 3.0 0.9  10.1 
Costs next year (2010)  51.2  50.5  46.4  28.1  21.4  20.3 5.4 0.2  10.1 
total costs next 2–5 years (2011–2014)  139.8  108.3  126.9  31.5  42.0  45.7 9.9 -  32.2 
total costs after 5 years (2015–)  44.6  36.5  43.2 1.5 0.5 0.5 0.1 -  23.8 

Agreements where Veidekke is the lessor
Veidekke has leases for the letting/hiring out of property, sites, operating equipment, etc. income is due from these 
leases as set out in the table below.
 rent
 2009 2008 2007
income this year (2009)  38.8  22.4  16.0 
income next year (2010)  45.7  15.9  19.8 
total income next 2–5 years (2011–2014)  124.0  87.8  63.2 
total income after 5 years (2015–)  111.1  70.6  29.4 

note 33. Uncertainties

Veidekke is, from time to time, involved in disputes regarding projects, and a number of cases are settled by 
arbitration or in court. this applies both to Veidekke’s claims on customers (additional claims) and to claims on 
Veidekke (repair of defects, compensation, etc.). thorough assessments have been made to ensure that reporting in 
the accounts is as correct as possible. reference is made to the group’s accounting policies. “Additional claims and 
disputed amounts are normally not taken to income until agreement has been reached or a legally binding court 
ruling has been given. However, a portion of the claims is entered as income if it is highly probable. in the case of 
warranty work, provision is made for confirmed and probable non-conformity. the anticipated final profit from the 
projects is updated continuously.”

As of 31 december 2009, Veidekke was not involved in any major disputes that may have a significant effect on 
future profits.
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note 34. Related party disclosures

oBos (28 percent share of Veidekke) and Veidekke have since 2002 been joint owners of a property development 
project at skøyen in oslo. this is managed through sjølyststranda eiendom As which is owned on a 50-50 basis by 
the participants. sjølyststranda eiendom As purchased the property from norway trade Fairs in 2002, and develop-
ment started in 2003. the project was completed in 2008, and a total of 570 dwellings have been built for sale for 
the owners’ own account.

Veidekke develops a number of projects in cooperation with oBos. this is done by the establishment of companies 
in which oBos and Veidekke each has an ownership interest of 50 percent. this applies to the following companies: 
lørenvangen utvikling As, sorgenfri utbyggingsselskap As, Horneberg utbyggingsselskap As and sjetnan nedre 
As. 

Veidekke entreprenør As has in 2009 carried out a project at lahaugmoen in the county of Akershus for the compa-
nies Felt W2 As, lahaugmoen As and lahaugmoen infrastruktur As, in which Veidekke AsA Board member, Peder 
Chr. løvenskiold, is a Board member. the contracts were won on competitive terms, and the turnover for 2009 
totalled Mnok 88.9.

Veidekke Bostad AB and Patentbygg sverige AB (a company in the oBos group) have established the company 
BoVidsundet AB. each of the parties holds 50 percent of the shares in this company, which is engaged in property 
development in southern sweden. As of december 2009 the company has not unsold apartments under production.

in addition to the above-mentioned contracts, Veidekke has a few minor lease agreements and contracts with 
closely related persons and companies of little significance. 

transactions with selected parties:
revenue receivables

oBos 20.2 0.9
Anthon B. nilsen As *) 88.9 2.3

*)	 Related	party	with	Peder	Chr.	Løvenskiold
 
transactions with associated companies and joint ventures

Turnover 2009 2008 2007
Construction operations 135.3 417.5 253.9
industry operations 33.4 46.3 88
other operations 2.9 2.9 4.6
Total 171.6 466.7 346.5

Statement of financial position as at 31 December  
receivables 39.1 1 030.40 179.6
liabilities 9.5 679.9 47.1
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note 35. Events after the reporting period

Parliament adopted on 19 February this year a new AFP scheme (contractual early retirement) with effect from 
1 January 2010. this means that previous years' allocations for future AFP costs should be attributed to those of 
its employees who are born before 31 december 1948. According to calculations, a previously booked pension 
liability of approximately Mnok 95 will be transferred and recorded as a reduction in Veidekke’s salary costs in 2010. 
For further details of the old and new AFP scheme, reference is made to note 21, Pensions.

note 36. Group structure

Veidekke AsA has the following significant subsidiaries:

Company location ownership share
Veidekke entreprenør As oslo 100%
kolo Veidekke As oslo 100%
Veidekke eiendom As oslo 100%
Veidekke sverige AB lund 100%
Hoffmann A/s Copenhagen 100%
Veidekke danmark As Copenhagen 100%

the above table shows only the subsidiaries that are directly owned by Veidekke AsA. All in all, the group consists of 
approximately 75 operational subsidiaries directly and indirectly owned by Veidekke AsA. 
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Figures in Mnok) note 2009 2008 2007

Operating revenues  88.7 90.9 81.6 

Wages 1  -53.9  -55.9  -56.8 
other operating expenses 3  -58.8  -73.3  -59.9 
depreciation 4  -3.0  -2.0  -1.8 

Total operating expenses   -115.7  -131.2  -118.5 
   

Operating profit  -27.0  -40.3  -36.9 

dividends and group contributions from subsidiaries 2  449.0 892.7 776.9 
other financial income 2  58.4 74.6 22.0 
impairment of shares in subsidiary 5  -  -54.5  -
Financial expenses 2  -61.5  -61.3  -43.3 
     
Earnings before tax  418.9 811.1 718.7 

income tax expense 10  -76.4  -156.7 0.8 
     
Profit for the year   342.5 654.4 719.5 
     
Application of profit
dividends  334.3 334.3 556.1 
other equity  8.2 320.1 163.4 
Total 342.5 654.4 719.5

Profit and loss Account Veidekke AsA
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statement of Financial Position at 31 december Veidekke AsA

(Figures in Mnok) note 2009 2008 2007

ASSETS

Non-current assets
deferred tax assets 10  0.5  -  -
Buildings, sites 4  27.6  27.3  24.0 
Machinery etc. 4  1.0  0.7  0.2 
shares in subsidiaries 5 1 330.9 1 315.2 1 282.0 
shares in associated companies and joint ventures 6  66.6  66.2  13.4 
long-term receivables, group companies  7  41.2  61.2  136.4 
other long-term receivables  249.2  276.8  270.8 
Total non-current assets  1 717.0 1 747.4 1 726.8 

Current assets
Accounts receivable  0.8  0.4  1.2 
short-term receivables, group companies  475.5  896.4  884.4 
other receivables  55.8  36.1  63.3 
Cash and cash equivalents  27.2  -  -
Total current assets   559.3  932.9  948.9 

Total assets  2 276.3 2 680.3 2 675.7 

     
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
share capital  66.9  68.0  70.1 
own shares  -  -1.1  -0.6 
other equity 1 100.3 1 092.1  991.5 
Total equity 9 1 167.2 1 159.0 1 061.0 
 
Long-term liabilities
Pension liability 11  24.1  21.4  21.6 
deferred tax 10  -  2.3  3.7 
debt to credit institutions etc. 12  640.0  954.1  939.4 
Total long-term liabilities   664.1  977.8  964.7 

Short-term liabilities
Creditors  26.4  36.6  32.2 
unpaid government charges  2.4  1.9  5.7 
Payable tax 10  74.1  154.8  3.5 
Provision for dividends 9  334.3  334.3  556.1 
short-term liabilities, group companies  4.2  12.2  50.6 
other short-term liabilities  3.6  3.7  1.9 
Total short-term liabilities   445.0  543.5  650.0 

Total equity and liabilities  2 276.3 2 680.3 2 675.7 
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statement of Cash Flows Veidekke AsA

(Figures in Mnok) 2009 2008 2007

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
earnings before tax less dividends and group contributions -392.6  -24.7 -58.2
dividends and group contributions from subsidiaries 811.5 835.8 738.6
tax paid -158.7  -4.4 0.3
depreciation 3.0 2.0 1.8
Write-down of shares in subsidiaries 54.5 
gains on sale of non-current assets 4.8  -38.2 
Pensions, difference cost/paid 2.7  -0.2 4.7
Generated from this year’s activities 270.7 824.8 687.2

Change in other current assets 400.8 16.0 -261.5
Change in other accrued accounting items  -37.5  -36.0 11.4
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 634.0 804.8 437.1

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Purchase of tangible non-current assets  -3.7  -5.8 -5.4
sales of companies 6.7 56.3 
Fully paid equity in subsidiaries  -22.4  -85.5 -92.6
other investments 47.2  -6.3 -20.9
Net cash flow from investment activities (B) 27.8  -41.3 -118.9

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
new long-term borrowing 14.7 115.1
repayment long term debt  -314.1 
dividends received 13.7 
dividend paid  -334.3  -543.8 -364.3
share-based transactions entered against equity  22.2
Buy-back own shares  -234.4 -91.2
Net cash flow from financing activities (C)  -634.7  -763.5 -318.2

TOTAL NET CHANGE IN CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C) 27.2 - -

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January - - -
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 december 27.2 - -
   
Supplementary information:
long-term borrowing facilities dnB nor  2 100  2 100 2100
used committed borrowing facilities at 31 december  640.0  954.1 939.4
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notes Veidekke AsA

Accounting policies

the parent company, Veidekke AsA, is a holding company with no operations of its own. its activities consist of 
investments in subsidiaries and associated companies, and its income consists of dividends and group contribu-
tions from these companies. in addition, Veidekke AsA invoices its subsidiaries for services rendered. 
Veidekke AsA prepares its financial statements in accordance with norwegian accounting standards.

investments in subsidiaries are reported using the cost method of accounting. this means that investments are 
assessed at cost price, while only distributions from the companies are recognised in the profit and loss account. 
in the event of a decrease in value, the necessary write-downs of investments are affected. the parent company 
applies the same accounting policies as the group, except for the point in time when dividends and group con-
tributions, and financial instruments (interest swaps), are recognised in the accounts.

group contributions are taken to income in the same year as they are paid by the subsidiary. dividends from 
subsidiaries are taken to income in the same year as they are set aside by the subsidiary (the year before distribu-
tion). the dividend proposed by Veidekke AsA was entered in the accounts as a liability at 31 december 2009.

interest swaps are not reported by Veidekke AsA at fair value as they are in the consolidated accounts. reference 
is made to note 29 to the consolidated accounts, under interest-rate risk.

note 1. Wage expenses
 2009 2008 2007
Wages 35.1 39.2  40.6 
Pension costs 10.0 8.4  6.8 
social security 6.6 6.0  6.6 
other wage expenses (social benefits etc.) 2.2 2.3  2.8 
Total 53.9 55.9  56.8 

 
2009 2008 2007

Average number of employees 40 39 44
number of employees at 31 december 40 38 42

note 2. Financial income/financial expenses 

 2009 2008 2007
interest income 8.8 29.0 15.8
Currency gains 32.6 7.5 6.2
dividends and group contributions from subsidiaries 449.0 892.7 776.9
dividends from joint ventures 13.7   
gain on sales of shares - 38.2 -
other financial income 3.3 - -
Financial income 507.5 967.3 798.9
interest charges -19.1 -54.5 -39.5
Currency charges -37.5 -6.6 -3.6
other financial expenses -4.8 -0.2 -0.2
Financial expenses -61.5 -61.3 -43.3
Financial income/expenses 446.0 906.0 755.6
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note 3. Remuneration to auditors

in 2009, remuneration to the auditors was Mnok 0.8 for auditing, Mnok 0.2 for audit-related assistance, 
Mnok 0.1 for tax-related assistance and Mnok 0.1 for other assistance.

note 4. Property and machinery, etc.

   Property   Machinery  total  
At 1 January   
original cost 68.5 9.8  78.3 
Accumulated depreciation  -41.3  -9.1 -50.4 
Book value at 1 January 27.3 0.7  28.0 
    
Accounting year    
Book value at 1 January 27.3 0.7  28.0 
Additions 2.8 0.9  3.7 
disposals book value  -  -  - 
depreciation for the year  -2.4  -0.6 -3.0 
Book value at 31 December 27.6 1.0  28.6 
    
At 31 December    
original cost 71.3 10.7  82.0 
Accumulated depreciation  -43.7  -9.7 -53.4 
Book value at 31 December 27.6 1.0  28.6 

depreciation method straight straight
depreciation rate 2–5% 10–25%

note 5. Shares in subsidiaries 

Company location ownership share  % Book value*)

Veidekke entreprenør As oslo 100 549.8 
Hoffmann A/s **) Copenhagen 100 311.1 
Veidekke danmark As Copenhagen 100  22.4 
kolo Veidekke As oslo 100 189.5 
Hovinmoen utvikling oslo 100  17.6 
Veidekke sverige AB lund 100 194.5 
Veidekke eiendom As oslo 100  27.8 
As noremco Construction oslo 100  14.8 
other companies    3.3 
Total    1 330.9 

*)	 	 Book	value	in	Veidekke	ASA’s	accounts	at	31	December	2009	(cost	method).
**)	 The	shares	in	Hoffmann	A/S	was	written	down	by	MNOK	54.5	in	the	2008	accounts.
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note 6. Shares in associated companies and joint ventures

Company location ownership share  % Book value*)

Allfarveg As oslo 50  66.1 
other companies    0.5 
Total    66.6 

*)	 Book	value	in	Veidekke	ASA's	accounts	at	31	December	2009	(cost	method).	 

note 7. Long-term recievables Group companies

Veidekke AsA has given the wholly owned group company noremco AB a long-term loan of Mnok 41.2, as of 
31 december 2009. interest is payable on the loan. 

note 8. Long-term recievables
 

2009 2008 2007
loans to employees 247.5 267.9 267.5
other receivables 1.7 8.9 3.3
Total 249.2 276.8 270.8

note 9. Reconcilitation of equity
 2009 2008 2007
equity 1. January 1 159.0 1 061.0 966.6 
Profit for the year 342.5 654.4 719.5 
Provisions for dividends -334.3  -334.3  -556.1 
Purchases of own shares *)   -234.4 -91.2 
share-based payment – iFrs 2    20.2 
dividend – own shares  12.3  2.0 
Equity at 31 December 1 167.2 1 159.0  1 061.0 

*)	 Purchase	of	own	shares	which	have	been	sold	to	employees. 

 share capital 

nom. value 

own shares 

other fully 

paid shares other equity total equity 

equity at 31 december 2008 68.0 -1.1 304.2 787.9 1 159.0 

equity at 1 January 2009 68.0 -1.1 304.2 787.9 1 159.0 
Cancellation of own shares by 
Annual general Meeting 7 May 2009 -1.1 1.1
Profit for the year 342.5 342.5
Provision for dividends -334.3 -334.3
Equity at 31 December 2009 66.9 - 304.2 796.1 1 167.2 

Own shares (Veidekke ASA)
Cancellation of own shares, reference is made to note 20 in consolidated accounts.
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note 10. Income tax expenses and deferred tax

Income tax expense 2009 2008 2007
Payable tax  -74.1 -154.8 -3.5
Change in deferred tax 2.8 1.4 4.0
tax on group contribution paid -2.6  -  -
too much/little provision previous year 2.5 -3.3 0.3
Total income tax expense  -76.4  -156.7  0.8 

Deviation in income tax expense 
28% of earnings before tax 117.3 227.1 201.2
Actual income tax expense  -76.4  -156.7  0.8 
Deviation 40.9 70.4 202.0 
    
Deviation in income tax expense    
non-deductible expenses  -0.9 -2.6 -0.6
tax-free dividends*) 50.6 77.8 200.7
tax-free gains on shares -1.4 10.7 -
Write-down on shares - 15.3 -
Correction previous years -1.6 -0.2 -1.1
other items **) -5.8 0.0 3.0
Total 40.9 70.4 202.0

*)	 In	2008,	tax	was	imposed	on	dividends	and	gains	on	shares,	at	a	rate	of	0.84	percent.	However,	the	text		Tax-free	dividends	and	
Tax-free	gains	are	still	used	for	presentation	purposes.	

**)	 Other	items	for	2009	relate	to	currency	losses	in	connection	with	dividends	from	Veidekke	Sweden	which	are	not	deductible.

Deferred tax 2009 2008 2007
timing differences    
short-term items -5.1 -5.0 -3.0
gain and loss account 29.1 36.4 45.5
other long-term items -25.8 -28.7 -29.1
Basis for deferred tax -1.8 2.7 13.4
    
Deferred tax (28%) -0.5 0.8 3.7
    
deferred tax on provision for dividends 0.0 1.5  
    
Book deferred tax (- deferred tax advantage) -0.5 2.3 3.7

note 11. Pensions
the company is bound by provisions in the Act relating to Compulsory occupational Pensions to have a company 
pension scheme. the company's pension schemes comply with these statutory requirements. reference is made to 
note 21 to the consolidated accounts. 

note 12. Long-term liabilities
the group has long-term committed borrowing facilities in dnB nor of Mnok 2 100. these expire in november 
2010, but may be extended until november 2012.

Book long-term liabilities consist only of withdrawals from the group account. Further details are given in note 29 
and 30 to the consolidated accounts.
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note 13. Other notes
the following requirements are covered in notes to the consolidated accounts: 

note 20: number of shares, shareholders etc. 
note 29: Financial risk 
note 30: Financial instruments 
note 31: Compensation to senior executives 

oslo, 25 March 2010 
Veidekke AsA 

Board of directors

Martin Mæland 
Chairman of the Board

          göte dahlin                    Jette W. knudsen                Peder Chr. løvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  nudsen                Peder Chr. nudsen                Peder Chr. løvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  øvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  

          steinar krogstad                             inge ramsdal                                  eiliv staalesen

terje r. Venold
President and Ceo
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Declaration in accordance with § 5-5 of the Securities Trading Act
We hereby confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the group and company financial statements 
for 2009 have been prepared in compliance with current accounting standards, and that the information in the 
accounts gives a true and fair view of the group and company assets, liabilities and financial position, as well as 
the results of their operations in their entirety.

the Board of directors’ Annual report gives a true and fair view of the group and company development, 
result and position, as well as of the main risk and uncertainty factors the group is faced with.

oslo, 25 March 2010 
Veidekke AsA 

Board of directors

Martin Mæland 
Chairman of the Board

          göte dahlin                    Jette W. knudsen                Peder Chr. løvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  nudsen                Peder Chr. nudsen                Peder Chr. løvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  øvenskiold               Hilde M. Aasheim  

          steinar krogstad                             inge ramsdal                                  eiliv staalesen

terje r. Venold
President and Ceo
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Corporate 
governance
Veidekke aims to secure a high and stable return for its shareholders by 
operating construction and property development activities in scandinavia. 

Veidekke believes that a number of important parameters must form the 
foundation of both the company and its employees in order for the 
business as a whole to achieve its objectives over time. At the core of 
this foundation is the company's strong corporate culture with emphasis 
on profitability and risk management.
 + 1. Statement on corporate 
governance
Veidekke strives at all times to 
ensure good corporate governance, 
and bases its reporting on the 
"norwegian Code of Practice for 
Corporate governance" dated 21 
october 2009. Veidekke aims to be 
professional, honest, enthusiastic 
and ground-breaking. these are the 
company’s core values which shall be 
characteristic of all employees at 
Veidekke, and be reflected in our 
behaviour in all relationships.

Veidekke has developed its own 
ethical guidelines and policies for 
compliance with the Competition 
Act, which are available on the 
company's website under "Corporate 
governance".

2. Operations
Veidekke’s operations are defined in 
its Articles of Association, which is 
available on Veidekke’s website under 
"Corporate governance". 

Veidekke AsA is a public limited 
company. its registered office is in 
oslo and the group has operations in 
norway, denmark and sweden. 
Veidekke’s operations are managed 
by Veidekke entreprenør (construct-
ion), Veidekke eiendom (property) 
and Veidekke industri (industry), all in 
norway, and Veidekke sverige in 
sweden and Hoffman in denmark. 
each division consists of regions, 
districts and departments.  Veidekke 
also has construction operations in 
Africa through its subsidiary noremco 
in tanzania.

 Veidekke’s operations in norway, 
denmark and sweden include 
building and construction projects, 
renovation, specialised heavy 
construction contracts and develop-
ment of residential and non-residen-
tial properties for private and public 
customers. in norway, Veidekke is 
also engaged in asphalt operations, 
production of crushed stone and 
gravel, road maintenance, demolition/
plant contracting and recycling of 
industrial waste.

the group has a decentralised 
responsibility and authority structure, 
which implies a high degree of 
responsibility and authority for 
individual heads of entities. this 
ensures closer proximity to custom-
ers and suppliers, which has proved 
to be an advantage in competition for 
contracts and business opportunities 
for Veidekke. 

Corporate management
the corporate management team 
consists of the President and Ceo, 
the heads of the three divisions 
(construction, property and industry) 
and the heads of central staff funct-
ions such as accounting, finance, 
human resources and communi-
cations.

3. Equity and dividends
At 31 december 2009, Veidekke had 
an equity ratio of 26.4 percent. this is 
well within an acceptable range with 
regard to capital strength, optimised 
risk-adjusted yield and future 
investment requirements. in the 
event of any capital increases, plans 
for the employment of the capital are 
put before the company’s Annual 
general Meeting.

the company's growth will primarily 
be based on organic growth, but the 
company also considers acquisition 
opportunities among small or 
medium-sized companies in 
Veidekke's business and geographi-
cal areas. Veidekke has a strong 
financial position and will use its own 
financial resources to carry out such 
acquisitions. 

Veidekke aims to give shareholders a 
high and stable return on their 
investment in the company. this has 
been operationalised in targeted 
requirements. the company has a 
long-term goal to achieve a profit 
margin (earnings before tax) of 7 
percent based on its current capital 
structure. Profit margin for 2009 was 
3.4 percent, while averaging 4.8 
percent the past five years. there are 
different margin requirements and/or 
required return on invested capital for 
the various business areas. Veidekke 
is working with a number of measu-
res to ensure profitability through 
improved competitiveness. this 
includes both control of risk exposure 
and capital efficiency, which involves 
planning processes and other 
efficiency measures. 
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Dividend policy
Veidekke’s target is to distribute at 
least 50 percent of the profit for 
the year to shareholders. A 
dividend of nok 2.50 per share 
(83.3 percent) is proposed for the 
financial year 2009. the high 
distribution ratio is based on, 
among other things, the group's 
strong financial position. the 
distribution ratio average over the 
past five years is 59.7 percent

Board Authorisation
the Board of directors has been 
authorised by the Annual general 
Meeting to buy back Veidekke 
shares. the reason for this authorisa-
tion is to ensure the highest possible 
return for the shareholders over time 
and, if the share price appears 
favourable, purchases of own shares 
will be a good supplement to 
dividends. share buyback may also 
be relevant if the equity and liquidity 
situation is good and other attractive 
investment opportunities are limited 
at that time. it is the company’s 
intention to cancel these shares at 
the next Annual general Meeting. 
Authorisation to repurchase Veidekke 
shares is subject to the approval of 
the Annual general Meeting, and is 
valid until the next Annual general 
Meeting or until 31 May at the latest.

Veidekke works continuously to 
make necessary provisions to 
maintain the employees' ownership 
share, and strives each year to 
provide financing assistance for share 
purchases. Financed purchases are 
subject to a lock-in period of two to 
three years. At the end of 2009, a 
total of 3 300 employees held a 19.3 
percent stake in the company.

4. Equal treatment of 
shareholders 
it is the company’s policy to treat all 
shareholders equally.

Veidekke’s main shareholder is oBos 
Forretningsbygg As, with an 
ownership share of 28.0 percent. 
there are rules regarding compe-
tence which ensure that resolutions 
do not favour the main shareholder in 
any contexts. oBos is a major 
property developer and in recent 
years, Veidekke and oBos have 
worked together on the development 
of a number of property projects. in 
order to ensure that all conditions 
and agreements are handled on 
commercial terms, it has been the 
practice of the two parties, Veidekke 
and oBos, to set up a company of 
which they own 50 percent each. 

development and sales are carried 
out by this company. this also helps 
ensure that the main shareholder 
does not gain an unfair advantage at 
the expense of other shareholders.

if significant transactions are carried 
out with major shareholders over and 
above ordinary commercial contracts, 
independent consultants are engaged 
to ensure a correct valuation.

existing shareholders have pre-
emptive rights in the event of capital 
increases. 

Employees as owners
Veidekke differs from other listed 
companies in its high number of 
employee owners. Veidekke regards 
the involvement of its employees as 
shareholders as an important and 
positive element in the development 
of the company. the company's aim 
is for at least half of its employees to 
hold shares in the company, totalling 
15 percent of the shares. it also 
wishes each of its senior executives 
(just under 600 people) to hold a 
significant number of shares in the 
company. this group has compiled a 
stake of 13.5 percent. 

the company has strict insider 
trading rules and trade restrictions. 
see "shareholder information" page 
87 of insider trading rules for 
employees.

5. Share negotiability 
Veidekke has one class of shares, 
and there are no marketing restrict-
ions for trading. in 2009, 62.2 million 
shares were traded on the oslo 
stock exchange, and the turnover 
ratio was 46.1 percent. the company 
works continuously to maintain 
satisfactory liquidity in Veidekke 
shares. this is done primarily through 
ongoing, satisfactory communication 
with investors and the market. For 
further information, see “shareholder 
information”, page 87.

6. Annual General Meeting
Veidekke strives to ensure that as 
many shareholders as possible can 
exercise their rights by participating 
in the Annual general Meeting and 
that it is an effective meeting place 
for shareholders and the board. the 
Annual general Meeting is held every 
year in May and in 2010 the Annual 
general Meeting will be held on 
May 5. 

notice and case documents are sent 
out no later than three weeks in 
advance and are published on the 
company’s website not later than 
three weeks before the Annual 
general Meeting is held. registration 
is possible via written feedback, fax 
or internet, and the registration 
deadline is two working days prior to 
the meeting. shareholders who are 
not able to attend in person may vote 
by proxy. Proxy forms are distributed 
with the notice of the meeting.

in addition to the company’s 
management, the Board of directors, 
the nomination Committee and the 
auditor are present at the Annual 
general Meeting. the chairman of 
the board usually opens the meeting 
and asks the meeting to propose a 
meeting chair. if no proposals are 
made, it is normal practice for the 
chairman of the board to propose 
that he himself chair the meeting.

7. Election Committee
the nomination Committee submits 
recommendations to the Annual 
general Meeting on the election of 
members for the Board of directors 
and for the nomination Committee. 

the nomination Committee shall 
have at least three members. 
nominated candidates should be 
shareholders or representatives of 
shareholders. the majority of the 
new nomination Committee must be 
independent of the Board of 
directors and the company’s 
management. the Company’s chief 
executive officer or other senior 
executives may not be members of 
the nomination Committee. 

the Annual general Meeting elects 
the nomination Committee’s leader 
and other members. since it is the 
responsibility of the nomination 
Committee to propose candidates for 
the Board of directors, there is no 
deadline for the submission of such 
proposals to the nomination 
Committee. shareholders can submit 
board candidate proposals to the 
selection committee via the 
company's website. 

in 2009, the members of the 
nomination Committee were Helge 
B. Andresen (chair), Jan tore 
Berg-knutsen, erik Must and olaug 
svarva.

8. Board of Directors, composition 
and independence
the Board of directors is Veidekke’s 
highest administrative body and is 
directly responsible to the Annual 
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general Meeting. six members are 
elected by the shareholders, and 
three are elected by and among the 
employees. Board members are 
elected for one year at a time. 

in 2003, Veidekke reached an 
agreement with its employees that 
the company would not have a 
corporate assembly. in return, the 
employees’ representation on the 
Board of directors was increased. 
since the group does not have a 
corporate assembly, the Board elects 
its own chairman as laid down in the 
Public Companies Act. the Board also 
elects its own vice-chairman.

in determining the composition of 
the Board, importance is attached to 
safeguarding the joint interests of the 
shareholders and the skills, capacity 
and diversity of the company. 
Veidekke seeks to have at least one 
norwegian, one danish and one 
swedish Board member. the com-
position of the Board of directors of 
Veidekke AsA complies with the 
provisions of the Public Companies 
Act, regarding the percentage of 
women in listed companies.

the composition of the Board of 
directors ensures that it is able to act 
independently of the shareholders’ 
interests. the Board’s rules of proce-
dure also contain instructions for 
dealing with issues in which a Board 
member has a personal interest. the 
rules in the Articles of Association 
governing the election of the nomi-
nation committee help to ensure the 
Board of directors’ independence. 

All Board members who are elected 
by the shareholders are independent 
of the company’s management. For 
further information about existing 
authorisations, see “shareholder 
information”, page 87.
 
9. The work of the Board of 
Directors
the Board of directors sets object-
ives, lays down strategy and budgets, 
and actively contributes with exper- 
tise and experience. in accordance 
with adopted plans, the Board carries 
out an annual review of the 
company’s business areas, and 
follows a systematic year plan for 
matters to be discussed at Board 
meetings. 

nine Board meetings are held each 
year. one of the meetings is held in 
either sweden or denmark, and two 
meetings are combined with a visit 
to a district or branch office and one 
of its projects in scandinavia.

the work of the Board is laid down in 
its rules of procedure. it carries out 
annual evaluations of its own work 
and competence. 

Board of Directors’ Audit 
Committee
the task of the Audit Committee is to 
develop cooperation between the 
Board and the management, and 
between the Board and the external 
auditors. it is composed of three 
Board members elected by the 
shareholders, and its work is 
governed by terms of reference and 
instructions approved by the Board. 
the Committee shall, on behalf of 
the Board, make itself familiar with 
and build up insight into and 
knowledge of accounting and 
financial matters as well as super-
vision and risk management. the 
Committee reports to the Board of 
directors.

the members of the Audit Commit-
tee are Hilde M. Aasheim (committee 
chair) and Peder Chr. løvenskiold. 
until she resigned from the board in 
August 2009, kari gjesteby was head 
of the committee. 

Board of Directors’ Compensation 
Committee
the Compensation Committee is 
composed of three Board members 
elected by the shareholders, and its 
work is governed by terms of 
reference and instructions approved 
by the Board. the Committee 
submits proposals to the Board on 
salary and compensation schemes 
for the President and Ceo. the 
Committee also gives advice to the 
President and Ceo on salary and 
compensation schemes for the 
management. the Committee reports 
to the Board of directors. 

the members of the Compensation 
Committee are Martin Mæland 
(committee chair), göte dahlin and 
Jette Wigand knudsen. 

Board of Directors’ Property 
Committee
the Board's property committee will 
review all major investment decisions 
to ensure good internal control with 
regard to starting any new self-
directed projects and purchase of 
development land. the committee 
consists of Peder Chr. løvenskiold 
(committee chair), göte dahlin and 
Martin Mæland.

10. Risk management and internal 
control
the ability to plan, structure, imple-
ment and evaluate construction 
processes is one of Veidekke’s core 
competencies. efficient governance 
is a primary critical factor of success 
for the company and an integrated 
part of its business management. 
the company has, at all times, a large 
number of ongoing projects in its 
three business areas (construction, 
property and industry), and therefore 
requires systematic reporting from 
each project to each division, and 
from there to the corporate manage-
ment and Board of directors. reports 
are submitted ten times a year and 
cover both financial and non-financial 
parameters. For every project, the 
focus is on profitability, risk, injuries, 
absence and environment.

Internal control
Veidekke’s management monitors 
the overall portfolio of projects to 
ensure an acceptable level of risk 
exposure and a sound basis for 
profitability. the management 
systems for the different entities 
provide clear guidelines for how 
projects are to be carried out with 
reference to quality, progress, 
cost-effectiveness, health, safety and 
environment. these tools play an 
important part in ensuring quality in 
orders-on-hand and a uniformly high 
standard in the execution of projects. 
status and profitability of orders-on-
hand is a fixed item on the agenda 
for the divisional managements, 
corporate management and the 
Board of directors.

risk exposure in the Property 
division, through unsold units under 
production and any completed units, 
is measured continuously. the 
start-up of new property develop-
ment projects will be postponed if 
the risk for Veidekke’s own account is 
deemed to be too high. the Board's 
property committee helps to ensure 
good internal control with regard to 
starting any new self-directed 
projects and site acquisitions. 

Veidekke’s financial policy provides 
guidelines for the different entities’ 
financial management and activities. 
the object of the guidelines is to 
avoid, limit, control and measure 
financial risk, promote capital 
rationalisation and optimise the 
group’s financial resources.
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Planning
Veidekke’s planning wheel forms the 
core of the company’s economic, 
financial and strategic planning. it 
defines a fixed agenda throughout 
the year for the preparation of 
framework documents, strategic 
plans, budgets and ongoing super-
vision of the divisions. 

Financial management and control
the group is governed by clear 
financial objectives, linked with 
operating margins, capital yield and 
capital structure. these objectives are 
broken down and operationalised to 
the different companies, divisions 
and projects. the projects have clear 
requirements regarding profitability 
and cash flow. in construction 
operations, requirements are set for 
the projects’ operating margins, 
in-cluding financial items. Property 
and industry are capital-intensive 
areas, and these projects are also 
measured by return on invested 
capital.

Ethical guidelines
With reference to the company’s 
core values – professional, honest, 
enthusiastic and ground-breaking 
– Veidekke has, in collaboration with 
the Confederation of norwegian 
Business and industry, drawn up 
ethical guidelines in which the basic 
principle is employee freedom with 
responsibility. the implementation of 
these guidelines relies to a great 
extent on the active participation of 
the employee in the process, the 
discussions and involvement around 
the ethical issues that the company’s 
activities raise. the company’s ethical 
guidelines are accessible on 
Veidekke’s intranet and web site.

Reporting irregular activities
in-house rules have been drawn up 
for reporting irregular activities in the 
company, and an external ombuds-
man has been appointed. these 
guidelines are accessible on 
Veidekke’s intranet. 

Compliance with competition law
Veidekke has a comprehensive 
compliance programme which gives 
relevant employees an insight into 
the basic rules of competition law 
that apply to Veidekke’s activities. the 
purpose of the programme is to 
increase understanding of and 
ensure compliance with relevant 

laws and regulations. this compliance 
programme is accessible on 
Veidekke’s intranet and web site.

11. Remuneration of Board 
members
remuneration to Board members is 
determined by the Annual general 
Meeting based on the recommenda-
tions of the nomination Committee. 
the remuneration reflects the 
Board’s responsibility, expertise and 
time consumption, and is indepen-
dent of the company’s financial 
results. 

none of the Board members elected 
by the shareholders has special 
responsibilities over and above what 
follows from their office. reference 
is made to note 31.

several of the Board members hold 
shares in Veidekke. A list of these 
members is given in note 20.

12. Remuneration of senior 
executives
An account is given to the Annual 
general Meeting each year, regarding 
the company’s guidelines for 
remuneration to senior executives. 

salaries for the company’s executives 
are based on information obtained 
from comparative statistics showing 
pay levels for other enterprises in the 
industry and other relevant enterpri-
ses. the company’s strategy is to 
offer competitive salaries. However, 
the company does not wish to be a 
wage leader. A bonus scheme has 
been established in which the 
maximum payment to each individual 
is set at 30 percent of annual salary, 
based on budgets and target 
achievement in a pre-determined 
action plan.

Managers also participate in 
Veidekke’s general share programme 
under which employees are invited 
each year to purchase Veidekke 
shares at a discount price and with 
financial assistance. see “sharehol-
der information”, page 87.

Veidekke has no share option 
schemes. reference is also made to 
notes 4 and 31. 

13. Information and 
communication
investor relations have a central place 
in Veidekke. the company emphasi-
ses the importance of information 
based on quality, openness and 
punctuality, thus ensuring that the 
share price reflects the assets of the 
company. 

the management meets investors 
and the market both in norway and 
abroad several times a year, and 
makes active use of the feedback 
from these meetings. 
see “shareholder information”, 
page 89.

14. Corporate Takeover
if an offer is received to take over the 
company’s shares, the company’s 
Board of directors should not utilise 
authorisations or pass other resolu-
tions that render the offer difficult 
unless this has been approved by the 
Annual general Meeting after the 
offer is known. 

15. Auditor
the external auditor attends at least 
two annual Board meetings, for 
example meetings dealing with the 
annual accounts and audit summary. 
the Board of directors must be given 
an opportunity to ask the auditor 
questions without the management 
being present. 

the auditor attends all the meetings 
of the Audit Committee. A plan for 
carrying out the audit is presented to 
the Audit Committee. At these 
meetings, the auditor also presents a 
report from the interim audit and a 
report for the annual accounts, in 
which the auditor gives his/her 
opinion on the quality of internal 
control in all parts of the group, and 
discusses any accounting problems 
revealed by the audit. 

Veidekke has guidelines for the 
scope and type of additional services 
provided by the auditor. the auditor 
shall each year give the Board of 
directors a written confirmation that 
he/she meets the stipulated 
requirements regarding indepen-
dence.

For details of the scope of services 
provided, reference is made to 
note 31.
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Jørgen g. Michelet
Financial director and
Head of investor relations
tel. +47 21 05 77 22
jorgen.michelet@veidekke.no

Shareholding                                      Number of shareholders      Number of shares  %

   1 100  1 166    52 650  0.04 
   101 1 000  2 586   1 394 893  1.04 
   1 001 10 000  2 606   9 190 740  6.87 
   10 001 100 000  755   21 213 307  15.87 
   100 001    95   101 853 352  76.18 
Total    7 208   133 704 942  100.00 

shareholder
information

+ shareholder value will be created through good profitability   
 across the group. 
+ dividends will constitute at least 50 percent of annual profit.
+ Veidekke is and shall be a financially solid company. 

Shareholder value
there is a long-term correlation 
between return on share (measu-
red by rising share prices and 
dividends) and the company’s value 
creation. Value creation can first 
and foremost be seen in the 
company’s current financial results. 
the company’s profit margin has 
shown a continuously positive 
trend in recent years, but the profit 
margin was slightly lower in 2009 
as a result of a difficult market.  
Profit margin was 3.4 percent in 
2009 as against 4.2 percent in 
2008. 

Return on investment
Veidekke aims to give its sharehol-
ders a high and stable return on 
their investment in the company. 
since Veidekke was first listed on 
the stock exchange in 1986, 
through an increasing share price 
and its dividend payouts, sharehol-
ders have had an average annual 
return of 17.5 percent. during the 
same period the oslo stock 
exchange had an average annual 
return of 9.7 percent. Veidekke’s 
return in 2009 was 142.8 percent, 
compared to -52.4 percent in 2008. 
return on the oslo stock exchange 
was 64.8 percent and -54.1 percent 
respectively in the same period. 

Share distribution at 31 December 2009
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In 2009, 62.2 million Veidekke 
shares were traded on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange with a turnover 
rate of 46.1 percent. In compari-
son, in 2008 71.2 million shares 
were traded corresponding to a 
turnover rate of 50.8 percent. There 
were a total 21 124 trades of 
Veidekke shares during the year, 
compared with 35 507 the year 
before. 

Dividend
Veidekke’s dividend policy stipu-
lates a payout amounting to at 
least 50 percent of profit for the 
year (pay-out ratio). 

For the financial year 2009, the 
Board of Directors proposes 
distributing a dividend of NOK 2.50 
per share, the same as the 
previous year. This indicates a 
pay-out ratio of 83 percent, as 
against 56 percent in 2008.  
Shareholders will thus receive a 
direct return of 5 percent based on 
the share price at the end of the 
year. The dividend will be paid on 
20 May 2010 to all shareholders 
who are registered as owners on 
the date of the Annual General 
Meeting, 5 May 2010.

Ownership structure
At the turn of the year, Veidekke 
had 7 208 shareholders, compared 
with 6 571 at the beginning of the 
year. Veidekke’s largest owners are 
OBOS Forretningsbygg (28 
percent), IF Skadeförsäkring AB 
(8.7 percent) and Folketrygdfondet 
(7.3 percent). At the end of 2009, a 
total of 3 300 employees held 19.3 
percent of the shares in the 

company, as against a total of 
2 898 employees or 18.0 percent 
at the end of 2008.

During the year, the percentage of 
foreign investors has increased 2.4 
percentage points from 20.7 
percent to 23.1 percent.

Veidekke’s share capital at 
31 December 200 was 
NOK 66 852 471 divided into 
133 704 942 shares of NOK 0.50 
each. Veidekke has always had one 
share class and each share carries 
one vote.

The increase in the share capital 
since the company was first listed 
on the stock exchange, is shown in 
the table on page 88. 

In May 2009, the company offered 
shares to key personnel at a 
discount of 20 percent (with 
financial assistance from Veidekke) 
and 30 percent (with cash settle-
ment) on the market price. 
Consequently, 368 key employees 
subscribed for 1 630 000 shares at 
a price of NOK 22.80 and NOK 
19.95, respectively. In November 
2009, shares were offered to all 
employees at a discount of 20 
percent on the market price. A total 
of 1 793 employees subscribed for 
1 527 881 shares at a price of NOK 
38.10. Sales of shares to employ-
ees are subject to a two or three 
year lock-in period.

Name  Interest in %

OBOS Forretningsbygg AS  28.0%
IF Skadeförsäkring AB 8.7%
Folketrygdfondet 7.3%
First Securities AS  5.0%
JPMorgan Chase Bank  2.3%
MP Pensjon  2.3%

Name  Interest in %

Must Invest AS  1.9%
Awilco Invest AS 1.9%
Rasmussengruppen AS 1.4%
Handelsbanken Asset 
Management 0.9%
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A list of Veidekke’s 20 largest shareholders is published on Veidekke’s web 
site, and is updated once a week. Nordea is the company’s account 
operator.

Price of Veidekke shares including dividends

Largest shareholders at 31 December 2009
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Form of issue

Amount 
paid 

in MNOK 

No. of shares 
after change  

(1 000)

Share capital 
after change

in MNOK

 

Adjustment
factor

1986 dispersion issue, price nok 11.71 25.3 3 053 30.5

1986 issue employees, price nok 10.54 3.1 3 113 31.1

1988 Bonus issue 5:1 3 736 37.4 0.833

1989 Merger Hesselberg Vei 4 693 46.9

1989 dividend shares 0.5 4 746 47.5 0.998

1990 Merger Folke A. Axelson A/s 4 802 48.0

1990 dividend shares 0.6 4 861 48.6 0.999

1991 Merger stoltz røthing Haugesund A/s 4 912 49.1

1991 Merger Aker entreprenør A/s 5 623 56.2

1995 issue employees, price nok 26.24 8.0 5 698 57.0

1998 share split 1:2 11 396 57.0

2000 share split 1:2 22 791 57.0

2000 rights issue 6:1 191.2 26 590 66.5 0.981

2001 issue employees, price nok 42.00 19.0 27 039 67.6

2002 issue employees, price nok 43.00 11.6 27 309 68.3

2003 issue employees, price nok 44.00 13.2 27 609 69.0

2004 issue employees, price nok 66.00 66.0 28 609 71.5

2007 share split 1:5 143 045 71.5

2007 Cancellation of shares 140 164 70.1

2008

2009

Cancellation of shares 

Cancellation of shares

135 959

 133 705

68.0

66.9

VEIDEKKE SHARES 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Market price at 31 december 49.8 22.3 50.75 47.4 38.5 20.2
- high 53.5 53.8 74.4 55.8 38.5 20.2
- low 23.0 17.0 41.5 37.4 19.9 11.6
earnings per share ¹) 3.0 4.5 7.1 5.0 3.9 1.9
Market price/earnings (P/e) 16.6 5.0 7.1 9.6 9.9 10.6
Market price/book value per share P/B) 3.3 1.4 3.1 3.8 3.7 2.0
dividend per share 2.5 2.5 4.0  2.6 2.0 1.2
extraordinary dividend           2.4
Payout ratio (%) 2) 83.3 55.6 56.3 52.4 51.3 63.2
turnover rate (%) 46.1 50.8 43.4 49.4 47.0 27
earnings yield (%) 5.0 11.2 7.9 5.5 5.2 5.9
outstanding shares (average ’000) 133.7 135.2 140.0 143.0 143.0 138.3 
Market price at 31 december (Mnok) 6 659 3 032 7 113 6 780 5 507 2 890
number of shareholders at 31 december 7 208 6 571 5 592 4 369 4 037 4 677

1)	No	dilution	effect.
2)Based	on	ordinary	dividend.
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Authorisation to issue shares 
and purchase of own shares
the Annual general Meeting has 
authorised the Board of directors 
to issue up to 13 million shares. 
since 1986, authorisation has been 
granted for successive renewal. 
this authorisation has primarily 
been used in connection with 
issues of shares to employees and 
in connection with minor mergers. 
the Board of directors is also 
authorised to repurchase the 
company's own shares for a total 
nominal value of up to Mnok 6.5, 
equivalent to just under 10 percent 
of share capital. 

the company did not repurchase 
share in 2009. shares that were 
acquired after the Annual general 
Meeting in 2008, a total of 2.3 
million shares, were deleted at the 
company's Annual general 
Meeting in May 2009. Veidekke 
owned no treasury shares at 31 
december 2009.

Inside information 
the company’s internal insider 
trading rules follow a stricter 
practice than is required by the 
securities trading Act. in addition 
to the wider statutory duty to 
investigate, the company observes 
the duty to clear primary insiders, 
in order to ensure more thorough 
compliance with the duty to 
investigate. this is in keeping with 
the recommendations of the oslo 
stock exchange. Veidekke has also 
drawn up internal rules which have 
been made known to all employ-
ees in key positions and to senior 
union representatives. these rules 
mean, among other things, that 
employees must exercise great 
care at all times when buying and 
selling shares.

Investor relations 
Quarterly reports will be issued 
this year on the dates given at the 
beginning of this report. When 
annual and interim reports are 
published, Veidekke holds presen-
tations for shareholders, brokers, 
analysts, the press and employees. 
these presentations can be 
followed via webcast in english and 
norwegian. 

the company also maintains 
regular contact with investors and 
analysts. the largest stock broker-
ages on the oslo stock exchange 
carry out analyses of Veidekke 
shares. A list of the analysts who 
follow Veidekke shares can be 
found on Veidekke’s web site. 

the company publishes infor-
mation in both norwegian and 
english, and qualifies for oslo 
stock exchange’s information 
symbol and english symbol.

up-to-date information about the 
company can be found on 
Veidekke’s web site. Quarterly 
reports, analysts’ reports and other 
important press releases and 
presentations are accessible on 
Veidekke’s web site and are also 
published through traditional 
channels. 

For information about Veidekke 
shares, please visit: 
www.veidekke.no/english/ir/

shareholder information
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(effective from 15 August 2009)

Article 1 the name of the Company is Veidekke AsA. the Company is a public limited company.

 the Company’s object is to engage in contracting activities, and other financial activities, including  
 participation in other companies by investing in shares or in other manner.

Article 2 the Company’s registered office is in oslo.

Article 3 the Company’s share capital is nok 66 852 471 divided into 133 704 942 shares, each with a nominal  
 value of nok 0.50 fully paid and registered by name.

 the Company’s shares shall be registered in the norwegian Central securities depository.

Article 4 each share carries one vote at the general meeting of the Company.

Article 5 the Company’s Board of directors shall have from seven to nine members. A maximum of six members  
 and any alternates shall be elected by the Annual general Meeting. A maximum of three members and  
 alternates for those members shall be elected by and from among the Company’s employees in   
 accordance with regulations issued in pursuance of provisions in the Public limited Companies Act 
 [norway] relating to employee representation on the board of directors of public limited companies. 
 the period of office is one year.

 the Board of directors elects its chairperson.

 the age limit for Board members is set at seventy. Any Board member attaining the age of seventy shall  
 remain in office until the next Annual general Meeting.

Article 6 the Company shall have a nomination committee. the committee shall have at least three members.  
 the Annual general Meeting shall elect the nomination committee’s chairperson and other members  
 and determine the remuneration of the committee’s members. the term of office is one year.

 the nomination committee shall submit a recommendation to the Annual general Meeting on the  
 election of members to the nomination committee. nominated candidates should be shareholders or  
 representatives of shareholders. the proposal for a new nomination committee shall be such that the  
 majority of the new nomination committee is independent of the Board of directors and senior 
 executives of the Company. the nomination committee may not propose the Company’s chief executive  
 officer or other senior executives as members of the nomination committee.

 the Board of directors shall submit a recommendation to the Annual general Meeting on the 
 remuneration of the nomination committee’s members.

 the nomination committee shall submit a recommendation to the Annual general Meeting on the  
 election of and fees to be paid to members of the Board of directors. the nomination committee shall  
 justify its recommendations.

Article 7 two members of the Board jointly or one member of the Board and the President and Ceo jointly shall  
 have the right to sign on behalf of the Company.

Article 8 the Annual general Meeting is held each year no later than the end of May at a time and place 
 determined by the Board of directors. notice shall be sent in writing at least two weeks in advance. 
 the notice shall be accompanied by the agenda.

 shareholders or proxies for those shareholders who wish to attend and vote at the Annual general  
 Meeting must give notification to this effect to the Company before the deadline stated in the notice.  
 the deadline must not expire more than five days prior to the Annual general Meeting.

 the Annual general Meeting shall:
 • Adopt the annual accounts and annual report, including employment of profit or covering of loss, and  
  approve the distribution of a dividend
 • elect members of the nomination committee
 • determine the number of Board members, elect the Board members who by law shall not be elected  
  by the employees and any alternates for the Board members elected by the shareholders
 • Consider the Board of directors’ statement on remuneration to senior executives
 • deal with other business that is by law to be addressed by the general Meeting.

Article 9 unless otherwise provided for in these Articles of Association, the provisions in the Public limited  
 Companies Act [norway] shall apply.
 
      oslo, 7 May 2009

Articles of Association for Veidekke AsA
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financial calendar 2010

Publication dates for interim reports:
First quarter: 6 May
second quarter: 12 August
Third quarter: 4 November
The Annual General Meeting will be held on 5 May
The shares will be quoted ex-dividend on 6 May
dividend will be distributed to shareholders on 20 May
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The annual report can be found at 
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